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AS INCREASING INVESTMENT CONTINUES TO
STIMULATE THE DISCOVERY OF NEW TH ERAPEUTICS,
MANY PHARMACEUTICAL COMPANIES ARE SEEKING
GREATER EFFICIENCIES IN THE DEVELOPMENT

OF THESE NEW TREATMENTS. PHARMANET
DEVELOPMENT GROUP MEETS THAT NEED

BY PROVIDING COST-EFFECTIVE SERVICES

AND EXPERTISE IN CLINICAL DEVELOPMENT.”

—JEFFREY P. MCMULLEN




Dear Fellow Shareholders,

We began 20086 with numerous operating and financial
issues. We approached each one objectively, keeping
in mind the interests of our shareholders, clients,
employees, and study participants. As a result of

the concerted efforts of management and the entire
PharmaNet Development Group team, we were able

1o overcome many obstacles and significantly strengthen the Company.

For 2007, we are pursuing and capitalizing on numerous opportunities

for continued growth and success.

Our first accomplishment of 2006 was to move our corporate headquarters
1o Princeton, New Jersey. In the process, we realigned corporate management
to focus on stabitizing the early stage business while continuing to grow the
late stage business. We assigned global managers in key functional areas

to integrate and coordinate essential activities in our offices around the
world. These key areas included human resources, information technology,
marketing, quality, and regulatory. Leaders in these areas will drive continual
improvement efforts to ensure that we maintain robust business practices
throughout our entire organization.

In May 2006, we decided to discontinue our early stage operations in Florida
because they were no longer viable. We subsequently completed the orderly
closure of Florida operations and resolved the land lease issue associated
with the Miami facility. In early April 2007, we demolished the Miami facility
and are currently preparing to sell the property.

in July 2008, | met with members of the Senate Finance Committee to
address their questions and concerns. The Committee subsequently closed
its investigation in early August 2006. With issues surrounding the Florida
facilities and the Senate Finance Committee investigation resolved, we were
ready to move forward. As part of this transition, we changed the name of
the Company to PharmaNet Development Group, Inc. at the end of August.

The other pressing issue during the year was to address our clients’
concerns. Throughout 2006, our management team met with clients to
discuss how we were addressing issues related to discontinued operations.
By the end of the year, most of these clients had reinstated our approved-
vendor status. Our focus now is to win new projects from these clients.




“THROUGHOUT THE YEAR, OUR DETERMINED EFFO
GREW 24% IN 2006 AND BY MID-YEAR WE BEGAN T

R AP
e G ?
a *.?':ric‘.

In 2006, we also encountered unexpected pricing pressure in cur generic drug
testing business in Canada. In identifying that the pricing pressure would be
long-term, we moved quickly to re-engineer our early stage business operations,
and implemented cost-reduction and process-improvement measures. As a result,
we substantially improved our profitability in the second half of the year and
positioned ourselves to better adapt to future changes in market conditions.

In addition, we refocused our strategies to attract more higher-margin, branded,
early stage business. We also made improvements in our Moniréal facility to
better accommodate Phase | trials. At the end of March 2007, we began

moving into the new facility in Quéhec City and are completing the leasehold
improvements in the Toronto facility, which is scheduled to open in the second
quarter of 2007. To ensure that the entire organization continued to stay

focused and provide excellent client service during the year, we expanded

our client relationship program to include early stage clients.

While dealing with the various external issues of 2006, we never lost sight
of our strategic objectives to increase revenue and earnings and to continue
to provide our clients with a positive cutsourcing experience.

We can accommodate large, global clinical studies through our 40 offices around
the world. Global expansion remains an important part of our growth strategy to
meet the needs of our clients, enhance our patient recruitment opportunities, and
access talented people with the expertise needed to pursue clinical development
around the world. During 2006, we opened another office in Asia; this one in
Beijing. In 2007, we are planning to open offices in Taiwan, Belgium, and
Romania, and to expand our presence in Latin America.

In 2008, we launched a new approach to promating and leveraging our vast
industry and regulatory expertise, particularly in our consulting division. This
new approach addresses the specific needs of emerging pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies in building relationships and identifying business
partners who can provide the capital they require to develop their drug
candidates. We hosted symposia in which emerging companies could access
both potential providers of capital and our expertise in drug development,
We believe that this combination of PharmaNet Development Group services
and potential financial partners for our clients can provide the resources for
successful development projects.

In addition to growing organically, we believe that we can accelerate our expansion
through strategic alliances, partnerships, and, eventually, acquisitions. Areas

we are focusing on inciude biomedical imaging, clinical trials material management,
and niche central clinical laboratory services. We are also seeking a partner




D SEE SEQUENTIAL IMPROVEMENT IN EARLY STAGE REVENUE ;."

—JEFFREY P. MCMULLEN

to help us leverage our PharmaSoft® clinical trial management solutions. These efforts are
global and we continue to evaluate opportunities.

Most recently, we announced our strategic partnership with Analytica International, Inc.
to enhance our portfolio of services by providing expertise in outcomes research.

Throughout the year, our determined efforts have yielded results. Late stage direct revenues
grew 24% in 2006 and by mid-year we began to see sequential improvement in early stage
revenues. Performance benefited further from an early stage cost reduction program focused
On process improvements.

In 2006, we added four new independent board members, all of whom are successful industry
veterans with expertise and experience in the pharmaceutical and drug development industries.
With these most recent additions, we believe we have a worldclass board of directors.

PharmaNet Development Group is working with other industry leaders on an initiative to improve
study participant safety, increase the validity and security of study data, and comply with strict
privacy regulations. This initiative, aimed at people who participate in multiple clinical trials,
launched in 2006. The program begins throughout Canada this year and will launch regionally
in the United States in 2007, with a full deployment in 2008.

According to published reports, the contract research industry is expected to grow by 14-17%
over the next several years, driven by continued R&D spending in the pharmaceutical sector

and by private and public equity investment in bictechnology. As increasing investment continues
to stimulate the discovery of new therapeutics, many pharmaceutical companies are seeking
greater efficiencies in the development of these new treatments. PharmaNet Development Group
meets that need by providing cost-effective services and expertise in clinical development.

Although PharmaNet Development Group was challenged in 2006, we finished the year a
stronger, more cohesive global organization. We made significant organizational and operational
improvements during the year, reinforced our client relationships through continued client
service and outreach programs, and built a strong foundation for our future.

| would like to thank the entire PharmaNet Development Group team around the world for their
dedication to our clients and their projects. By staying focused on our most important priorities,
we were able to meet important strategic objectives and close the year with optimism for the
future growth and prosperity of PharmaNet Development Group and our shareholders.

Jeffrey P. McMullen
President and Chief Executive Officer 3




OUR MISSION

;- PharmaNet Development Group

“~has a continuing mission to:

B Provide high quality clinical

. development services to

b

r_'.
R

_our clients

L

-

Strengthen client relationships
:through a program of continual

assessment and improvement

¢

Protect the safety of our

= study partlmpants

P
e

Support our employees

with meanmgfu! opportunities

L

 Increase shareholder value

’

‘Maintain the highest standards

of ethics in everything we do

ABOUT PHARMANET
DEVELOPMENT GROUP

PharmaNet Development Group, a global, drug development
services company, provides a comprehensive range of services
to pharmaceutical, bictechnology, generic drug, and medical

device companies,

We are a recognized leader in outsourced clinical development,
providing the highest levels of clinical and consulting expertise
in support of the development of new medicines to treat

disease and improve the quality of life worldwide.

OUR MARKET: CLINICAL DEVELOPMENT
PharmaNet Development Group serves a large, expanding
market for outsourced clinical development. Total global
spending on pharmaceutical research and development now
exceeds $60 billion per year' and has been increasing by

more than 11% per year since 2001.2

The cost of developing a single, new drug is currently
about $1.2 billion, a figure that is predicted to rise to
$2.0 billion by 20102

To improve efficiencies, drug companies are increasingly
outsourcing their clinical development to contract research
organizations (CROs), including PharmaNet Development Group.

Since 2001, spending on outsourced drug development has

increased by approximately 15% per year. In 2007, approximately

$7 billion of global pharmaceutical development spending will
be outsourced to CROs. In addition, approximately $5 billion
will be outsourced for the laboratory services that accompany

clinical development.?

1 Touch Briefings, Drug Development 2007
2 ACRO, january 2006
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EARLY STAGE DEVELOPMENT

PharmaNet Development Group offers services for early stage development through a network
of bicanalytical laboratcries and early stage clinics. The network provides a broad range of
services including Phase | and lla clinical development, bicequivalence studies, regulatory
affairs, and recruitment of study volunteers and patients. Biocanalytical services include method
development, validation, fine chemical synthesis, sample analyses, and process optimization.

LATE STAGE DEVELOPMENT

PharmaNet Development Group offers services for late stage development through dedicated
business units. Through the following business units, we provide an unrivaled combination
of experienced project management teams, senior management oversight, and an exclusive
approach to building cooperative relationships with sponsors:

Consulting comprises senior-level leaders with established credentials, proven
experience, and insight acquired through working with U.S. and international
regulatory agencies. Among these professionals are former senior-level FDA
officials who bring unique, regulatory perspective to product development.
These professionals offer a broad range of experience and clinical development
expertise on topics covering the drug development spectrum.

Technology Tools comprises information t\echnology experts supporting

PharmaSoft®, a complete solution for capturing, verifying, and managing

the data associated with clinical trials. PharmaSoft is developed intema'lly,

incorporating the real-world expertise of PharmaNet professionals in clinical o
research, data management, project management, information technology, -

and software development. PharmaSoft has been used for more than seven

years on clinical trials of all scales and complexity. ' -

Specialized Pharmaceutical Services is geared to start-up companies
and other small, entrepreneurial programs.

Phase I1-11l Development comprises dedicated professionais expert in
conducting clinical studies used in support of new drug approvais through FDA
and other international agencies. Qur Phase Il-lll Development business unit is
subdivided into dedicated teams to best serve the requirements of our spensors.
As an example, PharmaNet Oncology includes board-certified oncologists and
dedicated, oncology-experienced staff at all levels, and offers a complete range
of services covering every phase of oncology product development. We offer
similar teams for every major therapeutic and specialty area.

Phase IV Development comprises professionals with extensive experience in
late phase (Phase llIb-IV) surveys, registries, and programs. These professionals
are deployed in dedicated teams with: expertise in scientific, medical, and
regulatory affairs; the resources 1o conduct programs of any scale; and a
proprietary web portal to accelerate study implementation.

-



LOBAL OPERATIONS

£ Vel i
OFFICES
Amersfoort, Netherlands Stockholm, Sweden
Bangalore, India Sydney, Australia
Barcelona, Spain Toronto, Ontario (2 offices)
Beijing, China Trois-Riviéres, Ontario
Blue Bell, PA Warsaw, Poland %:\A
Boston, MA Washington, DC c‘é? Q*"J
Buenos Aires, Argentina Wilmington, DE ﬂfi\{\?f\\
Charlotte, NC Zurich, Switzerland '
Chicago, IL
Frankfurt, Germany FIELD STAFF
High Wycombe, UK Belgium
Kennett Square, PA Brazil
Kiev, Ukraine Canada
London, Ontario Chile
Madrid, Spain Czech Republic
Mitan, Italy Finland
Montréal, Ontario Hong Kong
Morrisville, NC Hungary
Moscow, Russia Ireland
Mumbai, India Israel
Munich, Germany Italy
Philadelphia, PA Japan
Paris, France Mexico
Princeton, NJ (2 offices) Peru
Québec City, Québec Romania
Research Triangle Park, NC Shanghai
St. Petersburg, Russia South Africa
San Diego, CA Taiwan
Seoul, South Korea Thailand
Singapore United States
e———




To meet our sponsors’ requirements,
PharmaNet Development Group can
conduct clinical studies most anywhere in
the world, with support from our offices

in more than 35 countries on 5 continents.
The advantages of globalization include
the ability to:

B Meet specific climate conditions

M Recruit participants in

—~ special populations
.

" M Achieve a;higﬁrﬂegree of patient
édmplianc@_j’n_areas with
> limiteb-access to healthcare

“ R ~
8l Locate study participants who
have never been treated for

a specific condition ¢
W Reduce the costs associated
with investigative sites

S




| FINANCIALS

PharmaNet Development Group Summary Financial Data

Income statement data 2006 2005
{revised)

Direct revenue $302,384.6 $269,622.4

Revenue growth 12.2% 166.0%

Earnings from continuing operations $13,005.9 $20,844.2

EBIT (Earnings Before Interest

and Taxes) margin 4.30% 11.07%

Net income from continuing operations $6,052.2 $17,163.2

Diluted earnings per share

from continuing operations $0.33 $0.94

Shares outstanding (diluted) 18,447,048 18,356,030

Balance sheet data

Cash, cash equivalents, and

investments in marketable securities $52,5674.2 $38,834.7

Total assets $556,000.5 $572,637.1

Total stockholder equity $258,079.1 $282,281.6

Notes: U.S. dallar figures are in thousands, except diluted earmings per share.

Shares outstanding are shown in actual units.




OUR BRAND

Our clients choose
PharmaNet Development
Group from a worldwide
marketplace of more than
1,600 contract research
organizations. In this

competitive arena, we

clearly differentiate —
ourselves by providing WM e

! BAWRYe
" ) TN 7. N\
a positive outsourcing NN u :
experience through the “‘ : g.b =N
carefully managed ﬁ \\f “‘ g
application of industry LA\ ﬁ_““!“‘ NS

expertise and effective
management of client
relationships. Qur specific

hrand differentiators include:

EMPHASIS ON PROJECT
MANAGEMENT TEAMS

We consider our core competency to be project
management. We set industry standards for
the quality of our professionals, the tools

they use, and the strategies and efficiencies

they bring to managing their projects.

SENIOR-LEVEL MANAGEMENT
OVERSIGHT OF CLIENT PROJECTS

We provide senior-level managers who are actively
engaged and directly accessible throughout
projects to help avoid and immediately

% o
¢ pharmanet

Development Group

The Art of Choosing Well

AN EXCLUSIVE APPROACH
TO BUILDING COOPERATIVE
RELATIONSHIPS WITH SPONSORS

We engage in a unique program of continual assessment
and improvement that builds cooperative relationships
among project-team members representing both

PharmaNet Development Group and our sponsors.

To identify PharmaNet Development Group as a global
provider of Phase I-IV services and to differentiate us
from other CROs, we have created a new brand identity
campaign that began in February 2007. The artwork
above is based on the corporate advertisement in the
new campaign. Similar versions will be used for individual
PharmaNet Development Group companies, business



OUR MANAGEMENT TEAM

Mr. McMullen has more than 33 years of experience

in drug development. He has held senior-management
positions on the outsourced side of the industry, including
positions in operations, business development, and
marketing at Corning Pharmaceutical Services. On the
pharmaceutical side, Mr. McMullen held positions in
clinical research, quality assurance, and drug metabolism
at Sterling Drug. For 2007, Mr. McMullen has been elected
to serve as Chair of the Association of Clinical Research
Organizations (ACRO), which is committed to representing
the clinical research industry positively and proactively.

Jeffrey P. McMullen*
President and
Chief Executive Officer

A 3, :
Johane Boucher- James P. Burns, Jr., PhD Mark Di lanni*
Champagne, DSA* Senior Vice President, Executive Vice President,
Executive Vice President, PharmaNet Consulting Strategic Initiatives and
Early Clinical Development President, Early Stage

Development

Pablo Fernandez, Steven A. George Dalvir Gill, PhD
LMS, FFPM Senior Vice President, Executive Vice President,
Senior Vice President, Information Technology, US Clinical Research

Medical Affairs, Worldwide Worldwide




Jack W. Green, PhD
Senior Vice President,
Biostatistics and Data
Management

Mary E Johnson, PhD
Executive Vice President,
Biostatistics

Thomas J. Newman, MD*
Executive Vice President,
Late Stage Development

John P. Hamill, CPA*
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial QOfficer

Gregory M. Hockel,
PhD, MBA

Senior Vice President,
Regulatory Affairs, Worldwide

lan Holmes, PhD
Senior Vice President,
Corporate Development

Michael E. Laird, RPh
Senior Vice President,
Business Development,
Worldwide

Robert Reekie,
MBChB, FFPM
Executive Vice President,
Operations, Europe

and Asia-Pacific

Sean P. Larkin
Executive Vice President,
Phase IV Development
and Clinical Operations,
Canada and Latin America

Robin C. Sheldrick
Senior Vice President,
Human Resources

David Natan*
Executive Vice President,
Reporting and Analysis

*PDGI Executive Officer 13
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OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Seated: Jetfrey P. McMullen. From left: Peter G. Tombros, Jack Levine, Per Wold-Olsen, Rolf A. élasson, David Olivier, David Lucking,
Arncld Golleb, and Lewis R. Elias.

Jack Levine, CPA
Chairman of the Board of Directors. PharmaNet Developmerit Group, Ing.
President, Jack Levine, P. A,

Rolf A. Classon
Chairman and former interim CEOQ, Hillenbrand Industrigs, Inc.

Lewis R. Elias, MD
Physician, Internal Medicine and Cardiofogy
Founder of South Florida Cardiology Group

Arnold Golieb
Retired Partner, KPMG LLP

David Lucking
Senior Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer,
ACCU-BREAK Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Jeffrey P. McMullen
President and Chief Executive Officer, PharmaNet Development Group, Inc.

David Olivier
Chairman, Atterna, LLC
Retired President, Wyeth International, Inc.

Peter G. Tombros
Professor, Pennsylvania State University
Retired President and CEQ, VivoQuest, Inc.

Per Wold-Olsen
Retired President, Human Health Intercontinental, Merck & Co., Inc.
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PART I

LINrY

As used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, all references in this report to “we,” “us,” “our,” “PharmaNet
Development Group, Inc.,” “PDGI,” or the “Company”™ refer to PharmaNet Development Group, Inc. (formerly
SFBC International, Inc.) and its subsidiaries as a single entity, unless the context otherwise requires. References to
“PharmaNet” relate only to PharmaNet, Inc., our late stage subsidiary, and references to Anapharm relate to
Anapharm, Inc., and references to Taylor relate to Taylor Technology, Inc.

Item 1. Business.
General

We are a leading global drug development services company providing clinical development services,
including consulting, Phase I and bicequivalency clinical studies, and Phase 11, Ill and IV clinical development
programs to branded pharmaceutical, biotechnology, generic drug and medical device companies around the world.
We have conducted clinical trials on generic drugs and new chemical entities, and our clients include many of the
largest pharmaceutical, biotechnology and generic drug manufacturers, and medical device companies in the world.
We operate our business in two business segments. Our early stage business consists primarily of Phase [ clinical
trial services and our bioanalytical laboratories. Our late stage business consists primarily of Phase I through
Phase 1V clinical trial services, including a comprehensive array of services consisting of data management and
biostatistics, medical and scientific affairs, regulatory affairs and submissions, clinical IT services and consulting
services.

Early Stage

We have two early stage Phase I clinical trial facilities; one in Quebec City, Canada which has 164 beds, and
the second in Montreal, Canada which has 150 beds. We expect to open a third early stage Phase I clinical trials
facility in Toronto, Canada with a 130 bed capacity in mid-2007. Our entire Quebec City operations which include
the clinical tria! facility, bionanalytical laboratory and administrative offices are expected to be relocated to a new
facility in Quebec City in the second quarter of 2007. This new facility is expected to have a capacity of 200 beds
and approximately 14,000 square feet of bioanalytical space which is an increase of approximately 40% over the
current bioanalytical space. We have developed and currently maintain databases of available individuals who have
indicated an interest in participating in future early clinical trials, We perform both Phase [ trials for pharmaceutical
and biotechnology companies and bicequivalency studies for generic industry in these clinics.

We provide bioanalytical services through five bioanalytical laboratories located in Philadelphia, Pennsyl-
vania, Princeton, New Jersey, Quebec City and Toronto, Canada, and Barcelona, Spain where we are a 49% joint
venture partner. The Quebec City laboratory will be significantly expanded as the result of 2a move to the new facility
in Quebec City in the second quarter of 2007. The Barcelona laboratory will also be expanded as the result of a move
to a new facility in the second quarter of 2007. These facilities primarily conduct methods development and sample
analyses for both branded and generic drug products.

Laie Stage

As of the date of this report, the late stage segment offers late stage clinical development services through a
network of 3! offices around the world and accounted for approximately 65% of our direct revenue in 2006. This
global presence facilitates investigator site selection, timely patient recruitment and the efficient conduct of
complex worldwide clinical trials, We have expertise in most therapeutic areas including oncelogy, neurosciences,
cardiovascular and infectious diseases. In addition to the late stage clinical development services, we have
developed a full line of proprietary software products specifically designed to support clinical development
activities. These web-based products, which we believe comply with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or
FDA, and international guidelines and regulations governing the use of electronic signatures in the conduct of
clinical trials, facilitate the collection, management and reporting of clinical trial information. In 2006, net revenue
derived from the use of these software products by our clients has not been material.



We believe that we can leverage our core early and late stage clinical trial and bioanalytical laboratory services
with our broad range of complementary services, including planning and consultation, data management and
biostatistics, medical and scientific affairs, regulatory affairs and submissions and clinical information technology
services. Broader capabilities provide clients with the necessary services to expedite the drug development process.

History

We have been providing drug development services since 1984. Commencing with our first acquisition in
March 2000, we have grown through the strategic acquisitions of related businesses and through internal growth.
Our key acquisitions to date include PharmaNet in 2004 and Anapharm in 2002. Through our acquisition of
PharmaNet for which we paid approximately $250.5 million in cash, we added late stage clinical development
services to become a global provider of both early and late stage clinical development services. Anapharm, which
was acquired for $26.7 million in cash and 251,063 shares of our common stock, is a provider of early stage clinical
trials and bioanalytical laboratory services primarily to generic drug companies.

The following chart summarizes our growth through acquisitions:

Current Business

Locations as of the
date of this report

Date of Acquisition Name
December 2004 .. .. ... PharmaNet, Inc.

Late Stage Clinical
Trials Management

Eleven North American
offices, Ten European
offices, Eight Asian
offices plus Buenos
Aires, Argentina and
Sydney, Australia

July 2004. ... ........ Taylor Technology, Inc.

Bicanalytical Laboratory

Princeton, New Jersey

Oclober 2003......... Anapharm Europe, S.L.

Bioanalytical Laboratory

(49% interest in joint

venture)

Barcelona, Spain

August 2003 .. .... ... Clinical Pharmacology

Associates'"

Early Stage Clinical
Trials

Miami, Florida
(discontinued in 2006)

July2003............ SFBC New Drug Late Stage Clinical London, Ontario, Canada
Services Canada.”® Trials Management
(remaining 51% interest
not previously owned by
Anapharm, Inc.)
March2003.......... SynFine Research Inc. Chemical Synthesis Toronto, Canada

September 2002 . . ... .. New Drug Services,

Inc.”

Data Management,
Biostatistical and
Regulatory

Kennett Square,
Pennsylvania




Locations as of the

Date of Acquisition Name Current Business date of this report
March 2002.......... Anapharm, Inc. Early Stage Clinical ~ Quebec City, Canada
Trials and Bioanalytical
Laboratory
Early Stage Clinical Montreal, Canada

Trials and Clinical

Laboratory Services

Bioanalytical Laboratory Toronto, Canada
_ (opened January 2005)

Early Stage Clinical Toronto, Canada

Trials (expected to open
in the second quarter of

2007)
August 2001 . ..... ... Keystone Analytical, Inc.  Bioanalytical Laboratory ~ Philadelphia,
) ‘ Pennsylvania
February 2001 ........ Lee Coast Research, Inc.  Early Stage Clinical Ft. Myers, Florida
Trials (discontinued in 2006)
March 2000 . ......... Pharmaceutical Late Stage Clinical Charlotte, North
Development Associates,  Trials Management Carolina
Inc.”?
1984 (formation) ...... PharmaNet Development  Early Stage Clinical Corporate headquarters
Group, Inc. (formerly Trals and Clinical moved to Princeton,
SFBC International, Inc.)  Laboratory Services and New Jersey in 2006
also Corporate (clinical operations in
Headquarters Miami were discontinued
in 2006)

{1} Formerly part of our Miami subsidiary.
{2) Now part of PharmaNet.

(3) Operated as Clinical Pharmacology Services since January 2005 in our early stage segment. Effective January 1,
2007, began operating as PharmaNet Specialized Pharmaceutical Services, Inc.

Discontinued Operations

Due to our decision in May 2006 to discontinue operations in Florida, all financial results in this report reflect
our continuing operations only, unless otherwise stated. Certain prior period amounts have been revised as a result
of the discontinued operations. See Note B Discontinued Operations.

Due to the issues surrounding our Florida operations which were previously disclosed in our Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2005 and subsequent filings, upon the recommendation of our management, the Board of
Directors authorized the closure of our operations in Florida consisting of our Miami and Ft. Myers subsidiaries.
Shortly thereafter, we began an orderly completion of our on-going contracts, a transfer of those contracts which
had not been started to third parties, developed a plan for vacating the Miami and Ft. Myers facilities, and
implemented a termination program for employees located at those subsidiaries, and other administrative tasks. As
of December 31, 2006, we believe this process has been substantially and successfully completed. With the
shutdown of the Miami and Ft. Myers facilities, we no longer conduct any early stage clinical trials in our facilities
in the United States. :




Industry Overview

The drug development services industry constitutes a significant and growing portion of all pharmaceutical
and biotechnology drug development activity. By outsourcing drug development activities, pharmaceutical,
biotechnology and generic drug companies can reduce their fixed costs and investment in infrastructure and focus
their resources on sales and marketing, drug discovery and other areas in which they can best differentiate
themselves.

It is expected that approximately $11.0 biilion to $13.5 billion, or approximately 20%-22%, of total 2007
pharmaceutical research and development expenditures will be outsourced to the Contract Research Organizations,
or CRO, industry, according to a recent study published by First Analysis Securities Corporation, dated January
2007. According to this First Analysis report, demand for CRO clinical development services is expected to
continue to grow approximately 14%-17% over the next several years due to continued research and development
investment and biotech funding, the expanding breadth and depth of clinical trials, the increasing complexity and
globalization of clinical trials and an increased focus and requirements for post-marketing studies. In addition,
many of the new moelecular entities are coming from small pharmaceutical and biotech companies which typically
lack expertise, resources, or infrastructure, resulting in a greater reliance on outsourcing. We believe that, according
to the January/February 2006 Report by Tufts University Center for the Study of Drug Development, the CRO
industry’s ability to successfully complete clinical trials more cost effectively and the headcount reductions or
testrictions in large pharmaceutical companies that were announced in 2006 also indicate that more studies will be
outsourced in the future.

The product development process
Branded drugs

The branded drug research and development process primarily consists of several stages: drug discovery, pre-
clinical studies, clinical trials, regulatory review and marketing. We do not provide drug discovery, pre-clinical
services or marketing services. However, we do conduct clinical trials that may be used to support marketing
activities. See description of Phase IV clinical trials below.

The clinical stage includes studies with healthy participants, as well as those with targeted diseases,
impairments or conditions. Prior to commencing maost human clinical trials in the United States, a pharmaceutical
or biotechnology company must file with the FDA an investigational new drug, or IND, application, which includes
manufacturing data, pre-clinical data, information about the use of the drug in humans for other purposes and a
detailed plan for the proposed clinical trials.

The effective design of these trials, referred to as study protocols, is essential to the success of the drug
development effort. The study protocol must be designed to assess the effectiveness and safety of new drugs and to
generate the data the FDA will require in order to approve the drug. If the FDA does not comment alter an IND
application is filed, human clinical trials may begin after the initial 30-day period. In other countries in which we
operate, pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies must lollow similar regulatory procedures with the
respeclive equivalent governmental authorities.

The human clinical trials stage is the most time-consuming and expensive part of the drug research and
development process. Trials in humans usuvally start on a small scale to assess safety and then expand to larger trials
to test both safety and efficacy. Trials generally are grouped into four stages known as Phase I, Phase [l, Phase 111
and Phase 1V:

* Phase I clinica! trials involve testing a drug on a limited number of participants, typically 20 to 80 persons
per study, to determine the drug’s basic safety data, including tolerability, absorption, metabolism and
excretion. This phase, which lasts an average of six months to one year, is comprised of numerous clinical
trials of short duration.

 Phase If clinical trials involve testing a small number of participants, typically 100 to 200 persons who
qualify for inclusion in a clinical trial based upon meeting the applicable trial protocol’s criteria and having a
particular medical condition, to determine the drug’s safety profile and effectiveness and how different doses
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work, This phase, which lasts an average of one to two yeats, is comprised of several longer duration clinical
trials.

« Phase III clinical trials involve testing large numbers of participants, typically several hundred, with a
medical condition to verify drug efficacy and safety on a large scale. These trials usually involve numerous
sites. Multiple trials are often conducted within each of Phase I through Phase-I11. After successfully
completing all three clinical phases, a company submits a new drug application, or NDA, to the FDA and/or
other national regulatory agencies requesting that the drug be approved for marketing. The NDA is a
comprehensive filing that includes, among other things, the results of all pre-clinical studies and clinical
trials. In other countries in which we operate, a similar filing procedure is required with the respective
equivalent governmental authorities.

* Phase IV clinical trials, which are conducted after drug approval, may also be required by the FDA or
equivalent foreign regulatory authority. These additional trials are required in order to monitor long-term
risks and benefits, to study different dosage levels or to evaluate different safety and efficacy parameters.

Generic drugs

Generic drugs are the chemical and therapeutic equivalents of branded drugs and are usually marketed after
patent expiration of the relevant branded drug. Regulatory approval is normally required before a generic equivalent
can be marketed. Approval is sought for generic drugs through the submission to the FDA of an abbreviated new
drug application, or ANDA. An ANDA may be submitted for a drug on the basis that it is the equivalent of a
previously approved drug. In other countries in which we operate, pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies
must follow similar regulatory procedures with the respective equivalent governmental authorities.

Generic drugs must meet the same quality standards as branded drugs. However, a NDA, which is the form of
submission required for approval of a new branded drug, requires that complete clinical trials be conducted. An
ANDA for a generic drug generally only requires the submission of data from bioequivalence studies, which usually
compare the rate and extent of absorption and levels of concentration in the blood stream of the generic drug product
with that of the previously approved drug. ’

Bioequivalency studies are normally conducted in two stages. The first stage involves conducting pilot trials
with a limited number of human subjects to justify advancing a generic formulation to more costly bioequivalency,
trials. Commonly, these pilot studies are conducted simultaneously on several different formulations of the same
drug, to determine the formulation most closely bioequivalent to the branded drug. The second stage, pivotal
bioequivalency trials, are studies conducted on a substantially larger group of subjects, in order to demonstrate
bioequivalency in accordance with standards required by the FDA,

505(b)(2) approval

Another FDA approval route increasingly utilized by both generic and branded companies is referred to as a
505(b)(2) application. This section of the Hatch-Waxman Act permits an applicant to rely upon the FDA's prior
finding of safety and efficacy for a drug, or upon published literature establishing that drug’s safety and efficacy, but
will also require that the applicant perform some additional clinical safety and efficacy studies. Such 505(b)(2)
applications are generally utilized for significant variations of an approved drug, for new dosage forms of an
approved drug, for substitution of one active ingredient in a combination drug product or other significant changes
that would make the generic drug ANDA route unavailable. The FDA has expanded the scope of products subject to
505(b)(2) approval, and this may, in turn, expand the market for clinical tests and other related services such as those
offered by us and our competitors.

Medical devices

Medical devices are regulated by the FDA, which has established three regulatory classes for medical devices
based on the degree of control believed necessary to assure that the various types of devices are safe and effective.
Depending on the type of device, pre-market approval by the FDA may be required and in some cases data derived
from clinical trials regarding the safety and effectiveness of the device must be filed. Devices in Canada and the
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European Union are also generally regulated on a risk assessment basis with higher risk classes requiring more
complex submissions and disclosure.

Industry trends

The drug development services industry provides product development services to the branded pharmaceu-
tical, biotechnology and generic drug industries. The drug development services industry has evolved from
providing clients with limited clinical trial services in the 1970s to providing a comprehensive range of services,
including discovery, pre-clinical evalvations, study protocol design, clinical trial management, data collection,
bioanalytical and statistical analysis, regulatory affairs and submissions. We believe the drug development services
industry’s growth is being driven primarily by the following:

Emergence of new research technologies that are resulting in greater drug development activities

Over the past 20 years, economic opportunities and technological advances have dramatically changed the
drug discovery process. The primary outcome of these changes has been increased efforts 1o pursue more disease
targets and to discover drug compounds that are therapeutically effective against these targets,

Branded pharmaceutical, biotechnelogy and generic drug companies may increasingly find that they do not
have sufficient internat development resources or know-how to cope with the increased number and diversity of new
drug candidates, especially as they enter the clinical trial process. We believe the increase of drug compounds in
clinical development will increase demand for drug development services companies.

As a result of more drugs being discovered, screening and lead optimization tools and technologies, significant
growth, expected to be in the range of 14% to 17% in early and late stage clinical development, according to First
Analysis, will result as product candidates advance from the earlier to later stages of the drug development process.

Escalating research and development expenditures by pharmaceutical companies

Increases in global research and development expenditures by the major pharmaceutical companies have
broadly tracked the increase in pharmaceutical revenues over the past 10 years. In 1996, pharmaceutical research
and development expenditures were approximately $17 billion and now are expected to be in the range of $52 billion
to $62 billion, according to www.phrma.org and First Analysis.

Changes in the regulatory environment

We believe that the FDA will continue to be more demanding with respect to the data required to support new
and generic drug approvals and is seeking more evidence regarding the safety and efficacy of new drugs. In January
2007, the FDA issued a press release reinforcing its commitment to drug safety. In this news release, the FDA
describes specific steps that will be taken to strengthen the science that supports the FDA’s medical product safety
systems at every stage of the product life cycle, to improve communication and information flow among
stakeholders and improving operations and management to ensure the implementation of the review, analysis
and consultation, and communication processes needed to strengthen the U.S. drug safety system.

The changing population demographics associated with an aging population is further exacerbating this trend
due to safety concerns regarding the interaction of multiple medications. As a result, the complexity of clinical trials
and the number of participants required for clinical trials are increasing, which we believe is resulting in an increase
in the demand for the services provided by drug development services companies, with a particular increase in
Phase T and Phase 1V safety trials.

We believe that the FDA is also increasing its scrutiny of the pharmaceutical industry. Much of this emphasis is
likely to be placed on pharmaceutical manufacturers, but it is possible that the FDA and other bodies will increase
its inspections of clinical development services companies such as vs and our competitors. It is uncertain what
impact any increase in inspections would have on the clinical development services industry.
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Industry Association Appointment

The Association of Clinical Research Organizations, or ACRO, represents the world’s leading clinical research
companies. As the industry’s association ACRO advances the common interests of research and development
services companies and is responsible for representing the CRO industry to pharmaceutical, biotechnology, medical
device companies, legislators and regulators, patient advocacy groups and media worldwide. PharmaNet has been
an active member of ACRO since the association’s second year. In December 2006, Jeffrey P. McMullen, our
president and CEO, was elected Chairman of ACRO for 2007.

Growth of the biotechnology industry

The biotechnology industry and the number of drugs it produces have grown substantially over the past decade.
Biotechnology companies generate significant numbers of new drug candidates that require clinical development
either by these companies or by traditional pharmaceutical companies who license these products. The biotech-
nology industry is expected to increase its expenditures on drug development in the coming year due to a favorable
financing environment. Financing in 2006 increased to approximately $16 billion from a little more that $8 billion
in 2005, according to a Biocentury report dated January 2007. Biotechnology companies often do not have the staff,
operating procedures, infrastructure, experience or expertise in-house to conduct their own clinical trials. In
addition, while biotechnology companies have historically sought to defray the cost of clinical development by
licensing their products to pharmaceutical companies, we believe that many are now increasingly seeking to license
out their technology at a later stage of clinical development.

Growth and price pressures of the generic drug industry

A significant number of branded pharmaceuticals are expected to lose patent protection over the next few
years, which is expected to increase demand for bioanalytical laboratory services by generic pharmaceutical
companies. Bioanalytical laboratory services are necessary to determine that a generic drug is equivalent to the
branded drug. We believe that drug development services companies that are selected to provide bioanalytical
laboratory services relating to a generic drug are usually also selected to handle the bioequivalency clinical trials
work, if any, related to the generic drug approval process. Furthermore, an increasingly favorable regulatory
environment pertaining to generic drug development and marketing has resulted in dramatic growth in the generic
drug industry, and more government and private organizations are requiring generic drug use, due to their lower
costs than branded pharmaceuticals. Most recently in the United States, the FDA increased its funding for generic
drug activities in fiscal year 2004 in order to increase its staff and reduce the time required to process generic drug
applications. In addition, in 2006, the generic drug industry experienced price pressures which translated to pricing
pressures for its service providers, and we believe this practice will continue in the immediate future.

Increasingly global scope of clinical trials

We believe that an increasing number of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies are pursuing drug
approvals in multiple countries simultancously, rather than sequentially, as in the past, to maximize speed to market
and to achieve higher potential returns on their research and development expenditures. The globalization of clinical
trials provides access to larger patient populations, supports global registration and marketing efforts and lowers
costs while still producing high quality data for submission to the FDA and other regulatory agencies. We believe
that the increasing complexity in clinical research, regulatory oversight, and the level of specialization has
translated into increased demand by pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies for clinical research organi-
zations to conduct their complex trials on a global basis.

According to an Accenture report dated January 2007, a global management consulting company, drug

development research in Central and Western Europe, Latin America and Asia will increase from 10% of global
drug development research in 1998 to nearly 25% in 2008.
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Our Competitive Strengths

We believe that we offer clients the following valuable strengths that help us capitalize on the trends affecting
the drug development services industry and its clients.

COur ability to provide a comprehensive range of clinical development and complementary services

We are a leading provider of both early and late stage clinical development services, In early stage clinical
development services, we specialize primarily in Phase [ clinical trials and bioanalytical laboratory services,
including early clinical pharmacology. We conduct bioequivalency studies for major pharmaceutical and biotech-
nology companies as well as generic drug companies. The iate stage segment provides global services focused on
Phase 11 through Phase I'V clinical trials including a comprehensive array of services consisting of data management
and biostatistics, medical and scientific affairs, regulatory affairs and submissions and clinical IT services. We also
assist clients with integrated drug development services in project design, study design, investigator recruitment,
investigative site selection, qualified study participant recruitment, study monitoring, auditing and quality assur-
ance. In addition to providing services in most therapeutic areas, we provide services focused on oncology,
neurosciences, cardiovascular and infectious diseases.

Our ability to recruit

The early stage segment maintains a significant recruitment database in Canada. This database has in excess of
100,000 names of potential participants who participated or indicated their interest in participating on clinical trials
in all of our Canadian facilities. The participant database includes different categories of study participants from
18 years and older male and female volunteers to participants with specific conditions (smokers/non-smokers,
hyperiensive males and females, hypogonadal males, post-menopausal women, diabetes type 2 patients, and other
specific conditions).

The late stage segment provides clinical trial management and related services through a global network of
offices. We also have employees or contractors who perform services in 14 other countries where we do not
currently maintain offices. We believe that this global platform enables timely patient recruitment and gives us
access to patient populations that are difficult to find in the United States. The physicians with whom we have
relationships for the purpose of recruiting patients for our clinical trials have access to patients worldwide,
providing us with significant capabilities in recruiting special patient populations.

The scope of our clinical trials facilities

The existing early stage generic clinic in Quebec City, Canada has 164 beds within four independent units and
approximately 10,175 square feet of laboratory space. The new facility in Quebec City which has been under
construction since April 2006, is expected to open in the second quarter of 2007. As of March 10, 2007, the building
was substantially completed. We expect to begin moving into the new facility in late March 2007 and have devised
an orderly transition from its facilities into the new building. We believe the move will be successful and
accomplished in a timely manner. However, we cannot assure you that services to our clients wilt not be disrupted. If
there is a problem moving into the new facility, this could have an adverse impact on our early stage revenues.

The new facility is expected to provide more clinical space, 200 beds, and increase the size of the bioanalytical
laboratory by approximately 40%. The building has been designed to accommodate anticipated future growth,
Additionally, the size of the building could be increased further or an adjacent building could be constructed on the
same site. However, we cannot assure you that this future growth will materialize.

The clinic in the Montreal, Canada location has 150 beds within four independent units. The independent units
provide the flexibility to conduct different studies at the same time and enhance our capability to serve additional
specialty sectors, such as the generic drug development market. We intend to open a 150 bed Phase [ facility in
Toronto, Canada in mid-2007 (our bioanalyticat taboratory currently operating in Toronto is located at a different
facility).

We also have guality assurance units in the United States, Europe and Canada that work independently from
our operations groups to help ensure compliance with FDA and local country regulations and to ensure the overall
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quality of the work performed in our early and late stage business. This is accomplished by routine investigator site
audits and internal process audits focused on continual process improvement.

Our experience

We have been providing branded pharmaceutical, biotechnology and generic drug companies with drug
development and medical device services for over 20 years. Our employees have extensive experience in the clinical
trials industry and have been invoived in extremely large and complex studies across a broad range of areas. Our late
stage clinical development group employs several former senior-level FDA officials offering years of first-hand
agency perspective to both pre-market and post-market development processes for drugs, biologics and devices.
Furthermore, our safety and pharmacovigilance group has a team of safety professionals with extensive experience
in drug safety, pharmacovigilance and pharmacoepidemiology and an understanding of the changing global
regulatory environment. We also have significant experience in providing drug development services in many
therapeutic areas, such as oncology, neurosciences, cardiovascular and infectious diseases.

Our Strategy

We believe that increasing demand for outsourced drug development services will provide us with oppor-
tunities to continue to grow our business. Our strategy is to buitd upon our clinical development expertise and to
further our reputation as a provider of a broad range of high-quality drug development services to our clients in the
branded pharmaceutical, biotechnology, generic drug and medical device industries. During 2007, inour early stage
operations we intend to open a new 150 bed generic clinic trials facility in Toronto, Canada. The opening of this new
facility in Toronto, Canada will enable us to take on more branded clinical trials in our Montreal, Canada facility
which historically have a higher profit margin. Additionally, we intend to provide ligand-binding assay services in
our new Quebec City facility. We cannot assure you that our strategy will be successful or result in significant
additional revenue. In our late stage segment, we expect to begin formutating preliminary plans to broaden our
service offerings either through an acquisition or through internal development. We cannot assure you that we will
implement these plans or consummate any acquisitions during 2007.

Leveraging complementary early clinical and late phase development services and client relationships

We believe that opportunities exist to cross-sell between the early and late stage business segments. Our clients
are branded pharmaceutical, biotechnology and generic drug companies that outsource a portion of their drug
development activities in order to focus their efforts in sales, marketing and other drug discovery activities. On
occasion we generate business from multiple, and often independent, groups within our client companies. In
addition to pursuing new client relationships, our sales and marketing teams focus on gaining new business and
developing new relationships with groups at existing clients.

Leveraging our global presence to provide a complete range of drug development services worldwide

We believe that the resulting global presence, including infrastructure, client and regulatory relationships, and
local drug development expertise, will facilitate expansion of our early stage clinical development and biocanalytical
operations into Europe, although we were unable to grow this part of our business in 2006. While we currently
operate in 19 countries on five continents, the increasingly global drug development needs of our clients makes it
beneficial to continue to expand our presence in these locations and to move into new countries and new locations in
order to remain competitive in the future.

Expanding our bioanalytical laboratory business

Our bioanalytical laboratory business serves a broad spectrum of our clients’ needs. Our scientists develop
bioanalytical methods and provide bioanalytical studies for major pharmaceutical companies as well as biotech-
nology and generic drug companies. We believe that by providing bioanalytical laboratory services, we can help our
clients reduce administrative costs, coordination efforts, and clinical trial completion times while enabling us to
compete more successfully for new business. We also believe that the addition of ligand-binding laboratory services
will answer this need in the market place.



Augmenting our current range of services through strategic acquisitions, strategic alliances or joint
ventures

We have grown significantly by acquiring related businesses. We believe the eleven acguisitions from March
2000 through December 2004 have broadened our range of services, strengthened our management team and
expanded our client base. We did not consummate any acquisitions in 2005 or 2006.

Qur industry is highly fragmented and includes large and small competitors that have expertise in different
business areas. As part of our growth strategy, we continue to monitor acquisition opportunities and when
circumstances are appropriate, intend to make acquisitions which enhance our array of services or otherwise
strengthen our ability to provide exceptional services to our clients.

We try to target businesses that, in addition to fitting well with our current business, would be accretive to our
earnings and that have experienced management willing to stay with the business after the acquisition. We generally
seek 1o negotiate acquisition consideration structures that will help us to retain and motivate an acquired business’
existing management. As a result of the discontinuation of operations in Florida and the highly competitive nature
of pricing in the generic industry, we have focused our efforts in the recent past on strengthening our core businesses
rather than attempting to acquire any new businesses. Qur emphasis on making acquisitions is significantly less than
in prior years; however, we continue to monitor potential acquisitions in the areas of bio-imaging, which is required
for essentially all oncology trials, central laboratories, clinical trial packaging and distribution, and a partner to help -
us promote our PharmaSoft software. :

Our Services

We believe our drug development services assist our clients in managing their research and development
programs efficiently and cost effectively through the drug development process. We offer our clients a broad range
of drug development services, including the following:

Early stage clinical development services

Qur early stage clinical development services include designing studies, recruiting and screening study
participants, conducting early stage clinical trials, and collecting and reporting to our clients the clinical data
collected during the course of the clinical trials.

We may assist our clients in preparing the study protocols, designing case report forms and conducting any
necessary clinical trial audit functions. Additionally, we collect data throughout clinical trials and enter it onto case
report forms according to Good Clinical Practices, or GCPs, which are practices to meet our clients’ and the FDA or
other regulatory agency requirements identified in each study protocol. We also provide our clients with statistical
analysis, medical report writing services and assistance with regulatory submissions.

Laboratory services

We provide bicanalytical laboratory services primarily in support of early clinical trials at our facilities located
in Quebec City and Toronto, Canada, Princeton, New Jersey, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, and Barcelona, Spain. Our
bioanalytical laboratories have or develop the scientific methods, or assays, necessary to analyze clinical trial
samples.

Qur bicanalytical laboratories provide bioanalytical support for preclinical studies, drug discovery, early
clinical trials studies, bioequivalence studies, bioavailability studies and drug metabolism studies. During the
generic clinical trial process, we conduct laboratory analysis on various biological specimens to determine the
quantity of a drug present in each specimen. Additionally, with the exception of our laboratories in Canada and
Spain, substantially all of the samples we analyze at our bioanalytical laboratories are generated from branded
clinical trials we did not perform. We format and present the data resulting from this process to our clients for their
use and interpretation.
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Late stage clinical development services

We provide late stage clinical development services for studies, including clinical operations, data manage-
ment and biostatistics, regulatory, medical and scientific affairs, and consulting. We provide a full array of services
in support of these trials, including strategic planning, protocol/case report form design, site selection, monitoring
and project management, software systems development and support, quality control/assurance, global safety and
pharmacovigilance, and post-FDA approval development services. Our late stage clinical development services
cover most therapeutic areas with focus in oncology, neurosciences, cardiovascular and infectious diseases.

Data management and biostatistics

We operate seven data management centers, consisting of five in North America, one in Europe and one in
India; Of these, three of the North American centers, the European center and the Indian center feed into a central
integrated repository in the United States. We offer a globally integrated database management systemn that can
operate multiple software applications from a variety of vendors, thereby providing flexibility for our clients in
conducting large-scale clinical trials in multiple international markets. We also offer biostatistical and program-
ming services, employing state-of-the-art software technologies and innovative strategies to facilitate data pro-
cessing, analysis and reporting of results.

Clients and Marketing

Our clients include many of the largest branded pharmaceutical, biotechnology, generic drug and medical
device companies in the world. We believe we have a strong reputation for client service .and have cultivated
relationships with key decision makers within our clients’ organizations. We focus on meeting our clients’
expectations, and we believe that this has been a leading factor in generating repeat business from our clients.

Our clients often represent multiple sources of business for us since there are often a number of therapeutic
specialty or other groups that contract separately for services within one company. For the year ended December 31,
2006, approximately 44% of our direct revenue, which does not include reimbursed out-of-pockets from clients,
was attributed to our operations based in the United States, approximately 28% from operations in Canada,
approximately 26% from operations in Europe, and approximately 2% from operations in the rest of the world. The
mix of our clients and revenue generated from individual clients varies from period to period. In 2004 (on a pro
forma basis), 2005 and 2006, no client accounted for 10% or more of our direct revenue. For the year ended
December 31, 2006, no client represented more than 7.2% of our direct revenue, and for the year ended
December 31, 2005, no client represented more than 7.4% of our direct revenue, not including reimbursed
out-of-pockets. At December 31, 2006, one client represented approximately 14.0% of our accounts receivable or
9.0% of our accounts receivable net of client advances.

We employ an experienced team of approximately 35 business development sales representatives with
approximately 40 support staff who market our services to branded pharmaceutical, biotechnology, generic drug
and medical device companies, primarily to North America, Europe and Japan. Additionally, members of our senior
management play a very active role in developing and managing our relationships with existing clients and in
helping to generate business from new clients.

OQOur Competitors

The drug development services industry is highly fragmented and is comprised of a number of large, full-
service drug development services companies as well as many smaller companies with limited service offerings. We
believe we are one of the top ten largest drug development services companies ranked by contract research revenues
for 2006. Our major competitors in this industry include drug development services companies, including Covance,
Inc., Pharmaceutical Product Development, Inc., MDS Pharma Services, a division of MDS Inc., ICON, plc,
PAREXEL International Corporation, PRA International, Quintiles Transnational Corp., Kendle International Inc.
and the research departments of universities and teaching hospitals.

Generally, drug development services companies principally compete on the basis of following factors:

« the ability to recruit doctors and participants for clinical trials;
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» medical and scientific expertise in specific therapeutic areas;
+ the ability to organize and manage large-scale trials;

* the quality of their services;

» the range of services they provide;

* financial stability; and

* the cost of services they provide,

The general trend toward consolidation in the pharmaceutical industry has resulted in increased competition
for clients. Consolidation within the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries as well as the trend by the
pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries to limit outsourcing to fewer drug development services companies
has also heightened competition for contracts in our industry,

We compete in the early and late stage portions of the business on the basis of our reputation for high quality,
our attention to client service and our broad range of therapeutic expertise. Our businesses have preferred provider
relationships with'a number of leading pharmaceutical companies and in the ordinary course of business seeks to
enter into new relationships. While these relationships do not guarantee us that we will be selected to manage a
particular trial, we believe that they are a competitive advantage. We believe our reputation for quality, our global
presence and integrated worldwide data management systems make us competitive in the late stage portion of the
business.

The bioanalytical laboratories compete primarily through the development of, or capacity to develop,
validated methodologies, also known as assays. We believe the capacity to develop these methodologies and in
same cases their pre-demand availability are the best tools to sell these services to pharmaceutical companies,
especially generic drug companies conducting bioequivalence studies. In order to better attract generic business,
these methodologies are often developed in a proactive way even before our generic clients need it. Our major
competitors in this area include MDS Pharma Services, a division of MDS Inc., and Pharmaceutical Product
Development, Inc.

Indemnification and Insurance

In conjunction with our product development services, we employ or contract with physicians to serve as
investigators in conducting clinical trials to test new drugs on human volunteers. Such testing creates the risk of
liability for personal injury to or death of volunteers, particularly to volunteers with life-threatening illnesses,
resulting from adverse reactions to the drugs administered. It is possible that we could be held liable for claims and
expenses arising from any professional malpractice of the investigators with whom we contract or employ, or in the
event of personal injury to or death of persons participating in clinical trials. In addition, as a result of our operation
of clinical trial facilities, we could be liable for the general risks associated with clinical trials including, but not
limited to, adverse events resulting from the administration of drugs to clinical trial participants or the professional
malpractice of medical care providers. We also could be held liable for errors or omissions in connection with the
services we perform through each of our service groups. For example, we could be held liable for errors or
omissions or breach of contract if one of our laboratories inaccurately reports or fails to report laboratory results,
Further, PharmaNet has in the past acted, and intends in the future to act, as a “sponsor” on behalf of certain public
company clients in connection with certain clinical trials in Australia. Under Australian law, the “sponsor” of a
clinical trial must maintain a legal presence in Australia and PharmaNet meets this requirement through its wholly
owned Auvstralian affiliate PharmaNet Pty. Limited. Additionally, PharmaNet intends in the future to act, as a “legal
representative’” under the European Union, or EU, Clinical Trials Directive on behalf of certain public company
clients, lacking a legal presence within the EU, in connection with certain clinical trials being performed with the
EU. Under the Clinical Trials Directive, a sponsor must designate a “legal representative” with the regulatory
authorities prior to the commencement of any clinical trial with the EU. This legal representative is required to have
a legal presence in one of the EU member countries and is required to be legally liable for the conduct of the clinical
trial. PharmaNet’s agreement to act in this capacity exposes it to additional liability as a “sponsor” or “legal
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representative” in the event of any adverse incidents however, we have sought to reduce our risks by one or more of
the following:

« indemnification provisions and provisions seeking to limit or exclude liability contained in our contracts
with clients and investigators;

« insurance maintained by clients and investigators and by us; and

« complying with various regulatory requirements, including the use of ethics committees and the procure-
ment of each participant’s informed consent to participate in the study.

The contractual indemnifications we have generally do not fully protect us against certain of our own actions,
such as negligence. Contractual arrangements are subject to negotiation with clients, and the terms and scope of any
indemnification, limitation of liability or exclusion of liability may vary from client to client and from trial to trial.
Additionally, financial performance of these indemnities is not secured. Therefore, we bear the risk that any
indemnifying party against which we have claims may not have the financial ability to fulfill its indemnification
obligations to us. Additionally, while we maintain professional liability insurance that covers the locations in which
we corrently do business and that covers drug safety issues as well as data processing and other errors and
omissions, it is possible that we could become subject to claims not covered by insurance or that exceed our
coverage limits. We could be materially and adversely affected if we were required to pay damages or bear the costs
of defending any claim that is outside the scope of or in excess of a contractual indemnification provision, beyond
the level of insurance coverage or not covered by insurance, or in the event that an indemnifying party does not
fulfill its indemnification obligations. As a result of the discontinuation of operations in Miami and Ft. Myers
described throughout this report, we have exercised and purchased the extended reporting period, or the tail
coverage, option provided within the professional liability insurance policy that covered these operations at policy
expiration. This extended reporting period provides the ability to report any professional liability claims that may
have arisen from our operations in Miami and Ft. Myers for a specific time frame. We could be materially and
adversely affected if we were required to pay all the damages or bear all the costs of defending any claim that is
outside the scope of or in the excess of the level of coverage provided during this extended reporting period,
including any claims that the insurance policy does not address.

With regard to the pending class and derivative actions, we have directors and officers liability coverage which
may provide coverage, subject to a $250,000 deductible which has been reached, and normal coverage exclusions
including any court finding of fraud. To date these coverage exclusions have not been material.

Government Regulation

All phases of a clinical trial are governed by the FDA and state regulations, as well as other regulatory agencies
including the Therapeutic Products Directorate, or TPD, in Canada and the European Medicine Evaluation Agency,
or EMEA. Sponsors of clinical trials also follow the International Conference of Harmonization, or ICH, E6
guidelines which affect global drug development. Accordingly, sponsors of clinical trials are responsible for
selecting qualified investigators to conduct clinical trials, provide investigators with study protocols, monitor the
clinical trials, report any changes or modifications of the clinical trial to the FDA or other regulatory agencies and
report any serious and unexpected adverse reactions occurring in the clinical trial to the appropriate regulatory
agency. In the course of providing our drug development services, we too must comply with the above regulatory
requirements.

Our services are subject to various regulatory requirements designed to ensure the quality and integrity of the
clinical trials process. The manufacture of investigational drugs are required to comply with Good Manufacturing
Practices, or GMP, regulations. The industry standard for conducting clinical research and development studies is
contained in regulations established for Good Clinical Practice, or GCP. The FDA requires that the results submitted
to it be based on studies conducted according to its Good Laboratory Practices, or GLPs, standards for preclinical
studies and laboratories and GCP standards for clinical facilities. The standards address a number of issucs,
including:

+ selecting qualified investigators and sites;
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* obtaining specific written commitments from investigators;
» verifying that informed consents are obtained from participants;

* monitoring the validity and accuracy of data;

verifying that we account for the drugs provided to us by our clients; and
» instructing investigators to maintain records and reports.

Similar guidelines exist in various states and in other countries. We may be subject to regulatory action if we
fail to comply with these rules. Failure to comply with these regulations can also result in the termination of ongoing
research and disqualification of data collected during the clinical trials.

Additionally, because we frequently deal with biohazardous specimens and medical waste material, we are
subject to licensing and regulation in the United States under federal, state and local laws relating to hazard
communication and employee right-to-know regulations and the handiing and disposal of medical specimens and
hazardous waste and materials. Our laboratory facilities are subject to applicable laws and regulations relating to the
storage and disposal of laboratory specimens. Transportation and public health regulations apply to the surface and
air transportation of laboratory specimens. Qur laboratories are also subject to International Air Transport
Association, or 1ATA, regulations, which govern internationat shipments of laboratory specimens. Furthermore,
when the materials are sent to another country, the transportation of such materials becomes subject to the laws,
rules and reguiations of such other country. Laboratories outside the United States are subject to applicable national
laws governing matters such as licensing, the handling and disposal of medical specimens, hazardous waste and
radioactive raterials, as well as the health and safety of laboratory employees. We contract with independent
licensed companies to handle our waste disposal. Our laboratories in the United States are also subject to the federal
Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments, or CLIA, which is administered by the Centers for Disease Control
and the FDA, as well as similar state requirements. CLIA requires certification of laboratories involved with patient
samples and includes requirements concerning laboratory facilities, personnel and quality systems.

In addition to its comprehensive regulation of safety in the workplace, the United States Occupational Safety
and Health Administration, or OSHA, has established extensive requirements relating to workplace safety for
healthcare employers whose workers may be exposed to blood-borne pathogens such as HIV and the hepatitis B
virus. These regulations, among other things, require work practice controls, protective clothing and equipment,
training, medical follow-up, vaccinations and other measures designed to minimize exposure to chemicals, and
transmission of blood-borne and airborne pathogens. Furthermore, certain employees receive initial and periodic
training to ensure compliance with applicable hazardous materials regulations and health and safety guidelines. We
are subject to similar regulation in Canada and Spain.

The United States Department of Health and Human Services has promulgated rules under the Health
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, that govern the use, handling and disclosure of
personatly identifiable medical information. These regulations also establish procedures for the exercise of an
individual’s rights and the methods permissible for de-identification of health information. We are also subject to
privacy legislation in Canada under the federal Personal Information and Electronic Documents Act, an Act
Respecting the Protection of Personal Information in the Private Sector and the Personal Health Information
Protection Act (Ontario); and privacy legislation in the EU under the 95/46/EC Privacy Directive on the protection
and free movement of personal data.

The use of controlled substances in our trials and our accounting for drug samples that contain controlled
substances are subject to strict regulation in the United States under federal and state laws. We are required to have a
license from the United States Drug Enforcement Administration. We also are required to comply with similar iaws
in Quebec and Canada. We also use special care and security procedures to safeguard and account for all controlled
substances.

Clinical trials conducted outside of the United States are subject to the laws and regulations of the country
where the trials are conducted. These laws and regulations may or may not be similar to the laws and regulations
administered by the FDA, and other laws and regulations regarding issues such as the protection of patient safety
and privacy, and the control of study pharmaceuticals, medical devices, or other study materials. Studies conducted
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outside the United States may also be subject to regulation by the FDA, if the studies are conducted pursuant to an
IND application or an investigational device exemption. It is the responsibility of the study sponsor and/or the
parties conducting the studies to ensure that all applicable legal and regulatory requirements are fulfilled.

In addition to this detailed regulatory structure, we must comply with all government regulations including
local government regulations.

Failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations could subject us to denial of the right to conduct
business, disqualification of data collected during clinical trials, liability for clean up costs, liability or the loss of
revenue due to 2 failure to comply with our contractual obligations, the assessment of civil fines, or, in extreme
cases, criminal penalties, as well as other enforcement actions.

Backlog

Backlog consists of anticipated direct revenue from written notification of awards, letters of intent and
contracts that either have not started but are anticipated to begin in the near future or are in process and have not
been completed. We do not include verbal awards in our backlog estimates.

We cannot assure you that we will be able to realize all or most of the direct revenue included in backlog.
Although backlog can provide meaningful information to our management with respect to our business, it is not
necessarily a meaningful indicator of future results. Backlog can be affected by a number of factors, including the
size and duration of contracts, many of which are performed over several years, and the changes in labor utilization
that typically occur during a study. Additionaily, contracts relating to our clinical development business may be
subject to early termination by the client, and clinical trials can be delayed or canceled for many reasons, including
unexpected test results, safety concerns or regulatory developments. Also, the scope of a contract can change
significantly during the course of a study. If the scope of a contract is revised, the adjustment to backlog occurs when
the revised scope is approved by the client. For these and other reasons, we might not fully realize our entire backlog
as direct revenue.

The following table reflects our backlog as of December 31, 2006 and as of December 31, 2003.

Backlog December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005

TOl . oot $352.7 million $349.8 million

Late StAEE .. oottt $309.6 million $317.9 million

Early Stage ...... .ottt $ 43.1 million $ 31.9 million
Seasonality

Historically, our revenue and profits have been higher in the first haif of the year in our late stage business, and
in the second half of the year for our early stage business. In both 2006 and 2005, we experienced this type of
seasonality in our early stage business and expect it to occur again in 2007. In 2003, PharmaNet did not experience
its historic seasonality of lower revenues in the second half of the year. However, in 2006, PharmaNet did
experience some seasonality in the second half, though to a lesser extent compared to historic levels. In 2007, we do
expect there to be some seasonality in the late-stage business.

Employees )
On March 13, 2007, we had approximately 2,089 full-time and 160 part-time employees world wide, none of
whom were unionized.

Available information

We make available, free of charge, through our internet website, our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as soon as reasonably practicable after we
electronically file such material with, or furnish to, the SEC. Our internet address is www.pharmanet.com. Qur
internet website and the information in or connected to our website are not incorporated into this report.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

You should carefully consider the following risks and all of the other information set forth in this Form 10-K
before deciding to invest in shares of our common stock. The risks described below are not the only ones facing us.
Additional risks not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our business
operations.

If any of the following risks actually occurs, our business, financial condition or results of operations would
likely suffer. In such case, the market price of our common stock would likely decline due to the occurrence.of any
of these risks, and you may lose all or part of your investment.

Risks Associated with Recent Actions, Inquiries and Lawsuits

While we have insurance coverage in connection with the pending class and derivative actions, the poten-
tial adverse outcome may exceed our insurance coverage.

We are subject to a number of class actions and derivative actions in federal court which were consolidated in
the District of New Jersey. Our $250,000 insurance deductible was reached as of December 31, 2006, We expect that
our insurance carrier will pay our legal and other costs, any settlement amount and any adverse judgment, subject to
the timits of the policies. However, we are responsible for any additional amounts above our policy limits, and the
legal fees incurred by our underwriters named in those lawsuits, These amounts are currently indeterminable and
may be material, If the amount of defense costs and any agreed upon settlement or adverse judgment exceeds the
insurance limits or if coverage were otherwise unavailable, our future earnings and financial condition could be
matertally and adversely affected. Additionally, litigation is generally time-consuming and can divert the attention
of our management and other personnel.

If there is an adverse outcome in the securities class action lawsuits that have been filed against us, our
business may be materially harmed. Further, defending against these and other lawsuits may be expensive
and could divert the attention of our management.

A number of securities class actions and derivative actions have been filed against us. The securities class
actions allege that we and certain of our former and current officers and directors engaged in violations of the anti-
fraud provisions of the federal securities laws. The derivative suits are brought on behalf of PDGI against certain of
our former and current officers and/or directors alleging, among other things, breaches of fiduciary duty. The
complaints in these actions seek, among other things, unspecified damages and costs associated with the litigation.

As with any litigation proceeding, we cannot predict with certainty the eventual outcome of these pending
lawsuits. Furthermore, we will have to incur expenses in connection with these lawsuits, which may be substantial.
In the event of an adverse outcome, our business could be materially harmed. Moreover, responding to and
defending the pending litigation could result in a significant diversion of management’s attention and resources and
an increase in professional fees.

Depending upon the sutcome, the inquiry by the SEC can result in our being sued by the SEC and being
subject to equitable relief including payment of a fine and civil monetary penalfies.

On March 12, 2007, we received notice that the SEC staff has secured a formal order of private investigation.
The formal order relates to revenue recognition, earnings, company operations and related party transactions. In late
December 2005, we received an informal request from the SEC for documents relating to the duties, qualifications,
compensation, and reimbursement of former officers and employees. This request also asked for a copy of the report
to Senator Grassley by Independent Counsel. In a second request, sent March 28, 2006, the SEC asked for
mformation regarding related parties and transactions, duties and compensation of vartous employees, internal
controls, revenue recognition and other accounting policies and procedures, and selected regulatory filings. We
have voluntarily complied with these requests and have produced and will continue to produce documents to the
SEC. We have been cooperating fully with the SEC.
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The risks and uncertainties associated with discontinued operations could adversely impact our company.

During May 2006, we made the strategic decision to exit our Florida operations in order to focus more
selectively on our other businesses. There continue to be risks associated with closing the Florida operations. In
addition, we face related risks and uncertainties, including the inability to effectively manage restructured business
units and the inability to effectively manage costs or difficulties related to the operation of the businesses or
execution of restructuring of our exit activities. While the former Miami facility has been demolished as of the date
of this report, we may incur costs in addition to those disclosed in the discontinued operations section of the
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis” section of this Form 10-K, such as costs related to currently unknown
issues concerning the complete demolition of the facility. For additional costs related to this risk factor, see the
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis” section of this Form 10-K.

If we are unable to convince our clients that the problems principally related to our Miami facility were
cither not accurately reported or have been rectified, we may lose future revenue and our Juture results
of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

Although the report of our independent counsel which our Board of Directors retained to review the allegations
contained in the Bloomberg Reports largely concluded that the reports’ allegations were unfounded. the repetition
of these allegations in the media has harmed our reputation. Ultimately, we closed our Miami facility and we
discontinued operations in Florida. As a result, clients may decline to give us contracts for studies to be performed
by us unless we can convince them that the allegations that affected our Miami facility are not impacting our ability
to provide high quality clinical research in compliance with our client’s protocols and all regulatory requirements.
For example, in the first quarter of 2006, we believe that these issues did cause a material adverse affect on our
business for the three months ended March 31, 2006, For example, we have previously indicated that the late stage
business backlog has been negatively impacted by these allegations. Depending upon the impact of the forgoing and
previous issues on our business for future quarters, the foregoing allegations may still have a material adverse affect
on our future results of operations, including a reduction not only in our net earnings but a deviation from our
forecasted net earnings.

FDA actions or inspections may cause clients not to award future contracts to us or cancel existing con-
tracts, which may have a material and adverse affect on our future results of operations.

We may be subject to continuing inspections of our facilities in connection with studies we have conducted in
support of marketing applications or routine inspections of our offices/facilities that have yet to be ingpected by the
FDA. The FDA has significant authority over the conduct of clinical trials, and it has the power to take regulatory
and legal action in response to violations of clinical standards and subject protection in the form of civil and
criminal fines, injunctions, and other measures. If the FDA obtains an injunction such actions could result in
significant obstacles to future operations. Additionally, there is a risk that these FDA actions, if they result in
significant Form 483 observations or other measures, could cause clients to not award us future contracts or cancel
existing contracts. Depending upon the amount of revenue lost, the results may have a material and adverse affect on
our future results of operations, including a reduction not only in our net earnings but a deviation from our
forecasted net earnings.

The risks set forth immediately above as well as those in the balance of these risk factors may cause us
not to meet our future earnings guidance, which could cause our stock price to fall substantially.

We regularly provide earnings guidance in press releases and in public conference calls. This guidance is not
incorporated by reference into this report. The guidance is made in a good faith belief that we will achieve the range
of net revenue and earnings per share we forecast. In the second quarter of 2006, we significantly reduced our
guidance. That guidance was based upon a consideration of the relevant risks and a full review of our business units
as well as our anticipated outside legal and other expenses as of the date of the review. Depending upon future events
including legal and other associated fees associated with our outstanding litigation, including any additional legal
fees for our underwriters named in those lawsuits, and the SEC investigation as well as clients’ perceptions about
doing business with us, we may not achieve the forecasted results. In addition, we have recently implemented cost
reduction and process improvements in our early stage businesses. If we fail to reduce costs or meet our forecasted

17



results, our revisions of our guidance or our announcement of our earnings may cause our common stock price to
fall, which decline may be material. Our forecasts reflect numerous assumptions concerning our expected
performance, as well as other factors, which are beyond our control, and which might not turn out to be cormrect.
Although we believe that the assumpticns underlying our projections are reasonable, actual results could be
materially different. Our financial results are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including those identified
throughout these risk factors and elsewhere in this report.

Risks Related to Our Business

If we do not continue to generate a large number of new client contracts, or if our clients cancel or defer
contracts, our future profitability may be adversely affected.

Our late stage contracts generally extend over a period of one to two years, although some may be of longer
duration. However, all of our contracts are generally cancelable by our clients with little or no notice. A client may
cancel or delay existing contracts with us at its discretion and is likely to do so for a variety of reasons, including:

* manufacturing problems resulting in a shortage or unavailability of the drug we are testing;

= a decision by a client to de-emphasize or cancel the development of a drug;

» unexpected clinical trial results;

+ adverse participant reaction to a drug;

« an action by regulatory authorities (for example, in the United States, the FDA, and in Canada, the TPD);
» continued publicity relating to the Senate Finance Committee’s interest in our former Miami facility;

+ inadequate participant enrollment; and

+ any of the factors discussed in the other risk factors relating to issues regarding our discontinued operations.

All of these factors are beyond our control and we must continually replace our existing contracts with new
contracts to sustain our revenue. Qur inability to generate new contracts on a timely basis would have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. In addition, since a large portion of our
operating costs are relatively fixed, variations in the timing and progress of contracts can materially affect our
financial results. The loss or delay of a large project or contract or the loss or delay of multiple smaller contracts
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and resuits of operations. We have
experienced termination, cancellation and delay of contracts by clients from time to time in the past in the ordinary
course of our business.

Our backlog may not be indicative of future results.

" Our reported backlog of $352.7 million at December 31, 2006 is based on anticipated service revenue from
uncempleted projects with clients. Backlog is the amount of revenue that remains to be earned and recognized on
written awards, signed contracts and letters of intent. Contracts included in backlog are subject to termination by our
clients at any time. In the event that the client cancels a contract, we would be entitled to receive payment for all
services performed up to the cancetlation date and subsequent client authorized services related to the cancelltation
of the project. The duration of the projects included in our backlog range from less than three months to seven years.
We cannot assure that this backlog will be indicative of future results. A number of factors may affect backlog,
including:

* the variable size and duration of the projects, some of we which are performed over several years;
+ the loss or delay of projects;
= the change in the scope of work during the course of a project; and

* the cancellation of such contracts by our clients.
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Also, if clients delay projects, the projects will remain in backlog, but will not generate revenue at the rate
originally expected, Accordingly, historical indications of the relationship of backlog to revenues are not indicative
of future results.

We may bear financial risk if we under-price our contracts or overrun cost estimates.

We bear the financial risk if we initially under-price our contracts or otherwise overrun our cost estimates.
Such under-pricing or significant cost overruns could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of .
operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Our indebtedness may impact our financial condition and results of operations and the terms of our out-
standing indebtedness may limit our activities.

As of December 31, 2006, we had approximately $159.0 million of consolidated indebtedness. Subject to
applicable restrictions in our outstanding indebtedness, we may incur additional indebtedness in the future. Our
level of indebtedness will have several important effects on our future operations, including, without limitation:

+ we may be required to use a portion of our cash flow from operations for the payment of principal and
interest due on our outstanding indebtedness;

« our outstanding indebtedness and leverage will increase the impact of negative changes in general economic
and industry conditions, as well as competitive pressures; and

« the level of our outstanding indebtedness may affect our ability to obtain additional financing for working
capital, capital cxpenditures or general corporate purposes.

As of December 31, 2006, approximately $8.4 million of our outstanding indebtedness bears interest at a
floating rate tied to LIBOR and $1.0 million in ABR Loans tied to the prime rate. $143.8 million of our outstanding
indebtedness bears interest at a fixed rate of 2.25% per year. Accordingly, if interest rates increase, whether
generally or as the result of our lender’s requirement in connection with a proposed amendment, then the amount of
the interest payments on our floating rate indebtedness will also increase. General economic conditions, industry
cycles and financial, business and other factors affecting our operations, many of which are beyond our control, may
affect our future performance. As a result, these and other factors may affect our ability to make principal and
interest payments on our indebtedness. Our business might not continue to generate cash flow at or above current
levels. Moreover, if we are required to repatriate foreign earnings in order to pay our debt service, we may incur
additional income taxes at rates as high as 35% in some jurisdictions. This would have the impact of reducing our
earning per share and the amount of net cash we receive. If we cannot generate sufficient cash flow from operations
in the future to service our indebtedness, we may, among other things:

+ seck additional financing in the debt or equity markets;

* seek to refinance or restructure all or a portion of our indebtedness;
« sell setected assets; or

» reduce or delay planned capital expenditures.

These measures might not be sufficient to enable us to service our indebtedness. In addition, any financing,
refinancing or sale of assets might not be available on economically favorable terms, if at all.

Furthermore, our current credit facility, as amended and restated from time to time, referred to herein as our
Credit Facility, contains certain restrictive covenants which will affect, and in many respects significantly limit or
prohibit, among other things, our ability to:

+ incur indebtedness;
» create liens;
+ make investments or loans;

* engage in transactions with affiliates; .
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* pay dividends or make other distributions on, or redeem or repurchase, capital stock;
* issue capital stock;

* make capital expenditures;

* sell assets; and

* pursue mergers or acquisitions.

We may not have sufficient funds to pay the principal return upon conversion or to repurchase our out-
standing convertible senior notes under circumstances when we are required to do so or fund ongoing
operations without having to repatriate funds from foreign operations.

We have outstanding $143.8 million in aggregate principal amount of our 2.25% convertible senior notes due
2024. The notes are convertible at the option of the holders at any time. The initial conversion rate of the notes is
24.3424 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of the notes. This is equivalent to an initial conversion
price of approximately $41.08 per share of common stock. However, the notes provide for what is known as “net
share settlement” upon conversion. This means that upon conversion of the notes, we will be required to pay up to
$1.000 in cash, per $1,000 principal amount of notes, and, if applicable, issue a number of shares of our common
stock based upon the conversion value in excess of the principal amount. The conversion value of the notes is based
on the volume weighted average price of our common stock for the ten trading day period commencing the second
trading day after we receive notice of conversion. The conversion value must be paid as soon as practicable after it is
determined. In addition, holders of the notes may require us to purchase their notes for cash on August 15, 2009,
August 15, 2014 and August 15, 2019 and, under certain circumstances, in the event of a “fundamental change”, as
defined in the indenture under which the notes were issued. Further, if a fundamental change occurs prior to
August 15, 2009, we will be required to pay a “make-whole premium” in addition to the repurchase price which may
be payable at our election in cash or shares of our common stock, valued at 97% of the then current market price, ora
combination of both.

Finally, if we violate certain covenants contained in the notes, which includes a covenant to timely file certain
SEC reports, such a violation may be considered an event of default under the notes.

We may not have sufficient funds at any such time to make the required payment upon conversion or to
purchase the notes and we may not be able to raise sufficient funds to satisfy our obligations. Furthermore, the terms
of our existing Credit Facility contains, and the terms of other indebtedness that we may incur in the future may
contain, financial covenants or other provisions that could be violated by payment of the required amounts upon
conversion or the repurchase of the notes. OQur failure to pay the required amounts on conversion of any of the notes
when converted or to repurchase any of the notes when we are required to do so would result in an event of defgult
with respect to the notes, which could result in the entire outstanding principal balance and accrued but unpaid
interest on all of the notes being accelerated and could also result in an event of default under our other outstanding
indebtedness.

We experience seasonality of our revenues.

Our revenues are affected by such factors as the length of our sales cycles and the seasonality of the purchase of
our services. These factors historically have resulted in lower revenue in our early stage business in the first half of
the year, and lower revenue in our late stage business in the second half of the year. As a result, our results are
difficult to predict,

We have grown rapidly over the last few years, and our growth has placed, and is expected to continue to
place, significant demands on us.

We have grown rapidly over the last six years through acquisitions, and we continue to integrate these
businesses. Businesses that grow rapidly often have difficulty managing their growth. Our rapid growth has placed
and is expected to continue to place significant demands on our management, on our accounting, financial,
information and other systems and on our business. Although we have expanded our management, we need to
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continue recruiting and employing experienced employees capable of providing the necessary support. In addition,
we will need to continue to improve our financial, accounting, information and other systems in order to effectively
manage our growth. In particular, our late stage clinical trial management business faces stiff competition for
clinical trial monitors and other experienced personnel. Historically, when making acquisitions, we have targeted
operations that we believe can be operated as autonomous business units. As the result of the 2005/2006 problems in
our former Miami facility, the discontinuation of our Florida operations and our change in senior management, we
have reorganized and are now managing our operations on a more centralized basis from our Princeton, New Jersey
headquarters. This prior decentralization of our operations and systems may create difficulties for us in the future.
For example, each of our business segments use a different accounting software platform. Moreover, in 2006, we
began the expansion of our operations and facilities in Toronto and Quebec City. This recent expansion may cause
logistical problems for the planning and execution of our move to our new facility in 2007. Also, any delays with
this project could have an adverse affect on our business in Quebec City. In addition, we entered into a sale of this
Quebec City facility and subsequent leaseback of this facility. There may be a risk that the buyer of this facility may
not fund its remaining obligations, which would require us to sue such third party buyer to collect such amounts. We
cannot assure you that we will be able to manage our growth and integrate acquired businesses effectively or
successfully, or that our financial, accounting, information or other systems will be able to successfully accom-
modate our external and internal growth. Our failure to meet these challenges could materially impair our business.

A significant portion of our growth has come from acquisitions, and we may make more acquisitions in
the future as part of our continuing growth strategy. This growth strategy subjects us to numerous risks.

A very important aspect of our growth strategy has been pursuing strategic acquisitions of related businesses
that we believe can expand or complement our business. Since March 2000, we have substantially grown our
business through the completion of eleven acquisitions. We did not complete any acquisitions in 2005 or 2006 but as
part of our ordinary cause of business, we continue to explore future acquisitions although on a limited basis.
Acquisitions require significant capital resources and divert management’s atiention from our existing business.
Acquisitions also entail an inherent risk that we could become subject to contingent or other liabilities, including
liabilities arising from events or conduct pre-dating our acquisition of a business that were not known to us at the
time of acquisition. We may also incur significantly greater expenditures in integrating an acquired business than
we had anticipated at the time of its purchase. In addition, acquisitions may create unanticipated tax and accounting
problems, including the possibility that we might be required to write-off goodwill which we have paid for in
connection with an acquisition. A key element of our acquisition strategy has been to retain management of
acquired businesses to operate the acquired business for us. Many of these individuals maintain important contacts
with clients of the acquired business. Qur inability to retain these individuals could materially impair the value of an
acquired business. Qur failure to successfully identify and consummate future acquisitions or to manage and
integrate the acquisitions we make could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or
results of operations. We cannot assure you that:

» we will identify suitable acquisition candidates;
* we will receive the required consent under our outstanding Credit Facility;
* we can consummate acquisitions on acceptable terms;

» we can successfully integrate any acquired business into .our operations or successfully manage the
operations of any acquired business; or

» we will be able to retain an acquired company’s significant client relationships, goodwill and key personnel
or otherwise realize the intended benefits of any acquisition.

Our Credit Facility contains certain restrictive covenants that, absent the consent of the administrative agent on
behalf of the lenders under the Credit Facility, limit our ability to enter into acquisitions by setting limits on the
maximum aggregate amounts of cash we can pay in acquisition consideration in any fiscal year and the maximum
aggregate amount of all acquisition consideration paid during the term of the Credit Facility, as well as restricting
the terms of equity consideration paid in acquisitions.
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We are subject to changes in outsourcing trends and regulatory requirements affecting the branded phar-
maceutical, biotechnology, generic drug and medical device industries which could adversely affect our
operating resulis.

Economic factors and industry and regulatory trends that affect our primary clients, branded pharmaceutical,
biotechnology, generic drug and medical device companies, also affect our business and operating results. The
outsourcing of drug development activities grew substantially during the past decade and we benefited from this
trend. If these industries reduce the outsourcing of their clinical research and other drug development projects, our
operations will be adversely affected. A continuing negative trend could have an ongoing adverse effect on our
business, results of operations or financial condition. Numerous governmenis have undertaken efforts to control
growing healthcare costs through legislation, regulation and voluntary agreements with medical care providers and
pharmaceutical companies. Potential regulatory changes under consideration include the mandatory substitution of
generic drugs for innovator drugs, relaxation in the scope of regulatory requirements or the introduction of
simplified drug approval procedures. If future regulatory cost containment efforts limit the profits which can be
derived from new and generic drugs or if regulatory approval standards are relaxed, our clients may reduce the
business they outsource to us. We cannot predict the liketihood of any of these events.

If branded pharmaceutical, biotechnology, generic drug or medical device companies reduce their expen-
ditures, our future revenue and profitability may be reduced.

Our business and continued expansion depend on the research and development expenditures of our clients
which in turn is impacted by their profitability. If these companies want to reduce costs, they may proceed with
fewer clinical trials and other drug development. An economic downturn or other factors may cause our clients to
decrease their research and development expenditures which would adversely affect our future revenue and
profitability.

We might lose business opportunities as a result of healthcare reform.

Numerous governments have undertaken efforts to control growing healthcare costs through legislation,
regulation and voluntary agreements with healthcare providers and drug companies. Healthcare reform could
reduce demand for our services, and, as a result, our revenue. In the last several years, the U.S. Congress has

_reviewed several comprehensive health care reform proposals. The proposals are intended to expand healthcare
coverage for the uninsured and reduce the growth of total healthcare expenditures. The U.S. Congress has also
considered and may adopt legislation that could have the effect of putting downward pressure on the prices that
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies can charge for prescription drugs. Any such legislation could cause
our customers to spend less on research and development. If this were to occur, we would have fewer clinical trials
for our business, which could reduce our earnings. Similarly, pending future healthcare reform proposals outside the
United States could negatively impact our revenues from our international operations. In addition, the United States
Senate Finance Committee has twice requested documents and/or information from us and we have complied fully
with its requests. The public disclosure of the Committee’s requests has negatively affected our common stock
price. Although we have reported that these matters were deemed closed by the Finance Committee, future
legislation, if any, by the Finance Committee may have a material adverse effect on our future results of operations.

At any given time, one or a limited number of clients may account for a large percentage of our revenue,
which means that we could face a greater risk of loss of revenue if we lose a major client.

Historically, a small number of clients have generated a large percentage of our net revenue in any given
period. In each of 2006 and 2005, no client provided more than 10% of our direct revenue, but our 10 largest clients
provided approximately 40% of our direct revenue in 2006 and 42% of our direct revenue in 2005. We also rely on a
limited number of clients which generate a significant percentage of our direct revenue, Our late stage segment has
expertenced greater client concentration. For example, during 2006, direct revenue from one client in our late stage
segment represented 1 1% of our late stage segment direct revenue in 2006, and four of our late stage segment clients
provided approximately 36.5% of our late stage segment direct revenue in 2006 and 37.6% of our late stage segment
direct revenue in 2005. Companies that constitute our largest clients vary from year to year, and our direct revenue
from individual clients fluctuates each year! If we lose one or more major clients in the future or if one or more
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clients encounter financial difficulties, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be
materially and adversely affected.

We may incur significant taxes to repatriate funds.

On December 31, 2006, we had approximately $53.8 million of cash and marketable securities with
approximately $6.4 million held in the United States, approximately $13.5 million in Canada, and approximately
$33.9 million in all other foreign subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2006, we could repatriate approximately
$5.6 million from Canada tax-free. If a significant amount of cash is needed in the United States or we are not able to
negotiate revised covenant terms on the Credit Facility, we may need to repatriate funds from foreign subsidiaries in
a non-tax-efficient manner which would require us to pay additional U.S. taxes. '

QOur operating results can be expected to fluctuate fram period to period.

These fluctuations are usually due to the level of new business awards in a particular period and the timing of
the initiation, progress, or cancellation of significant projects. Even a short acceleration or delay in such projects
could have a material effect on our results in a given reporting period. Varying periodic results could adversely
affect the price of our common stock if investors react to our reporting operating results which are less favorable
than in a prior period or than those anticipated by investors or the financial community generally.

If we are required to write off goodwill or other intangible assets, our financial position and results of
operations would be adversely affected.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, we incurred a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of
$7.8 million relating to our Clinical Pharmacology Services, also referred to herein as CPS, operation which
historically received a significant portion of its business from our former Miami and Ft. Myers facilities. For the
year ended December 31, 2003, we incurred a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $20.3 million relating to our
Miami operations. These charges had a material adverse effect on our results of operations for the twelve month
periods ended December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005. We had goodwill and other intangible assets of
approximately $296.2 million as of December 31, 2006 and $307.0 million as of December 31, 2005, which
_ constituted approximately 53.3% of our total assets as of December 31, 2006 and 54% of our total assets as of
December 31, 2005. We periodically evaluate goodwill and other intangible assets for impairment. In addition, the
impairment of our Miami operations may adversely affect the goodwill of Clinical Pharmacology Services. Any
future determination requiring the write off of a significant portion of our goodwill or other intangible assets could
adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

Our business is subject to international economic, political and other risks that could negatively affect
our results of operations or financial position.

A significant portion of our revenue is derived from countries outside the United States. Further, we anticipate
that revenue from international operations may grow in the future. Accordingly, our business is subject to risks
associated with doing business interationally, including:

+ less stable political and economic environments and changes in a specific country’s or regions political or
economic conditions;

» potential negative consequences from changes in tax laws affecting our ability to repatriate profits;
« unfavorable labor regulations;

» greater difficulties in managing and staffing foreign operations;

+ currency flucmations;

 changes in trade policies, regulatory requirements and other barriers;

» civil unrest or other catastrophic events; and

« longer payment cycles of foreign customers and difficulty collecting receivables in foreign jurisdictions.
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These factors are beyond our control. The realization of any of these or other risks associated with operating in
foreign countries could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition,

Qur substantial non-United States operations expose us to currency risks.

Our financial statements are denominated in U.S. dollars, and accordingly, changes in the exchange rate
between the Canadian dollar, Euros or other foreign currencies and the U.S. dollar could materially affect the
translation of our subsidiaries’ financial results into U.S. dollars for purposes of reporting our consolidated financial
results. Due to the acquisition of PharmaNNet, which has locations worldwide, we are subject to exchange rate gains
and losses for multiple currencies. We also may be subject to foreign currency transaction risk when our service
contracts are denominated in a currency other than the currency in which we incur expenses or earn fees related to
such contracts. For example, our Canadian operations often perform services for a fixed price denominated in U.S.
dollars or in Euros while their payroll and other expenses are primarily Canadian dollar expenses. In 2005, we
adopted a formal foreign currency risk hedging policy in atiempt to mitigate this risk in the future. We initiated
hedging transactions in 2005 to seek to mitigate our foreign currency risks. In 2006, we incurred a pre-tax loss from
foreign currency transactions relating to our foreign operations for the year of approximately $3.3 million. We
expect to expand our hedging programs during 2007. We cannot assure you that we will be successful in limiting
risks associated with foreign currency transactions.

We could be adversely affected by tax law changes in Canada or in other jurisdictions,

Qur operations in Canada currently benefit from favorable corporate tax arrangements. We receive substantial
tax credits in Canada from both the Canadian federal and Quebec governments. Our Canadian operations employ a
large number of research and development employees which results in significant expenses related to these services.
Due to the nature of these services, the Canadian government subsidizes a portion of these expenses through tax
credits that result in a reduced effective tax rate as well as a significant deferred tax asset on our balance sheet.
However, there is no assurance that the credits will be fully realized. Further, any reduction in the availability or
amount of these tax credits could have a material adverse effect on our profits and cash flow from our Canadian
operations. Additionally, a large part of our net earnings is generated outside of the United States where tax rates are
generally lower. If applicable foreign tax rates, particularly in Canada and Switzerland, increase, it will reduce our
consolidated net earnings.

Governmental authorities may guestion our inter-company transfer pricing policies or change their laws
in a manner that could increase our effective tax or otherwise harm our business.

As a U.S. company doing business in international markets through subsidiaries, we are subject to foreign tax
and inter-company pricing laws, including those relating to the flow of funds between our company and our
subsidiaries. Regulators in the United States and in foreign markets closely monitor our corporate structure and how
we effect inter-company fund transfers. If regulators challenge our corporate structure, transfer pricing mechanisms
or inter-company transfers, our operations may be negatively impacted and our effective tax rate may increase. Tax
rates vary from country to country and if regulators determine that our profits in one jurisdiction may need to be
increased, we may not be able to fully utilize all foreign tax credits that are generated, which would increase our
effective tax rate. We cannot assure you that we will be in compliance with all applicable customs, exchange control
and transfer pricing laws despite our efforts to be aware of and to comply with such laws. Further, if these laws
change, we may need to adjust our operating procedure and our business could be adversely affected.

Because we are smaller than our largest competitors, we may lack the resources needed to compete
effectively.

There are a large number of drug development services companies ranging in size from one person firms to full
service, global drug development corperations. Intense competition may lead to price pressure or other conditions
that could adversely affect our business. Some of our competitors are substantially larger than us and have greater
financial, human and other resources. We may lack the operating and financial resources needed to compete
effectively.
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If we do not continue to develop new assay methods for our analytical applications, or if our current
assay methods are incorrect, we may be unable to compete with other entities offering bioanalytical labo-
ratory services.

We must continuously develop assay methods to test drug products in order to meet the needs of our clients and
attract new clients. In order to substantially increase the business of our bioanalytical laboratories, which provide
services for branded pharmaceutical, biotechnology and generic drug companies, we must be able to provide
bioanalytical solutions for our clients. This requires staying abreast of current regulatory requirements and
identifying assay methods and applications that will assist our clients in obtaining approval for their products.
If we are not successful in developing new methods and applications, we may lose our current clients, or not be able
to compete effectively for new clients. Moreover, if our current assay methods are incorrect, we may need to repeat
our tests, which will have an adverse affect on our operations.

We risk potential liability when conducting clinical trials, which could cost us large amounts of money.

Our clinical trials involve administering drugs to humans in order to determine the effects of the drugs. By
doing so, we are subject to the general risks of liability to these persons, which include those relating to:

+ adverse side effects and reactions resulting from administering these drugs to a clinical trial participant;

+ unintended consequences resulting from the procedures and/or changes in medical practice to which a study
participant may be subject as part of a clinical trial;

» improper administration of these drugs; or
« potential professional malpractice of our employees or contractors, including physicians.

Our contracts may not have adequate indemnification agreements requiring our clients to indemnify us in the
event of adverse consequences to our participants caused by their drugs or participation in their trials. We also carry
liability insurance bul there is no certainty as to the adequacy or the continued availability at rates acceptable to us,
of such liability insurance. We could also be held liable for other errors or omissions in connection with our services.
For example, we could be held liable for errors or omissions or breach of contract if our laboratories inaccurately
report or fail to report lab results. If we do not perform our services to contractual or regulatory standards, the
clinical trial process could be adversely affected. Additionally, if clinical trial services such as laboratory analysis
do not conform to contractual or regulatory standards, trial participants could be affected. If there is a damage claim
not covered by insurance, the indemnification agreement is not enforceable or broad enough, or our client is
insolvent, any resulting award against us could result in our experiencing large losses.

We face a risk of liability from our handling and disposal of medical wastes, which could cause us to
incur significant costs or otherwise adversely affect us.

Our clinical trial activities and laboratory services involve the controlled disposal of medical wastes, which are
considered hazardous materials. Although we may use reputable third parties to dispose of medical waste, we
cannot completely eliminate the risk of accidental contamination or injury from these materials. If this occurs, we
could be held liable for clean-up costs, damages, face significant fines, and face the temporary or permanent
shutdown of our operations.

Failure to comply with applicable governmental regulations could harm our operating results and
reputation.

We may be subject to regulatory action, which in some jurisdictions includes criminal sanctions, if we fail to
comply with applicable laws and regulations. Failure to comply can also result in the termination of ongoing
research and disqualification of data collected during the clinical trials. This could harm our reputation, our
prospects for future work and our operating results. A finding by the FDA that we are not in compliance with GLP
stundards for our laboratories, current GMP standards, and/or GCP standards for our clinical facilities could
materially and adversely affect us. Similarly, a finding by the TPD that we are not in compliance with Canadian
Good Manufacturing Practices, or Canadian GMP, standards, and/or Canadian Good Clinical Practices, or
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Canadian GCPs, and/or other legislative requirements for clinical trials in Canada, could materially and adversely
affect us. In addition to the above United States and Canadian laws and regulations, we must comply with the laws
of all countries where we do business, including laws governing clinical trials in the jurisdiction where the trials are
performed. Failure to comply with applicable requirements could subject us to regulatory risk, liability and
potential costs associated with redoing the trials which could damage our reputation and adversely affect our
operating results.

If we lose the services of our key personnel or are unable to attract qualified staff, our business could be
adversely affected.

Our success is substantially dependent upon the performance, contributions and expertise of our senior
management team, including, among others, Mr. Jeffrey P. McMullen, our chief executive officer, the executive
committee comprised of 18 members and certain key officers of our subsidiaries. In addition, some members of our
senior management team play a very significant role in the generation of new business and retention of existing
clients, We also depend on our ability to attract and retain qualified management, professional and operating staft.
Our loss of the services of any of the members of senior management, or any other key executive, or our inability to
continue to attract and retain qualified personnel, could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our business depends on the continued effectiveness and availability of our information technology infra-
structure, and failures of this infrastructure could harm our operations.

To remain competitive in our industry, we must employ information technologies that capture, manage, and
analyze the large streams of data generated during our clinical trials in compliance with applicable regulatory
requirements. In addition, because we provide services on a global basis, we rely extensively on our technology to
allow the concurrent conduct of studies and work sharing around the world. As with all information technology, our
system is vulnerable to potential damage or interruptions from fires, blackouts, telecommunications failures, and
other unexpected events, as well as to break-ins, sabotage, or intentional acts of vandalism. Given the exiensive
reliance of our business on this technology, any substantial disruption or resulting loss of data that is not avoided or
corrected by our backup measures could harm our business and operations.

We are self-insured in the United States related 1o medical insurance which exposes us to losses.

We are self-insured for our U.S. employee medical plan. While our medical costs in recent years have
generally increased at the same level as the regional average, the mix and age of our workforce could result in higher
than anticipated medical claims, resulting in an increase in our costs beyond what we have experienced. We do have
stop loss coverage in place for catastrophic events, but the aggregate impact may have an effect on profitability.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

We may issue a substantial amount of our common stock in the future which could cause dilution to new
investors and otherwise adversely affect our stock price.

An element of our growth strategy is to make acquisitions. As part of our acquisition strategy, we may issue
additional shares of common stock as consideration for such acquisitions. These issuances could be significant. To
the extent that we make acquisitions and issue our shares of common stock as consideration, your equity interest in
us will be diluted. Any such issuance will also increase the number of outstanding shares of common stock that will
be eligible for sale in the future. Persons receiving shares of our common stock in connection with these acquisitions
may be likely to sell off their common stock rather than hold their shares for investment, which may impact the price
of our common stock. In addition, the potential issuance of additional shares in connection with anticipated
acquisitions could lessen demand for our common stock and result in a lower price than might otherwise be
obtained. We plan to issue common stock, for compensation purposes and in connection with strategic transactions
or for other purposes.
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Our stock price can be extremely volatile, and your investment could suffer a decline in value.

The trading price of our common stock has been, and is likely to be, volatile and could be subject to wide
fluctuations in price in response to various factors, many of which are beyond our control, including:

» actual or anticipated variations in quarterly operating results, including changes in our guidance as to
forecasted earnings;

« changes in financial estimates by securities analysts,

« media articles such as the Bloomberg Reports;

+ loss of a major client or contract,

» new service offerings introduced or announced by our competitors;

= changes in market valuations of 6ther similar companies;

= our announcement of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments;
« additions or departures of key personnel; and

* sales of our common stock, including short sales.

As a result, investors could lose all or pant of their investment. In addition, the stock market in general
experiences extreme price and volume fluctuations that are often unrelated and disproportionate to the operating
performance of companies.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law may make an acquisition of
us, which may be beneficial to our stockholders, more difficult, which could depress our stock price.

We are incorporated in Delaware. Certain anti-takeover provisions of Delaware law and our charter documents
currently in effect may make a change in control of our company more difficult, even if a change in control would be
beneficial to the stockholders. Qur charter documents provide that our Board of Directors may issue, without a vote
of our stockholders, one or more series of preferred stock that has more than one vote per share. This could permit
our Board of Directors to issue preferred stock to investors who support our management and give effective control
of our business to our management. Additionally, issuance of preferred stock could block an acquisition resulting in
both a drop in the price of our common stock and a decline in interest in the stock, which could make it more
difficult for stockholders to sell their shares, This could cause the market price of our commen stock to drop
significantly, even if our business is performing well. Our bylaws also limit who may call a special meeting of
stockholders and establish advance notice requirements for nomination for election to the Board of Directors or for
proposing matters that can be acted upon at stockholder meetings. Delaware law also prohibits corporations from
engaging in a business combination with any holders of 15% or more of their capital stock until the holder has heid
the stock for three years unless, among other possibilities, the Board of Directors approves the transaction. Our
Board of Directors may use these provisions to prevent changes in the management and control of our company.
Also, under applicable Delaware law, our Board of Directors may adopt additional anti-takeover measures in the
future. In addition, provisions of certain contracts, such as employment agreements with our executive officers, may
have an anti-takeover effect,

In December 2003, cur Board of Directors adopted a Shareholder Rights Pian, which has the effect of deterring
hostile takeovers. This plan also makes it more difficult to replace or remove our current management team in the
event our stockholders believe this would be in the best interest of our company and our stockholders.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
Not applicable.
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Item 2. Properties.

We own properties in Miami, Florida and Toronto, Canada. We lease the remainder of our facilities under long-
term written leases that generally provide for base monthly rents with annual escalation clauses based upon fixed
amounts or cost of living increases. These increases are calculated using various methods on a lease by lease basis.
All of our operating facilities are in good condition and are adequate for our present purposes. We believe the

‘ following table lists our material properties:

Approximate Type Base monthly
| Location square footage of holding Expiration rent
Amersfoort, Netherlands . . . ........ 12,959 Leased August 2012 $ 19,670
Aventura, FL ................... 4,998 Leased June 2007 $ 10,414
Bangalore, India. .. .............. 5,768 Leased November 2007 $ 7,926
Barcelona, Spain ................ 4,200 Leased August 2008 $ 274
Beijing, China . ................. N/A Leased August 2007 $ 2937
Blue Bel, PA. ... .. ... ........ 44,708 Leased July 2014 $ 99,417
Boston (Framingham), MA .. ... .... 6,098 Leased October 2010 $ 12,450
Buenos Aires, Argentina. .. ........ 4,736 Leased October 2008 $ 8,180
Charlotte, NC. . ....... ... .. ... 17,604 Leased June 2010 $ 22,885
Chicago. (Deerfield), IL ........... 12,112 Leased December 2012 $ 16,149
Frankfurt, Germany .............. 15,983 Leased June 2012 $ 31,737
High Wycombe, UK.............. 247,191 Leased August 2012 $143,292
Kennett Square, PA .............. 8,000 Leased September 2009 § 16,251
Kiev, Ukraine. .. . ............... 4973 Leased February 2009 $ 29,390
London, Ontario, Canada . ......... 7,771 Leased June 2011 $ 6517
Madrid. Spain ................ .. 8,128 Leased September 2011 $ 30803
Miami, FL ... .................. Land Asset held for sale N/A N/A
Miami, FL ..................... 15,000 Owned N/A N/A
Milan, taly . ................... 387 Leased May 2007 $ 9.924
Montreal, Canada. . . ............. 57,596 Leased March 2011 $ 90,519
Morrisville, NC . ................ 12,584 Leased November 2008 $ 17,827
Moscow, Russia . .. .............. 4,466 Leased Month-to-Month $ 30,043
Mumbai, India . . ... ............. 13,265 Leased August 2008 $ 15,759
Munich, Germany. . .............. 1,717 Leased December 2007 $ 3.009
Philadelphia (North Wales), PA. . . . .. 8,000 Leased Month to Month $ 4300
Paris, France ................... 6,384 Leased July 2011 $ 41,487
Princeton, NJ . . .. ... ... ........ 121,990 Leased June 2011 $198,234
Princeton, NJ . . ................. 33,148 Leased March 2016 $102.525
Quebec City, Canada'’. . ... ... .. .. 79529 Leased 2007 $ 94.647
Research Triangle Park (Cary), NC. .. 19,255 Leased November 2008 $ 40,115
San Diego, CA. . ... ............. 12,055 Leased July 2012 $ 26,159
Seoul, South Korea. .............. 126 Leased July 2007 $ 2332
Singapore. ... ... ..ol 3,072 Leased April 2008 $ 11,932
St Petersburg, Russia .. ........... 6,197 Leased December 2008 $ 26,646
Stockholm, Sweden . ............. 5,174 Leased January 2008 $ 10,742
Sydney, Australia . . .............. 11,840 Leased November 2008 $ 30,979
Toronto, Canada. ... ............. 39,961 Leased April 2016 $ 44,290
Toronto, Canada. . ............... 18,390 Owned N/A N/A
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Approximate Type Base monthly
Location square foolage of holding Expiration rent
Trois-Rivieres, Canada . ........... 1,300 Leased March 2007 $ 1514
Warsaw, Poland ................. 2,938 Leased November 2007 $ 14,506
Washington DC .. ............... 8,323 Leased November 2011 $ 34,651
Wilmington, DE. ... ............. 5.356 Leased July 2011 $ 8,815

Zurich (Zumikon), Switzerland . . . . .. 6,292 Leased September 2010 $ 16,192

(1) Does not include the base monthly rent for Anapharm’s new building and headquarters expected to be
completed in March 2007,

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

On March 12, 2007, we received notice that the SEC staff has secured a formal order of private investigation.
The formal order relates to revenue recognition, earnings, company operations and related party transactions. We
have been cooperating fully with the SEC. In late December 2005, we received an informal request from the SEC
for documents relating to the duties, qualifications, compensation, and reimbursement of former officers and
employees. This request also asked for a copy of the report to Senator Grassley by our independent counsel. In a
second request, sent March 28, 2006, the SEC asked for information regarding related parties and transactions,
duties and compensation of various employees, internal controls, revenue recognition and other accounting policies
and procedures, and selected regulatory filings. We have voluntarily complied with these requests and have
produced and will continue to produce documents to the SEC.

Beginning in late December 2005, a number of class action lawsuits have been filed in the United States
District Court for the Southern District of Florida and the United States District Court for the District of New lersey
alleging that PDGI and certain of its current and former officers and directors violated federal securities laws, such
actions are collectively referred to herein as the Federal Securities Actions. We were served notice of these lawsuits
in early January 2006. On June 21, 2006, the Judicial Panel for Multidistrict Litigation transferred all of the Federal
Securities Actions for pre-trial proceedings in the District of New Jersey where they were later consolidated.

On November 1, 2006, Arkansas Teachers” Retirement System, the lead plaintiff in the Federal Securities
Action, filed a consolidated amended class action complaint, also referred to herein as the amended complaint. The
amended complaint alleges that we and several of our current and former officers and directors violated Sections 11,
12 (a)(2) and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, as well as Sections 10(b} and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, The amended complaint claims violations of these federal securities laws through misstatements or omissions
regarding: the maximum occupancy at our Miami facility; the Miami facility’s purportedly dangerous and unsafe
structure; our clinical practices; purported conflicts of interests involving Independent Review Boards used by us;
related-party transactions; and some former executives’ qualifications. The parties attended a voluntary mediation
on March 8, 2007, but we did not reach an agreement with the plaintiffs at that meeting. We intend to continue
settlement discussions with the plaintiffs, but we cannot assure you that we will be able to resolve the Federal
Securities Action in mediation. As the outcome of this action is difficult to predict, significant changes in our
estimated exposures could occur.

Beginning in late December 2003, a total of five stockholder derivative complaints were filed in the United
States District Court for the Southern District of Florida and the United States Court for the District of New Jersey
against certain of our current and former officers and directors, as well as PDGI (as a nominal defendant) for alleged
violations of state and federal law, including breach of fiduciary duty, abuse of control, gross mismanagement,
waste of corporate assets, unjust enrichment, disgorgement under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and violation of
Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, such actions are referred’to herein as the Federal Derivative
Actions. We were served notice of these lawsuits in early January 2006. The Federal Derivative Actions allege that
the individual defendants misrepresented and engaged in a conspiracy to misrepresent our business condition,
prospects and financial results, failed to disclose our allegedly improper and reckless business practices, such as
mismanagement of clinical trials and mistreatment of research participants, used our artificially inflated stock to
acquire other companies and complete public offerings and engaged in illegal insider trading. Beginning in late
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January 2006, two substaatially similar derivative actions were filed in Florida Circuit Court, also referred to herein
as the Florida Circuit Court Derivative Action. On June 21, 2006, the Judicial Panel for Multidistrict Litigation
transferred the Federal Derivative Actions pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1407 for pre-trial proceedings in the District of
New Jersey where they were later consolidated, such consolidated action is referred to herein as the Federal
Derivative Action. A consolidated amended complaint in the Federal Derivative Action was filed on November 13,
2006. On January 11, 2007, Defendants filed a motion to dismiss the amended complaint in the Federal Derivative
Action. We cannot assure you that the Defendant’s motion to dismiss will be successful.

Following the decision of the Judicial Panel for Multidistrict Litigation and the decision to consolidate all of
the Federal Derivative Actions in the District of New Jersey, the Florida Circuit Court entered an order staying those
cases pending final resolution of the Federal Derivative Action. The individuals named as defendants in these
derivative actions intend to vigorously defend against the lawsuits. As the outcome of these matters is difficult to
predict, significant changes in our estimated exposures could occur.

On March 21, 2006, another law firm made a demand for documents pursuant to Section 220 of the Delaware
Code on behalf of an alleged shareholder, also referred to herein as the Demand. The Demand was purportedly
made to investigate potential wrongdoing, mismanagement or breaches of fiduciary duties by our Board of
Directors in connection with clinical trials and financial reporting since January 1, 2003 and take action on behalf of
us in the event that the board did not discharge its fiduciary duties. Additionally, the Demand was purportedly
brought to assess the impartiality of the Board of Directors to consider a demand to take actton on behalf of us, The
Demand sought certain meeting minutes of the Board of Directors and documents concerning our Board of
Directors, financial statements, financial data reperting procedures and controls, auditing procedures and controls,
recruitment and retention of clinical trial participants, clinical trials in Florida and Montreal, the Bloomberg
Magazine articles, any internal investigation relating to the foregoing. Additionally, the Demand requested -all
documents requested by or provided to the United States Senate Finance Committee or United States Food and Drug
Administration, or United States Department of Justice. On May 12, 2006, we agreed to provide documents in
response to the demand subject to an agreement narrowing the scope of the requests, ensuring the confidentiality of
the documents, and limiting use of the documents to the purposes articulated in the Demand, No such agreements
have been finalized. Legal fees incurred in connection with the Demand could have a material adverse effect on
future profitability. The Demand may also result in additional derivative litigation.

On May 17, 2006, the Unsafe Structures Board of Miami-Dade County, referred to herein as the USB, failed to
issue an extension for reviewing the plans submitted by us related to our planned structural improvements to the
Miami facility. On June 19, 2006, we filed both a petition to reverse the USB’s demolition order and an emergency
motion to stay the order during the pendency of the appellate proceedings. Under the USB’s order, we had 60 days
from May 17, 2006 in which we needed to both demolish and clean up the debris of its Miami facility. On June 28,
2006, we learned that the Circuit Court for the 11th Judicial Circuit for Miami-Dade County Florida, Appellate
Division granted our motion to stay the demolition order for our Miami facility pending the outcome of the appellate
proceedings. In June 2006, we filed a motion and brief with the Circuit Court and a response brief was subsequently
filed by Miami-Dade County. Before the appeal could be resolved, we entered into a settlement with the USB,
pursuant to which we agreed to use our reasonable best efforts 10 demolish the facility within ninety days of
receiving a permit from the USB to do so. The appeal was dismissed on September 11, 2006. As of the date of this
report, the building has been demolished, and we are currently cleaning up the site within the agreed upon
timeframe.

Our attempts to resolve these legal proceedings involve a significant amount of attention from our manage-
ment, additional cost and uncertainty, and these legal proceedings may result in material damage or penalty awards
or settlements, and may have a materiat and adverse affect on our future results of operations, including a reduction
not only in our net earnings but a deviation from our forecasted net earnings.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

No matters were submitted to a vote for our security holders during the fourth quarter of the year ended
December 31, 2006.
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PART 11

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities.

Market Information

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the range of quarterly high and low sales prices for our
common stock. Qur stock trades on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol “PDGL”

High  Low
Fiscal year ending December 31, 2005
FAFSE QUATTEE .« o ottt et e e e e et e e et e e e $43.71 83350
Second QUANET . . .. ..ottt et e e 39.28 27.86
Third QUAKTEE . . . . v v et e et e et e e e e e e e e e L. 4573 3741
Fourth QUAarter . .. ..o ottt i i e e e 45.29 12.38
Fiscal vear ending December 31, 2006
First QUarer . . . .. ...ttt e $26.79 $17.22,
Second QUAMET . . . . ..o 24 .88 13.85
Third QUATET & . oo vt e et et e e et et e s 19.93 14.22
Fourth QUAIE . ..ottt e e e e et e 23.21 17.76
Holders

As of March 5, 2007, there were approximately 64 registered holders of record of our common stock. We
believe that there are approximately 4,250 beneficial owners of our common stock.
Dividend Policy

Since we became a public company, we have not paid cash dividends on our common stock. We currently do
not anticipate declaring a dividend as we intend to retain future earnings in order to finance the growth and
development of our business. Our Credit Facility contains certain covenants that restrict, or may have the effect of
restricting, our payment of dividends.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table provides information about our Equity Compensation Plans as of December 31, 2006.

Number of Securities to be Number of Securities
Issued Upon Exercise of Weighted Average Price of Remaining Available for

Plan Category OQutstanding Options Qutstanding Stock Options Future Issuance
1999 Stock Plan approved by

security holders. .. .......... 656,977 $17.67 696,747
Employee Stock Purchase Plan

approved by security holders . . . 77,837 $12.89 218,940
Stock Option Agreements not by

approved security holders ... .. 377,447 $39.62 —

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

During the year ended December 31, 2006, we did not sell any securities which were not covered by an
effective registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933.
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Comparative Stock Performance Graph

The following Performance Graph and related information shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be
“filed” with the Securities and Exchange Commission, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into
any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or Securities Exchange Act of 1934, each as amended, except to the
extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing.

Comparison of Cumulative Five Year Total Return

__________.
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Assumes $100 invested on January 1, 2002 and assumes dividends reinvested through December 31, 2006.

Base

Period Years Ending
Company/Index Dec 01 Dec 62 Dec 03 Dec 04 Dec (5 Dec 06
PharmaNet Development Group, Inc. $100 $63.32 512956  $289.02 S117.15  $161.49
Nasdaq Composite Index $100 $69.13  $103.36  $11249 311488 $126.22
Nasdaq Health Services $100  $86.15 $131.73  $166.02  $22827  §227.97
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth selecied consolidated financial data that is qualified in its entirety by and should
be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” and our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this report. The
financial data for each of the five years in the period ended December 31, 2006, have been derived from our audited
consolidated financial statements for such periods as audited by Grant Thornton LLP. Effective as of the close of
business on May 19, 2004, we effected a three-for-two stock split that we paid in the form of a 50% stock dividend.
All histarical earnings per share numbers have been retroactively adjusted to reflect this stock splir.

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
{In thousands, except per share data)

Net Revenue

DIrect reVenUS . . . . oo ottt e e r e $ 42800 § 71610 § 101,229 § 269,622 § 302384
Reimbursed out-of-pockets . . .. ... ... .o oL — — § 10665 § 91,884 § 104,571
Toml NELMEVENUE . . . .. . v i $ 42800 3 71610 § 111,894 § 361506 $ 406955
Costs and expenses
DIreCt COSIS. . o . vttt e e e e e e $ 25858 § 41,791 % 56250 § 155900 § 181,556
Reimbursable out-of-pocket expenses . . . ....... ... — — % loses 5 91,884 § 104,571
Selling, general and administrative expenses . . . .. ... $ 11,28 % 20364 $ 29949 § 83878 § 99949
Impairment of goodwill . . .. ... ......... ... .. — — — — 8 7873
Total costs and expenses . ... ................. $ 37043 % 62155 $§ 96864 5 331662 § 393949
Earnings from continuing operations .. ........... $ 5657 % 9455 % 15030 § 2084 § 13,006
Other income (expense)}
Interest iNCOME . . . . ...\ttt i in e $ 215 % 271§ 1346 8 891 § 1,636
[nterestexpensc . . .. ... .. .., 5 27 % (416) % (2,691 5§ (12017 $ (8,115)
Foreign exchange transaction loss, net .. .......... s (123) % (1,642) % (1.98%) § (849) § (3.342)
Total other income (€Xpense) . ... ..o v .. $ (179) % (1,787) % (3,33) $ (11975 3 (9.821)
Eamings from continuing operations before income

BBXES. - o v v et e e e e $ 5478 § 7.668 § 1169 § 17869 § 3,185
Income tax expense (benefity . ... ... ........ ... $ 509 % 139 3 368 § 154 §  (3,558)
Earnings from continuing operations before minority

interest in joint venture. . ... .......... ... ... L3 4969 % 7529 % 11328 3 17,715 § 6,743
Minority interest in joint venture . . . .. ... ... ... .. — — 5 326§ 552§ 691
Net earnings from continuing operations . . . ........ ) 4969 § 7526 % 14002 $ 17063 3% 6,052
Eamings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of

Y S $ 2,806 § 4,053 % 8,657 $§ (12384) § (42077
Neteamnings (10ss} . . ... ..o i i i nine e $ 7868 % 11,582 % 19,659 & 4779 § (36,025)
Basic carnings {loss) per share:
Continuing operations . . ... ......... ... . .. 3 047 § 064 § 073 % 097 3§ 0.33
Discontinued operations. . . ... ... ... ... 3 027 § 034 § 058 3§ 070 % (2.3
Netearnings (10SS} . . . ..o vt i $ 074 % 099 % 131 % 027 % (1.98)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Cominuing operations . . . .. ... ...t $ 044 & 060 § 070 3§ 094 § 0.33
Discontinued operations. . . . ... ... ... ... $ 026 § 032 § 055 % ©68) % (2.28)
Netearmings (I0sS} . . .. oo vv i i e e $ 070 §$ 092 § 125 % 026 $ (1.95)
Shares used in computing earnings (loss) per share:
Basic. . ... .. ... 10,565,277 11,751,885 15,047,245 17,701,810 18,221,418
Diluted. . .. ... ... 11,230,839 12,534,537 15,753,815 18,356.030 18,447 048

As of December 31,

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

Consolidated balance sheet data'";

Cash and cash equivalents . . ... ............... $ 8715 % 59932 § 34644 $ 38835 § 53,754
Accounts receivable, net ... ... .. ... oo $ 12326 % 19962 § 73434 § 91446 $ 109,188
Working capital . .. . ... . L o e $ 12,784 % 70,646 § 51446 $ 35209 § 60836
Total assels . . . ... ... ... ... $ 71278 0§ 134927 § 487327 5§ 515750 % 548824
Long term debt, including current portion . . . ... .. .. h 4,147 % 5651 % 157517 %8 168223 § 159,002
Stockholders” equity . . . ........ ... ... . ..... $ 60,132 § 149943 & 172415 § 282282 § 258079

(1) Excludes assets and liabilities from discontineed operations.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The foliowing discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with the
financial statements and related notes included in this report. This discussion contains forward-looking statements
that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in those forward-
looking statements as a resuit of certain factors, including, but not limited to, those contained in the discussion on
forward-looking statements and those contained in “Risk Factors” contained in Item 1A of this report. We disclaim
any intention or obligation to publicly announce the results of any revisions to_any of the forward-looking
statements contained herein to reflect future events or developments,

Overview

We report our results of operations in two segments — early stage and late stage clinical development. Qur
early stage segment consists primarily of our Phase I clinical trial services and our bioanalytical laboratories. Our
late stage segment consists primarily of Phase Il through Phase IV services including consulting services. Prior to
2003, we grew significantly through organic growth and acquisitions. In 2005 and 2006, we did not complete any
acquisitions. During 2006, under the direction of a new management team, we discontinued operations at our Miami
and Ft. Myers facilities and focused our efforts on addressing issues that impacted us during 2005 as described
throughout this report. Due to our decision to discontinue operations in Florida, all financial results in this report
reflect our continuing operations only, unless otherwise stated. Certain prior period amounts have been revised as a
result of discontinued operations.

Our net revenue consists primarily of fees eamed for services performed under contracts with branded
pharmaceutical, biotechnology and generic drug company clients. Typically, a portion of our contract fee is due
upon signing of the contract, and the majority of the contract fee is generally paid in installments upon the
achievement of certain agreed upon performance milestones. Because PharmaNet’s contracts are generally larger
and longer in duration, it typically receives larger advance payments relative to our early stage contracts. Qur
contracts are generally terminable immediately or after a specified period following notice by the client. These
contracts usually require payment to us of expenses to wind-down a study, fees earned to date, and in some cases a
termination fee. Prior to the acquisition of PharmaNet, since most of our contracts were early stage trials which are
of short duration, we did not experience any significant terminations of contracts in progress. PharmaNet, whose
trials are primarily late stage, typically performs services under long-term contracts which are subject to a greater
risk of delay or cancellation.

In our long-term late stage contracts we have historically reported net revenue, which amount includes any
reimbursed out-of-pocket expenses consisting of travel and other expenses. As a result of our acquisition of
PharmaNet, beginning in 2005 we began reporting revenue line items consisting of direct revenue and reimbursed
out-of-pockets, together with an expense line item for reimbursable out-of-pocket expenses which will consist of
travel and other expenses for which we are reimbursed by our clients.

As described separately above, in 2005 we began recording our recurring operating expenses in three primary
categories: (1) direct costs, (2) selling, general and administrative expenses and (3) reimbursable out-of-pocket
expenses, Direct costs consist primarily of participant fees and associated expenses, direct labor and employee
benefits, facility costs, depreciation associated with facilities and equipment used in conducting trials, and other
costs and materials directly related to contracts. Direct costs as a percentage of net revenue vary from period to
period, due to the varying mix of contracts and services performed and to the percentage of revenue arising from our
Canadian operations, which generally have higher direct costs. Selling, general and administrative costs consist
primarily of administrative payroll, except for PharmaNet, and overhead, advertising and public relations expense,
legal and accounting expense, travel, depreciation and amortization related to amortizable intangibles. PharmaNet
includes all payroll related costs as part of direct costs, and all office costs and depreciation as part of selling,
general and administrative costs.

The gross profit margins on our contracts vary depending upon the nature of the services we perform for our
clients. Gross profit margins for our early stage clinical development trials and bicanalytical services generally tend
to be higher than those for our late stage trials, management and other services that we perform. Within our early
stage business, our gross profit margins are generally higher for trials which involve a larger number of participants,
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a longer period of study time and/or the performance of more tests. Gross profit margins for our services to branded
drug clients generally tend to be higher than those for generic drug clients. In addition, our gross profit margins will
vary based upon our mix of domestic and international business. Gross profit margins are calculated by dividing the
gross profit excluding reimbursed out-of-pocket expenses by direct revenue,

Excluding the tax impact of discontinued operations which is presented separately, our effective tax rate was a
benefit of 111.7% in 2006, compared (o a tax expense of 0.9% in 2005 and 3.2% in 2004. In 2006 our tax rate
dropped significantly due to a U.S. loss from continuing operations for which benefits are recognized to the extent
carryback claims are available, a favorable income tax rate change in Canada and a greater proportion of earnings
generated from outside of the United States in jurisdictions with tax rates below that of the United States than in
previous years. These foreign earnings came primarily from our early stage business in Canada and our late stage
business in Europe. Qur future effective tax rate will be dependent on the amount of the tax credits we receive in
connection with our Canadian operations, our income overseas where our late stage business operates, statutory tax
rates in those overseas jurisdictions and the relative contribution of our domestic and foreign operations to our
consolidated pre-tax income.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and revenues and expenses during the period. Future
events and their effects cannot be determined with absolute certainty; therefore, the determination of estimates
requires the exercise of an element of judgment. Actual results inevitably will likely differ from those estimates, and
such differences may be material to our financial statements. Management continually evaluates its estimates and
assumptions, which are based on historical experience and other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the
circumstances. These estimates and our actual results are subject to the “Risk Factors™ contained at the end of this
section.

Management believes that the following may involve a higher degree of judgment or complexity:

Revenue and Cost Recognition. The majority of our revenues are recorded from contracts on a proportional
performance basis. To measure performance on a given date, we compare effort expended through that date to
estimated total effort to complete the contract. Historically, a majority of our direct revenue have been eamed under
contracts which range in duration from a few months to 2.5 years, but can extend in duration up to seven years or
longer. Service contracts generally take the form of fee-for-service or fixed-price arrangements. In the case of
fee-for-service contracts, revenue is recognized as services are performed, based upon, for example, hours worked
or samples tested, For long-term fixed-price service contracts, revenue is recognized as services are performed, with
performance generally assessed using output measures, such as units-of-work performed to date as compared to the
total units-of-work contracted. Changes in the scope of work generally result in a renegotiation of contract pricing
terms. Renegotiated amounts are not included in net revenues until earned and realization is assured. Estimates of
costs to complete are made to provide, where appropriate, for losses expected on contracts. Costs are not deferred in
anticipation of contracts being awarded, but instead are expensed as incurred. In some cases, a portion of the
contract fee is paid at the time the trial is initiated. These advances are deferred and recognized as revenue as
services are performed or products are delivered, as discussed above. Additional payments may be made based upon
the achievement of performance-based milestones over the contract duration. Most contracts are terminable by the
client either immediately or upon notice. These contracts typically require payment to us of expenses to wind down
the study, fees carned to date and, in some cases, a termination fee or a payment (o us of some portion of the fees or
profits that could have been earned by us under the contract if it had not been termmated carly. Termination fees are
included in net revenues when realization is assured.

Direct costs include all direct costs related to contract performance and, in the case of PharmaNet, all payroll
related costs. Selling, general and administrative costs are charged to expense as they are incurred. Changes in job
performance and estimated profitability may result in revisions to costs and income and are recognized in the period
in which the revisions are determined. Due to the inherent uncertainties in estimating costs, it is possible that the
estimates used will change in the near term and that the change could be material. The uncertainties which can affect
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our estirnates include changes in scope of contracts and unforeseen costs which cannot be bilted to the client such as
increased costs associated with recruiting special populations for studies. In the past, our estimates of these
uncertainties have not materially affected our revenue or cost recognition, and we do not anticipate making material
changes to our method of estimating casts in the future. As described in the overview above, included in revenue and
direct costs are pass through costs for which we are reimbursed by our clients in accordance with EITF 01-14 we
provide a separate line item for reimbursed out-of-pockets under revenue and a separate line item for reimbursable
out-of-pocket expenses under direct costs.

Included in accounts receivable are unbilled amounts, which represent revenue recognized in excess of
amounts billed.

Collectibility of Accounts Receivable. Our allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s
estimates of the creditworthiness of our clients, analysis of delinquent accounts, the payment histories of the
accounts and management’s judgment with respect to current economic conditions. Management believes the
allowances are sufficient to respond to normal business conditions. Management reviews our accounts receivable
aging on a regular basis for past due accounts. Any uncollectible amounts are written off against the allowance.
Management maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts based on historic collectibility and specific identifi-
cation of potential problem accounts. Should business conditions deteriorate or any major client default on its
obligations to us, this allowance may need to be significantly increased, which would have a negative impact upon
our operations.

As a result of discontinued operations, in 2006 we have recorded adjustments directly related to discontinued
operations of approximately $0.7 million as a result of non-payment of accounts receivable. For continuing
operations we have historically not made any material adjustments as a result of the non-payment of accounts
receivable. ’

Income Taxes. Significant management judgment is required in developing our provision for income taxes,
including the determination of foreign tax liabilities, deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowances
that might be required against the deferred tax assets. On a quarterly basis, we evaluate our ability to realize our
deferred tax assets and adjust the amount of our valuation allowance, if necessary. We now maintain offices in 19
countries. We are subject to audit in each of the taxing jurisdictions in which we operate. Due to the complex issues
involved, any claims can require an extended period to resolve. In management’s opinion, adeguate provisions for
income taxes have been made.

Our balance sheet reflects certain valuation allowances related to certain U.S. operating losses, our ability to
realize foreign tax loss carryforwards as of December 31, 2006 and research tax credits carried forwards and earned
in the current year in Canada as of December 31, 2006. If the estimates utilized in connection with establishing the
valuation allowance prove inaccurate, resulting increases or decreases in the valuation allowance could be required
in the future. Any future changes in valuation allowance can have a material impact on our net earnings, Based on
estimates of future taxable profits and losses in certain foreign tax jurisdictions, we have determined that a valuation
allowance of approximately $!1.6 million was required for specific foreign entities.

We have been, and in the future we may be, a party to foreign tax proceedings. We have established an
estimated income tax reserve on our consolidated balance sheet to provide for potential adverse outcomes in future
tax proceedings which would have an impact on the amount of goodwill reflected on our consolidated balance sheet.
Also, any future foreign tax proceedings would have an impact on our results of operations if our estimates prove to
be inadequate. It is possible that changes in our estimates in the future could cause us to either materially increase or
decrease the amount of our income tax reserve.

With regard to earnings from foreign operations, our policy is to generally retain such earnings in the country
in which they were generated. This permits us to reduce the material United States income tax liabilities which
would generally arise upon repatriation of these earnings. In order to provide certain flexibility, we have structured
our Canadian operations to permit us to repay significant sums without United States income tax liability. In 2006,
we repatriated funds of approximately $7.1 million from Canada on a tax-free basis leaving us with $5.6 million that
can be repatriated without tax.
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Goodwill.  On an annual basis, management assesses the composition of our assets and liabilities, as well as
the events that have occurred and the circumstances that have changed since the most recent fair value determi-
nation. If events occur or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of goodwill
below its carrying amount, goodwill will be tested for impairment. We will recognize an impairment charge if the
carrying value of the asset exceeds the fair value determination. As described elsewhere in this report, we
recognized an impairment charge of $7.9 million in 2006 relating to our operations at CPS due to the loss of Miami
operations which generated significant revenues for CPS.

Impairment of Assets. We review long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles held and used for
possible impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may
not be recoverable. In evaluating the fair value and future benefits of its intangible assets, management performs an
analysis of the anticipated undiscounted future net cash flows of the individual assets over the remaining
amortization period. To date, we have not recognized an impairment charge of this nature. In the future, we will
recognize an impatrment if the carrying value of the asset exceeds the expected future cash flows.

Share-Based Compensation. We have granted stock options to our employees at exercise prices equal to or
greater than the fair value of the shares at the date of grant and accounted for these stock option grants in accordance
with APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”, or APB 25. Under APB 25, when stock
options are issued with an exercise price equal to the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant, no
compensation expense is recognized in the statement of operations. Because we recognized that APB 25 was in the
process of being rescinded, in 2004 we amended our stock option plan to provide for the granting of restricted stock
and other forms of equity compensation in addition to stock options. In December 2004, APB 25 was superseded by
Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 123 (Revised), “Share-Based Payment” or Statement 123,
which will be effective for all annual accounting periods beginning after July 15, 2005. We adopted Statement 123R
effective as of January 1, 2006, and will be required to recognize an expense for the fair value of our outstanding
stock options. Under Statement 123R, we must determine the.transition method to be used at the date of adoption,
the appropriate fair value model to be used for valuing share-based payments and the amortization method for
compensation cost. We adopted the prospective method. The prospective option requires that .compensation
expense be recorded for all unvested stock options and restricted stock at the beginning of the first quarter of
adoption of Statement 123R. The transition method requires management to make accounting estimates. All
references in this report to shares of common stock, options outstanding and per share information have been
adjusted 1o give effect to our May 2004 three-for-two stock split effected as a 50% stock dividend.

Other Estimates.  We make a number of other estimates in the ordinary course of business relating to volume
rebates, litigation, etc. Historically, changes to these estimates have not had a material impact on our financial
condition. However, circumstances could change which may alter future expectations.
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For the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, we have incurred approximately $0.8 million in rent expense
for the Toronto facility which is undergoing its initial fit-out. We expect to continue to record rent expense at this
level for Toronto. Other SG&A expenses have increased due to expansion of cur business, including additional
administrative and other personnel costs, health and casvalty insurance, increased sales, marketing, and business
development efforts, amortization and depreciation expense and facility costs.

Beginning 2007, we expect an increase in SG&A expenses as compared to 2006 levels to support our growth,
primarily for rent, travel and business development expenses, and because of increased professional, legal and
accounting fees, and increased insurance, director fees due to the expansion of the size of the board of directors and
additional satary expense for new corporate positions.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, we recorded approximately $3.0 million in amortization
expense compared to approximately $3.9 million for the same period in 2005. For the twelve months ended
December 31, 2006 we recorded approximately $11.4 million in depreciation expense compared to approximately
$10.5 million for the same period in 2005,

Interest income (expense)

Our interest expense decreased to $8.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2006, compared to -
$12.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. Interest expense includes non-cash amortization of deferred
finance costs. This decrease is primarily attributable to a reduction in interest expense of our line of credit due to
lower outstanding balances offset by increased interest rates, and due te a reduction in write-offs of deferred
financing cost due to restructuring of the Credit Facility and the size of line of credit. In 2005 we incurred a non-cash
write-off of approximately $3.4 million related to the write-off of deferred charges due to repayment of approx-
imately $108.0 million on the term loan and conversion of the remaining term loan in a revolving line of credit of
$90.0 million. In 2006, we agreed to a reduction in the line of credit from $90.0 million to the current level of
$45.0 million and as a result, we wrote off approximately $1.2 million of deferred finance costs. As of December 31,
2006 the balance outstanding on our Credit Facility was $9.4 million. As of March 3, 2007 the balance was
$14.4 million.

. The current interest rate on this variable rate facility as of February 28, 2006 is approximately 8.07%. The
remaining deferred financing costs as of December 31, 2006 of approximately $4.6 million relating to convertible
notes and the remaining Credit Facility will be amortized over a period of approximately three years and will be
charged to interest expense. In order to save interest charges on funds we are not borrowing, we may decide again to
reduce the maximum borrowing capacity of our Credit Facility. This would require us to write-off additional
deferred financing charges. The write-off of deferred financing charges may exceed the non-cash interest savings
for the year in which we reduce the maximum borrowing capacity.

Interest income for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $1.6 million compared to $0.9 million for the same
period in 2003. The increase is primarily attributable to increased cash balances and higher interest rates on cash
investment.

Foreign exchange

Qur foreign exchange loss increased to $3.3 million for the vear ended December 31, 2006 compared to
$0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. This increase is primarily atiributable to the significant
strengthening of the Euro against the U.S. dollar for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2006 compared to
the same period in 2005,

We expect to increase our hedging activity in 2007, however we cannot assure you that the current losses can be
maintained or reduced with this increased activity.

Income tax expense

Our effective tax rate for 2006 was a benefit of 111.7% compared to a tax expense of 0.9% for 2005. This
decrease was primarily altributable to a greater percentage of earnings generated from our foreign operations
relative to our consolidated earnings. The effective tax rate from our United States operations is substantially greater
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Goodwill.  On an annual basis, management assesses the composition of our assets and liabilities, as well as
the events that have occurred and the circumstances that have changed since the most recent fair value determi-
nation. If events occur or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of goodwill
below its carrying amount, goodwill will be tested for impairment. We will recognize an impairment charge if the
carrying value of the asset exceeds the fair value determination. As described elsewhere in this report, we
recognized an impairment charge of $7.9 million in 2006 relating to our operations at CPS due to the loss of Miami
operations which generated significant revenues for CFS.

Impairment of Assets. We review long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles held and used for
possible impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may
not be recoverable. In evaluating the fair value and future benefits of its intangible assets, management performs an
analysis of the anticipated undiscounted future net cash flows of the individual assets over the remaining
amortization period. To date, we have not recognized an impairment charge of this nature. In the future, we will
recognize an impairment if the carrying value of the asset exceeds the expected future cash flows.

Share-Based Compensation. We have granted stock options to our employees at exercise prices equal to or
greater than the fair value of the shares at the date of grant and accounted for these stock option grants in accordance
with APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”, or APB 25. Under APB 25, when stock
options are issued with an exercise price equal to the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant, no
compensation expense is recognized in the statement of operations. Because we recognized that APB 25 was inthe
process of being rescinded, in 2004 we amended our stock option plan to provide for the granting of restricted stock
and other forms of equity compensation in addition to stock optiens. In December 2004, APB 25 was superseded by
Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 123 (Revised), “Share-Based Payment” or Statement 123,
which will be effective for all annual accounting periods beginning after July 15, 2005. We adopted Statement 123R
effective as of January 1, 2006, and will be required to recognize an expense for the fair value of our outstanding
stock options. Under Statement 123R, we must determine the transition method to be used at the date of adoption,
the appropriate fair value model to be used for valuing share-based payments and the amortization method for
compensation cost. We adopted the prospective method. The prospective option requires that .compensation
expense be recorded for all unvested stock options and restricted stock at the beginning of the first quarter of
adoption of Statement 123R. The transition method requires management to make accounting estimates. All
references in this report to shares of common stock, options outstanding and per share information have been
adjusted to give effect to our May 2004 three-for-two stock split effected as a 50% stock dividend.

Other Estimates. 'We make a number of other estimates in the ordinary course of business relating to volume
rebates, litigation, etc. Historically, changes to these estimates have not had a material impact on our financial
condition. However, circumstances could change which may alter future expectations.
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Results of Operations

Year Ended December 31, 2006 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2005

The following table summarizes our results of operations both numerically and as a percentage of direct
revenue for 2006 and 2005.

2006 2005 .
(In thousands, except per share data)
DIrect TeVenUe . ...ttt in i i ciaan s $302,385 1000% $269,622  100.0%
Direct Costs. . .o v it e 181,556 60.0 155,901 57.8
Selling, general and administrative expenses . .............. 99,949 33.1 83,878 31.1
Impairment of goodwill. .. ............................ 7,873 2.6 — .0
Total other income (expense). .. ........................ (9,821) 3.2) (11,975 (4.4)
Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes. . . ... 3,185 1.0 17.869 6.6
Income tax expense (benefit). .. ........ ... ... ... ...... {3,558) (1.2 154 0.0
Earnings from continuing operations before minority interest in
jointventure . ... ... ... e 6,743 22 17,716 6.6
Minority interest in joint venture . . ., .. ............ e 691 02 552 0.2
Net earnings from continuing operations .. ................ 6,052 20 17,163 6.4
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax . ............. 42,077 (13.9) (12.384) (4.6)
Net earnings (10SS) ... ... ottt e $(36,025) (11.9% $ 4,779 1.8%
Eamnings per share from continuing operations
Basic ... e $§ 033 $ 097
Diluted .. .o e e $ 033 $ Q94

Direct revenue

Our direct revenue, which does not inctude reimbursed out-of-pocket expenses, was approximately $302.4 mil-
lion for the year ended December 31, 2006, which is an increase of approximately 12.2% from approximately
$269.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, The increase is attributable to a 24% increase in revenue in
our late stage business partially offset by a decrease of approximately 4.6% in our early stage business.

Our direct revenue for our early stage operations were $107.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2006,
compared to $112.1 mitlion for the same period in 2005. This decline of 4.6% is primarily attributable to a decline in
revenues at our early stage Canadian operations partially offset by an increase in revenue at our U.S. and European
bionanalytical laboratories. In 2006, we began experiencing severe price competition at our Canadian subsidiary
which comprises approximately 75.4% of our early stage segment revenues. During the second half of 2006 this
price pressure mitigated slightly. The reduction in price pressure along with internal process improvement resulted
in improved performance in our Canadian operations in the second half of 2006. Our direct revenue in our late stage
business increased approximately 24% primarily as a result of performing more clinical trials.

For the twelve month period ended December 31, 2006, direct revenue from U.S. operations was approx-
imately $133.7 million and $168.6 million from foreign operations compared to $119.6 million from our U.S.
operations and $150.0 million from foreign operations for the same period in 2005. The increase in direct revenue
for both U.S. and foreign operations for 2006 compared to the same period in 2005 is primarily due to a significant
increase in revenues in our late stage business offset to a lesser extent by a decrease in our early stage business.

Direct Costs

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, direct costs as a percentage of revenue increased to 60.0%
from 57.8% for the same period in 2005. The increase in direct costs as a percentage of direct revenue is primarily
related to our early stage operations. During 2006 we experienced a shift in our business at our Canadian operations
to more clinical work compared to bioanalytical work as a percentage of their overall business, We expect this trend
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to continue for the immediate future. Direct costs as a percentage of revenue are higher in our clinical operations
than in the bioanalytical operations. During 2006, Anapharm incurred approximately $0.5 million of expense to
cover direct costs of repeating work on one of its assay methods. Additionally, direct costs which is comprised
primarily of labor costs for the early stage segment were significantly higher than expected due to lower than
expected revenues.

During 2006, our early stage business experienced more pricing pressure in both the clinical and bioanalytical
operations as a result of industry competition in the generic market. Both of these factors increased our early stage
business’s direct costs as a percentage of revenue. Our early stage business historically has experienced periods of
competition. However, in the second half of 2006, we determined that the pricing pressures in the generic business
would become permanent for the foreseeable future and that a change was required in our business model. As a
result of this determination in September 2006, we began implementing steps to reduce both direct and other costs
in the early stage segment. These steps included headcount reductions, reduction of personnel through attrition,
process changes to improve efficiencies, reduced reliance on outside contractors and other cost reductions. We
expect these steps to yield between $3.0 million to $3.5 million from additional revenue and cost reductions during
the next 12 months. These reductions contributed to improved operating results in the early stage scgment during
the three month period ended December 31, 2006. We cannot assure you that the full benefit of these reductions will
be realized during 2007. On a going forward basis we expect that direct cost as a percentage of direct revenue will
vary due to the mix of contracts within our early stage and late stage business.

Gross Profit Margins

Our gross profit margins as a percentage of direct revenue decreased to 40.0% from 42.2% for the twelve
month period ended December 31, 2006, compared to the same periods in the prior year. Since we perform a wide
variety of services, all of which carry different gross margins, our future margins will vary from quarter-to-quarter,
and year-to-year based upon the mix of contracts, our capacity levels at the time we begin the projects and the
amount of revenue generated for each type of service we perform. Even within category types, the amount of gross
margins generated might vary due to the unique nature and size of each contract and project we undertake. This
could impact our future profit margins and profit comparisons to historical levels. During the twelve month period
ended December 31, 2006, the early stage segment had higher than expected direct costs resulting in lower profit
margins than historic levels. This trend is expected to continue for the immediate future.

Since we perform a wide variety of services, all of which carry different gross profit margins, our future gross
profit margins will vary from quarter to quarter, and year to year based upon the mix of our contracts, our capacity
levels at the time we begin the projects, and the amount of revenue genefated for each type of service we perform.
Even within category types, the amount of gross profit margins generated might vary due to the unique nature, and
size of each contract and project we undertake. This could impact our future gross profit margins and gross profit
comparisons to historical levels.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Our selling, general and administrative expenses or SG&A expenses increased to approximately $99.9 million,
(an increase of 19.2%) for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2006 compared to $83.9 million for the
same period in the prior year. As a percentage of direct revenue, our SG&A expenses increased to approximately
33.1% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 from 31.1% for the same period in 2005.

The increase in total SG&A expenses from 2005 to 2006 is primarily attributable to significantly increased
corporate expenses and other expenses consistent with the growth of revenues. The increase in SG&A expense as a
percentage of revenues is attributable to lower than expected revenue growth in our early stage business and due to
an increase in corporate expenses as a percentage of revenue. In 2006, corporate expenses increased approximately
$8.7 million to $21.0 million compared to approximately $12.3 million in 2005. These increases are primarily
attributable to additional professional, legal and accounting fees of $3.0 mitlion, non-cash compensation expense
resulting from the adoption of SFAS 123R of $1.1 million, 2005 management bonuses not paid of $1.0 million,
amortization of RSUs of $2.0 million and additional insurance, travel expense and salaries which totaled
$1.7 million.
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For the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, we have incurred approximately $0.8 million in rent expense
for the Toronto facility which is undergoing its initial fit-out. We expect to continue to record rent expense at this
level for Toronto. Other SG&A expenses have increased due to expansion of our business, including additional
administrative and other personnel costs, health and casualty insurance, increased sales, marketing, and business
development efforts, amortization and depreciation expense and facility costs.

Beginning 2007, we expect an increase in SG&A expenses as compared to 2006 levels to support our growth,
primarily for rent, travel and business development expenses, and because of increased professional, legal and
accounting fees, and increased insurance, director fees due to the expansion of the size of the board of directors and
additional salary expense for new corporate positions.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, we recorded approximately $3.0 miilion in amortization
expense compared to approximately $3.9 million for the same period in 2005. For the twelve months ended
December 31, 2006 we recorded approximately $11.4 million in depreciation expense compared to approximately
$10.5 million for the same pertod in 2005.

Interest income (expense)

Our interest expense decreased to $8.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2006, compared to
$12.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, Interest expense includes non-cash amortization of deferred
finance costs. This decrease is primarily attributable to a reduction in interest expense of our line of credit due to
lower outstanding balances offset by increased interest rates, and due to a reduction in write-offs of deferred
financing cost due to restructuring of the Credit Facility and the size of line of credit. In 2005 we incurred a non-cash
write-off of approximately $3.4 million related to the write-off of deferred charges due to repayment of approx-
imately $108.0 million on the term loan and conversion of the remaining term loan in a revolving line of credit of
$90.0 million. In 2006, we agreed to a reduction in the line of credit from $90.0 million to the current level of
$45.0 million and as a result, we wrote off approximately $1.2 million of deferred finance costs. As of December 31,
2006 the balance outstanding on our Credit Facility was $9.4 million. As of March 3, 2007 the balance was
$14.4 million.

The current interest rate on this variable rate facility as of February 28, 2006 is approximately 8.07%. The
remaining deferred financing costs as of December 31, 2006 of approximately $4.6 million relating to convertible
notes and the remaining Credit Facility will be amortized over a period of approximately three years and will be
charged to interest expense. In order to save interest charges on funds we are not borrowing, we may decide again to
reduce the maximum borrowing capacity of our Credit Facility. This would require us to write-off additional
deferred financing charges. The write-off of deferred financing charges may exceed the non-cash interest savings
for the year in which we reduce the maximum borrowing capacity.

Interest income for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $1.6 million compared to $0.9 million for the same
period in 2005. The increase is primarily attributable to increased cash balances and higher interest rates on cash
investment.

Foreign exchange

Our foreign exchange loss increased to $3.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to
$0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. This increase is primarily attributable to the significant
strengthening of the Euro against the U.S. dollar for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2006 compared to
the same period in 2005.

We expect to increase our hedging activity in 2007, however we cannot assure you that the current losses can be
maintained or reduced with this increased activity.
Income tax expense

Our effective tax rate for 2006 was a benefit of 111.7% compared to a tax expense of 0.9% for 2005. This
decrease was primarily attributable to a greater percentage of earnings generated from our foreign operations
relative to our consolidated earnings. The effective tax rate from our United States operations is substantially greater
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than our effective tax rate in Canada and several key European countries. As described elsewhere in this report, we
receive significant tax credits from the government of Canada relating to our research and development expenses.
These credits lower our effective tax rate in Canada and in other countries where we operate. We expect the nature of
our early stage Canadian business and the generation of significant tax credits to continue. However, we cannot
assure you as to the future amount of these credits on a quarterly or annual basis due to the mix of contracts and the
related amounts of research and development activity. Qur late stage business generates approximately 66% of its
net earnings from foreign operations. Our late stage business non-U.S. and non-Canadian operations are based in
Zumikon (Zurich) Switzerland where the effective tax rate of approximately 10% is lower than the United States.
The Swiss office subcontracts all work to the non-U.S. and non-Canadian PharmaNet offices, and reimburses these
offices for their operating costs, plus provides a 3%-5% markup (depending on transfer pricing analysis) on those
operating costs. The residual income in these non-U.S. and non-Canadian offices are taxed at their statutory rate
which is generally 10% to 37%.

Results from both continued and discontinued operations for the period ended December 31, 2006 generated
significant U.S. net operating losses. We believe it is unlikely that the losses will be realized before the tax benefits
expire. A valuation allowance of $15.3 million was provided for the U.S. net operating loss carryforward of which
$2.3 miilion was allocated to continuing operations and $13.0 million was allocated to discontinued operations.

Our future effective tax rate will also be dependent on a number of factors, including:
« the relative profits generated primarily in the United States, Canada and Europe;

» our ability to utilize Canadian tax credits;

» the applicable foreign tax rates then in effect;

e transfer pricing; and

» our ability to generate U.S. taxable income to utilize the NOL and thereby release the valuation allowance.

Earnings per share

Net earnings decreased from approximately $4.8 million in 2005 to a loss of approximately $36.0 million for
the year ended December 31, 2006. The decrease is attributable to a material increase in the loss from discontinued
operations, net of tax from $12.4 million in 2005 to $42.1 million in 2006 and due to a decrease in net carnings of
$17.2 million in 2005 from continuing operations compared to $6.1 million in 2006. On a fully diluted basis, our
earnings per share decreased from $0.26 per share in 2005 to a loss of $1.95 per share for the year ended
December 31, 2006.

The weighted average number of shares outstanding used in computing earnings per share on a diluted basis
increased from 18,356,030 for the year ended December 31, 2005 to 18,447,048 shares for the year ended
December 31, 2006. The increase in the number of fully diluted shares resulted primarily from stock option exercise
and the issuance of restricted shares and RSU’s, some of which vested during 2006. In 2006, we issued
485.632 shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units. Additionally, we issued restricted stock units to
our independent directors upon their election in 2006, and we issued restricted stock units to our executive officers
in 2006. Further, if the average stock price of our common stock during a reporting period is greater than $41.08,
then shares reserved for issuance on possible conversion of our convertible senior notes will be included in
calculating diluted shares outstanding in an amount equal to the difference between the “conversion amount” and
the outstanding principal amount divided by $41.08. The conversion amount will, for this purpose, be the principal
amount divided by $41.08 multiplied by the average stock price during the period.

Our balance sheet contains an item entitled “Accumulated other Comprehensive Earnings.” This has no impact
on our statement of operations and reflects the strengthening primarily of the Canadian doliar and Euro relative to
the United States dollar and is calculated on December 31st. In the future, other comprehensive earnings may
increase or decrease depending upon the movement of various foreign currencies relative to the United States dollar
and based upon the level of inter-company activity outside of the United States.
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Results of Operations

Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2004

The following table summarizes our results of operations both numerically and as a percentage of direct
revenue for 2005 and 2004,

2005 2004
(In thousands, except per share data)

"DITECE TEVENUE . . -« .\ oot e e e e e e et e e e e $269,622 100.0% $101,229 100.0%
Direct costs . ... .o e e 155,901 57.8 56,250 55.6
Selling, general and administrative expenses . ................ 83,878 311 29,949 29.6
Impairment of goodwill ........ ... ... ... ... ... ... ... — 0.0 — 0.0
Total other income (expense) .. ....... . ... ... ..., (11,975) (4.4) (3,334) 3.3)
Eamings from continuing operations before income taxes ... .. .. 17,869 6.6 11,696 1.5
Income tax expense ... ... ..., ... ... P 154 0.0 368 04
Earnings from continuing operations before minority interest in

jointventure ... .... .. ... ...... N 17.716 6.6 11,328 111
Minority interest in joint venture. . ., ... ... ..ot a. 552 0.2 325 0.3
Net earnings from continuing operations . .. ................. 17,163 6.4 11,002 10.8
Earnings {Loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax .. ... ... (12,384) {4.6) 8,657 8.6
Net Gammings . . . oottt e e e § 4779 1.8% $ 19,659 19.4%
Earnings per share from continuing opcratiﬂns(1J

Basic ... .. e $ 097 $ 073

Diluted . . . ... .o $ 094 070

(1) The earnings per share have been adjusted to reflect the May 2004 three-for-two stock split as a stock dividend.

Direct revenue

Our direct revenue, which does not include out-of-pocket expenses, was approximately $269.6 million for the
twelve month period ended December 31, 2003, which is an increase of approximately 166% from approximately
$101.2 million in the comparable period in 2004,

The primary components of this increase were:

« PharmaNet contributed approximately $152.5 million in direct revenue in 2005 compared to zero in 2004
and to a lesser extent an increase in early stage revenues at Anapharm; and

* A full year of revenue at Taylor which we acquired in July 2004.

Our direct revenue increased primarily as the result of performing or managing more clinical trials and testing
more samples, increases in the size of clinical trials and price increases. The improvement in the Canadian dollar
relative to the United States dollar contributed to our increased net revenue and direct revenue, although as
discussed below, the strengthening of the Canadian dollar had a negative impact on our results of operations in 2005,
In 2005, the Euro strengthened compared to the United States doltar which had a negative impact on revenue
compared to 2004, However, it also had an offsetting positive impact to expenses.

Direct costs

Direct costs as a percentage of direct revenue increased from 55.6% to 57.8% for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2005 compared to the same period in the prior year. This increase was primarily attributable to the
improvement of early stage margins, offset by an increase in the direct costs due to the inclusion of our late stage
business direct costs in 2005. Our late stage business generally has slightly higher direct costs than our early stage
business.
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Gross profit margins

Our gross profit margins were 42.2% in 2005 compared to 44.4% in 2004. Our gross profit margins decreased
in 2005 with the addition of our late stage business which has higher average employee compensation included in
direct costs.

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Our selling, general and administrative expenses, or SG&A expenses, increased from $29.9 million for the
twelve months ended December 31, 2004 to $83.9 million in the same period in 2005.

The increase in total SG&A expenses was primarily due to the acquisition of PharmaNet and Taylor, the
expansion of our business, including additional administrative and other personnel costs, health and casualty
insurance, depreciation expense, facility costs, and public company expenses including professional fees, insurance
coverages and the costs associated with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act costs. Additionally in 2005 we
incurred approximately $0.7 million of additional legal fees and other costs associated with the events affecting our
Miami facility as described throughout this report.

Our loss from foreign currency transactions decreased to approximately $0.8 million in 2005 from approx-
imately $2.0 million in 2004,

SG&A expenses as a percentage of direct revenue increased from 29.6% in 2004 to 31.1% in 2005. This
increase was attributable to SG&A expenses increasing at a higher rate that revenue growth.

Depreciation expense increased from approximately $4.0 million in 2004 to $10.5 million in 2005 or an
increase of 163%. Depreciation is included in both the direct costs and SG&A expense line items in our financial
statements. This increase was primarily attributable to the inclusion of a full year of operations at PharmaNet. The
increase was also attributable to significant new purchases of bioanalytical equipment consistent with the growth of
bioanalytical revenue and leasehold improvements including the build out of our Toronto, Canada bioanalytical
laboratory.

SG&A expenses include amortization which arose from the intangible assets we acquired in connection with
various acquisitions. Amortization expense increased from approximately $1.2 million in 2004 to approximately
$3.9 million in 2005, or an increase of 225%, primarily as a result of the PharmaNet acquisition.

Interest income (expense)

Our interest expense increased to $12.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, compared to
$2.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Interest expense includes recurring non-cash amortization
and write-off of deferred finance costs. This increase was primarily attributable to a full year in 2005 of interest
expense on our $143.8 million convertible notes issued in August 2004, which bear interest at an annual interest rate
of 2.25%, and due to interest expense on our Credit Facility entered into in December 2004. During the period ended
March 31, 2005, we incurred a non-cash charge of approximately $2.2 million related to the write-off of deferred
charges due to repayment of $70.0 million on the term loan. In June 2005, we incurred an additional non-cash
charge of $1.1 million as a result of the amendment and repayment of approximately $38.0 million on the term loan.
As of December 31, 2005 and March 31, 2006 the balance outstanding on our Credit Facility was $17.0 million
excluding accrued interest.

The current interest rate on this variable rate facility as of March 22, 2006 is approximately 7.1%. The
remaining deferred financing costs of approximately $7.0 million relating to convertible notes and the remaining
Credit Facility will be amortized over a period of between five and six years and will be charged to interest expense.

Interest income for the year ended December 31, 2005 was $0.9 million compared to $1.3 million for the same
period in 2004, The decrease was primarily attributable to average reduced cash balances during the year as a result
of loan repayments during 2005. Interest expense on the loans significantly exceeded interest yields on available
cash balances. :
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Income tax expense

Our effective tax rate for 2005 was 0.9% compared to 3.2% tor 2004. This decrease was primarily attributable
to a greater percentage of earnings generated from our foreign operations relative to our consolidated earnings. The
effective tax rate from our United States operations is substantially greater than our effective tax rate in Canada and
several key European countries. As described elsewhere in this report, we receive significant tax credits from the
government of Canada relating 1o our research and development expenses. These credits lower our effective tax rate
in Canada and in other couniries where we operate. We expect the nature of our early stage business and the
generation of significant tax credits to continue. However, we cannot assure you as to the future amount of these
credits on a quarterly or annual basis due to the mix of contracts and the related amounts of research and
development activity. PharmaNet generates approximately 66% of its net earnings from foreign operations.
PharmaNet’s non-U.S, and non-Canadian operations are based in Zumikon (Zurich) Switzerland where the
effective tax rate of approximately 10% is lower than the United States. The Swiss office subcontracts all work
to the non-U.S. and non-Canadian PharmaNet offices, and reimburses these offices for their operating costs, plus
provides a 3% - 5% markup {depending on transfer pricing analysis) on those operating costs. The residual income
in these non-U.8. and non-Canadian offices are taxed at their statutory rate which is generally 10% to 37%.

Earnings per share

Net earnings from continuing operations increased for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2005 to
approximately $17.2 million from approximately $11.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, an increase
of approximately 56%. On a fully diluted basis eamings per share from continuing operations increased from $0.70
in 2004 to $0.94 for the year ended December 31, 2005. This increase was primarily attributable to strong earnings
~ contributions from Anapharm and PharmaNet.

Net loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, was $12.4 million for the twelve month period ended
December 31, 2005 compared to net earnings from discontinued operations net of tax of approximately $8.7 million
for the year ended December 31, 2004, a decrease of approximately 243%. On a fully diluted basis, our net earnings
per share from continuing operations increased from $0.70 in December 2004 to $0.94 for the year ended
December 31, 2005.

The weighted average number of shares outstanding used in computing earnings per share on a diluted basis
increased from 15,753,815 for the year ended December 31, 2004 to 18,356,030 shares for the year ended
December 31, 2005. The increase in the number of fully diluted shares resulted primarily from inclusion of the
3,500,000 shares issued by us in a public offering in March 2005, offset by the repurchase a total of 606,300 shares
in November and December 2005.

Our balance sheet contains an item entitled “Accumulated other comprehensive earnings.” This has no impact
on our statement of operations and reflects the strengthening primarily of the Canadian dollar and Euro relative to
the United States dollar and is calculated on December 31st. In the future, other comprehensive earnings may
increase or decrease depending upon the movement of various foreign currencies relative to the United States dollar
and based upon the level of inter-company activity outside of the United States.

Effects of Inflation
Qur business and operations have not been materially affected by inflation during the periods for which
financial information is presented.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2006, we had cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of approximately $53.8 mil-
lion, and working capital of $63.8 million, compared to $38.8 million of cash, cash equivalents and marketable
securities and working capital of $83.0 million at December 31, 2005. For 2006, net cash provided by operating
activities from continuing operations was approximately $30.2 million in contrast to approximately $37.9 million of
net cash provided by operations in 2005. The change is primarily due to a significant decrease in net earnings before
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depreciation and amortization and client advances, offset by a significant increase in accounts payable and a
decrease in prepaid expenses.

For 2006, net cash used in investing activities from continuing operations was approximately $29.1 million
compared to approximately $18.3 million used in investing activities in 2005. The principal reasons for this increase
in 2006 is primarily attributable to capital expenditures related to our Quebec City facility currently classified as an
asset held for sale.

During 2006, net cash of approximately $10.4 million was provided in financing activities compared to net
cash used by financing activities of approximately $14.3 million in 2005. This decrease is primarily attributable to
proceeds on the net assets held for sale in Quebec.

On October 14, 2006, we entered into a Fourth Amendment, referred to herein as the Amendment, to our
Credit Facility with a syndicate of banks. As a result of this Amendment, certain financial covenants and conditions
in the Credit Facility were modified to reflect our current operations and business needs. The other material terms of
the Amendment (i) require us to provide the Bank with additional financial reporting, (i) permit us to enter into a
sale-leaseback transaction for its Quebec City facility, and (iif) would require a temporary reduction in the amount
of borrowing capacity under the Credit Facility to $22.5 million in the event our trailing twelve month EBITDA (as
defined in the Credit Facility), or TTM, is materially below, by a certain percentage, the forecasts provided to the
Bank. If the total amount of our outstanding loans exceeds $22.5 million at the time of the occurrence of such an
event, we have no immediate obligation to repay these loans. If the TTM exceeds this threshold in future periods, the
full borrowing capacity of the Credit Facility will be restored to $45.0 million. [n conjunction with the Fourth
Amendment, the Applicable Margin with respect to LIBOR Loans were increased by 25 basis points to 3.25% and
the Applicable Margin with respect to Revolving Loans that are Prime Rate Loans were increased by 25 basis points
to 2.25%, subject to change based upon certain leverage ratios.

The principal balance outstanding on the Credit Facility at December 31, 2005 was $17.0 million and
$0.4 million at December 31, 2006, The outstanding balance on the Credit Facility as of December 31, 2006 is
classified as long-term debt since we amended the Credit Facility and is in compliance with the covenants and
conditions. The obligations under the Credit Facility is guaranteed by each of our U.S5. subsidiaries, is secured by a
mortgage on its land and property in Miami, Florida, a pledge of all of the assets of our U.S. operations and U.S.
subsidiaries, and a pledge of 65% of the stock of certain of our foreign subsidiaries. The facility is due in December
2009. The U.S. assets collateralizing the Credit Facility are approximately valued at $381.1 million, including
goodwill and intangible assets.

Previously, a significant component of our business strategy was to seck to make acquisitions that are accretive
to earnings and meet certain operational requirements. Although we continue to assess acquisition opportunities, its
primary focus is on current operations. If we consummate any acquisitions, we expect to use our existing cash, our
Credit Facility to the extent available and, if necessary, obtain additional debt or equity financing to fund any such
acquisitions. Except for stock to be issued in connection with restricted stack, RSUs, employee options, and stock
issued under our employee stock purchase plan, we do not currently anticipate issuing any of our common stock
during 2007.

We anticipate spending between $16.0 million and $18.0 million in capital asset expenditures for 2007, of
which $2.1 million will be used to complete the expansion of our new facility in Quebec City, and the remaining
capital asset expenditures will consist primarily of computer hardware, software, new bicanalytical equipment and
maintenance capital expenditures. '

In 2005, Anapharm purchased land and in 2006, commenced building a new facility in Quebec City, Canada
intended to house all of its clinical, bioanalytical operations as well as administrative functions. In early 2006,
Anapharm negotiated a build-to-suit arrangement with a building contractor. Subsequent to this arrangement,
Anapharm decided that it was advantageous to enter into a leasing arrangement for this location versus owning the
property and building. In October 2006, Anapharm completed a transaction with an Investor, Under the terms of the
agreement, the Investor reimbursed Anapharm approximately $9.8 million which represented substantially all of
the funds that Anapharm had spent on the land purchase and construction. Additionally, the Investor agreed to pay
the contractor for the remaining building costs not to exceed approximately $27.0 million. Since we continued to
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bear the risk of any cost overruns in excess of this level until the building was completed, and due to our continuing
involvement in the building process, the transaction does not qualify as a sale-leaseback accounting under the
guidelines of FASB 98 Accounting for Leases: Sale-Leaseback Transaction Involving Real Estate.

As of December 31, 2006, the Investor had paid Anapharm and the contractor a total of $15,851,034. As of
March 2007 the building and improvements were substantially complete and on budget. As of December 31, 2006,
this transaction met the six criteria in determining if a long-lived asset to be sold should be classified as held for sale
in the period per FASB No. 144 Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets.

Based upon our cash balances and cash flows from operations, we believe we have adequate working capital to
meet our operational needs for the next 12 months,

In order to provide a liquidity metric that enables investors to benchmark us against others in our industry, we
calculate Days Sales Outstanding, or DSO’s, for each three month period for continuing operations. DSQ’s are
calculated by taking the consolidated accounts receivable balance for continuing operations at the end of a period
and subtracting both short term and long term client advances balances for continuing operations at the end of the
period. The resulting number is divided by average net revenue per day for continuing operations for the three
month period. For the twelve month periods ended December 31, 2006, DSO’s were 35 days, compared to 20 days
for the twelve months period ended December 31, 2005. The increase in DSO’s was primarily the result of an
increase in accounts receivable partially offset by our revenue growth. We expect DSO’s to be approximately
30 days for 2007.

Contractual Obligations
‘Payments Due by Period

Less than More Than
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years

Credit facility and line of credit obligations . . .. .. ... S 9400,000 3 —  $ 9400000 3 — % —
Convertible notes . . .. ... ....ovur v 143,750,000 — — — 143,750,000
Interest on convertible notes . . . . .00 v e i i 58,218,750 3,234,375 6.468,750 6,468,750 42,046,875
Capital lease obligations . .................... 6,088,826 3,048,211 2,532,187 508,428 —
Operating lease obligations. . .................. 142,167,248 18,555,117 33,247,214 27,332,293 63,032,624
Purchase obligations . . ... ....... ... ... ...... 2,687,758 2,429,995 121,300 121,300 15,163
Other long-term liabilities reflected on the registrants )

balance sheet under GAAP . ... . ............. 227,527 227527 . — — —
Total . ... e $362.540,109  $27,495225 §51,769451 §$34430,771 § 248,844,662

(1) Onor after August 15, 2009, we may at our option, redeem the notes in whole or in part for cash at a redemption price equal to 100% of the
principal amount of the notes to be redeemed plus accreed and unpaid interest. On each of August 15, 2009, August 15, 2014 and August 15,
2019, holders may require us o re-purchase all or a portion of their notes at a purchase price in cash equal 10 100% of the principal amount of
the notes to be re-purchased plus accrued and unpaid interest.

Off Balance Sheet Commitments

In the normal course of business, we enter into contractual commitments to purchase materials and services
from suppliers in exchange for favorabie pricing arrangements or more beneficial terms. At December 31, 2006,
these non-cancelable purchase obligations were not materially different than those disclosed in the Contractual
Commitments table contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Under our agreement with our joint venture partner in Spain, we are required to fund the working capital of
Anapharm Europe. Because that operation generates sufficient cash flow from operations, we have not had to
provide it any working capital nor do we expect to be required to do so in the immediate future.

When we purchased New Drug Services, Inc. in 2002, we agreed to pay the seller additional purchase
consideration based upon New Drug Services' future operating results over a three-year period commencing
September 30, 2002. Although New Drug Services was profitable, except for approximately $0.5 million in
guaranteed payments, we have not paid any additional purchase consideration. Beginning in 2003, we began
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tracking on a stand-alone basis the core business of that subsidiary as it existed as of the date of acquisition and
PharmaNet began operating our Charlotte, North Carolina based late stage business. As a result, we entered into an
amendment of our earn-out agreement. Based upon the profitability of the core business we paid $2.0 million in
April of 2006 to the former shareholders of New Drug Services, Inc.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Interpretation Number 48
(“FIN 48™), “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109.” The
interpretation contains a two-step approach to recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions accounted for in
accordance with SFAS No. 109. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for recognition by determining if the
weight of available evidence indicates it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit, including
resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The second step is to measure the tax benefit as the
Jargest amount which is more than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The interpretation is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. We are in the process of analyzing the impact this
interpretation will have on its financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and disclosures.

The FASB has recently issued statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157 (“SFAS 157”) in order to
measure fair value more clearly and provide guidance when its use is required by another standard. SFAS 157
indicates that a fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell an asset or transfer a liability occurs in
the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a principal market, the most advantageous market
for the asset or lability. The principal market is the market in which the reporting entity would sell the asset or
. transfer the liability with the greatest volume and level of activity for the asset.

We will be required to adopt SFAS 157, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007,
no later than the quarter beginning January 1, 2008. We are currently in the process of evaluating SFAS 157 and
have determined the impact, if any, SFAS 157 will have on our consolidated results of operations or financial
position.

In September 2006, the SEC staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, SAB 108, “Considering the
Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements.”
SAB 108 established an approach that requires quantification of financial statement misstatements based on the
effects of the misstatement on each of our financial statements and the related disclosures. SAB 108 allows
registrants to initially apply the approach either by (1) retroactively adjusting prior financial statements as if the
approach had always been used or (2) recording the cumulative effect of initially applying the approach as
adjustments to the carrying values of assets and liabilities as of January 1, 2006 with the related offset recorded to
the opening balance of retained earnings. We decreased Stockholders’ Equity by approximately $150,000 on
January 1, 2006 as a result of adopting SAB 108. The transition provisions of SAB 108 permit us to adjust for the
cumulative effect on Stockholders’ Equity of errors relating to prior years that, under our previous approach of
evaluating financial statement misstatements, were immaterial. This decrease in Stockholders’ Equity consists of a
decrease of approximately $2.85 million due to an overstatement of deferred tax assets related to stock options
exercises, and an increase of approximately $2.7 million due to the overstatement of deferred tax expense on
accumulated other comprehensive earnings and related deferred tax liabilities that commenced in 2002 with our
acquisition of Anapharm. These adjustments impacted our balance sheet and the statement of changes in
stockholders’ equity.

Avariety of proposed or otherwise potential accounting standards are currently under study by standard-setting
organizations and various regulatory agencies. Because of the tentative and preliminary nature of these proposed
standards, management has not determined whether implementation of such proposed standards would be material
to our consolidated financial statements.

Forward-Looking Statements

There are a number of forward-looking statements in this report within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995, including statements relating to the expected percentage of our net revenue derived
from our late stage business in 2006; industry trends and information; our ability to implement our strategy
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described inItem 1 of this report; our ability to leverage the strong reputation of PharmaNet; our ability to determine
our impairment charges and costs of discontinued operations; whether we will achieve our estimated value for our
Miami property; developments with respect to the SEC’s inquiry and securities class action lawsuits and derivative
lawsuits; our ability to successfully achieve and manage the technical requirements of specialized clinical trial
services, while complying with applicable rules and regulations; regulatory changes; changes affecting the clinical
research industry; a reduction of outscurcing by pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies; our ability to
compete internationally in attracting clients in order to develop additional business; our evaluation of our backlog
and the potential cancellation of contracts; our ability to retain and recruit new employees; our clients’ ability to
provide the drugs and medical devices used in our clinical trials; our future stock price; our assessment of our
effective tax rate and tax valuation allowance; our financial guidance; our future effective tax rate; our anticipated
2007 capital expenditures; our 2006 and 2007 costs of compliance of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act; the
impact of foreign currency transaction costs and the effectiveness of any hedging strategies that we implement; and
the national and international economic climate as it affects drug development operations. Additionally, words such
as “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “believes,” “will” and similar words are used to identify forward-looking
statements,

The results anticipated by any or all of these forward-looking statements might not occur. We undertake no
obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as the result of new information,
future events or otherwise. For more information regarding some of the ongoing risks and uncertainties of our
business, see the risk factor section of this report and our other filings with the SEC.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are subject to market risks in some of our financial instruments, These instruments are carried at fair value
on our financial statements. We are subject to currency risk due to our foreign operations. We are also subject to
interest rate risk on our Credit Facility as described below. We have not entered into market risk sensitive
instruments for trading purposes.

Market risk

In 2004, 2005 and 2006, we purchased certain debt securities. We classify our investments in debt securities as
avaitable-for-sale in accordance with Statement No. 113, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity
Securities.” Investments classified as available-for-sale are carried at fair value based on quoted market prices. The
unrealized helding gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities is reported as a component of accumulated other
comprehensive earnings, net of applicable deferred income taxes. As of December 31, 2003, the unrealized gain on
investments in marketable securities was insignificant. Cost is determined on the actual purchase price of the
marketable security for determining realized gains and losses. As of December 31, 2006, there were no material
realized gains or losses. As of December 31, 2006, we had approximately $8.4 million, respectively, in investments
in marketable securities and as of December 31, 2005, we had approximately $8.2 million in investments and
marketable securities.

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to credit risk consist principally of trade receivables. We
perform services and extend credit based on an evaluation of the client’s financial condition without requiring
collateral. Exposure to iosses on receivables is expected to vary by client based on the financial condition of each
client. At December 31, 2006 and 20053, one client represented approximately 14.0% of our accounts receivable or
9.0% of our accounts receivable. net of client advances and at December 31, 2005 one client represented
approximately 14.6% of our accounts receivable or 11.4% of our accounts receivable, net of client advances.
We monitor exposure to credit losses and maintain allowances for anticipated losses considered necessary under the
circumstances. Additionally, we, from time to time, maintain cash balances with financial institutions in amounts
that exceed federally insured limits.

Our financial instruments consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, accounts
receivable, notes receivable, accounts payable, convertible senior notes and notes payable. At December 31, 2006,
the fair value of these instruments approximated their carrying amounts.
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Currency risk

For the year ended December 31, 2006 our foreign revenue accounted for 56% of the total revenue. The
significant growth of the foreign subsidiaries has created the need to engage in hedging activities to protect our
forecasted growth. We have focused in protecting our Canadian as well as our European operations from currency
fluctuations. At our foreign operations where the local currency is the functional currency, assets and liabilities are
translated into United States dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the end of the applicable reporting period.
Revenue and expenses of our foreign operations are translated at the average exchange rate during the period. Prior
to our acquisition of PharmaNet, our currency translation risks arose primarily from our Canadian operations. The
aggregate effect of translating the financial statements of our foreign operations is included in a separate component
of stockholders’ equity entitled “Accumulated Other Comprehensive Earnings.” For the year ended December 31,
2006 we had a pre-tax loss from foreign currency transactions of $3.3 million and for the year ended December 31,
2005 we had a pre-tax loss from foreign currency transactions of $0.8 million.

Our significant global operation, subjects us to increased currency risks relating to various foreign currencies.
We recently implemented a foreign currency risk hedging strategy on a limited basis for the Canadian dollar in an
attempt to mitigate our foreign currency risk. For the year ended December 31, 2006 we increased our hedging
activity compared to prior years and intend to further increase hedging activities for future periods. We cannot
assure you that our hedging activities will be successful or that increased hedging activity will reduce future losses.

Interest rate risk

We have a $45.0 million Credit Facility. At December 31, 2006, our outstanding balance under the Credit
Facility was $9.4 million. The interest rate on this Credit Facility is LIBOR based and variable. This credit facility is
secured by substantially all of the assets of our United States subsidiaries and a pledge of 65% of the capital stock of
certain of our foreign subsidiaries. Changes in interest rates, and LIBOR in particular, will affect our cost of funds
under this facility. A 10% change in our variable rate Credit Facility would result in a change in annual interest
expense of approximately $76,000. '

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

Pages F-4 to F-47.

Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

Not app]icf;ible.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 under the
supervision and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial
officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our “disclosure controls and procedures” as of the end of
the period covered by this report.

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed with the objective of ensuring that (i) information required to
be disclosed in an issuer’s reports filed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s, or the
SEC, rules and forms and (ii) information is accumulated and communicated to management, including the chief
executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.
The evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures included a review of our objectives and processes and
effect on the information generated for use in this report. In the course of this evaluation, we sought to identify any
significant deficiencies in our use of a disclosure committee or reporting to our management of information relating
to our operating subsidiaries. This type of evaluation will be done quarterly so that the conclusions concerning the
effectiveness of these controls can be reported in our periodic reports filed with the SEC. We intend to maintain
these conirols as processes that may be appropriately modified as circumstances warrant.
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Based on their evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective in timely alerting them to material information relating to us
(including our consolidated subsidiaries) required to be included in our periodic reports filed with the SEC as of the
end of the period covered by this report. However, a control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can
provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Management
necessarily applied its judgment in assessing the benefits of controls relative to their costs. Because of the inherent
limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and
instances of fraud, if any, within our company have been detected. The design of any system of controls is based in
part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and we cannot assure you that any design will
succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions, regardless of how remote, Because of the
inherent Jimitations in a control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur at PDGI.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation
of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal
Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Com-
mission. Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework, our man-
agement concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2006. Our
management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2006 has been audited by Grant Thornton LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their
report which is included herein.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the
evaluation required by paragraph (d) of Exchange Act Rule 13a-15 that occurred during the last fiscal quarter that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None. B
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PART 111

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant and Corporate Governance.

The information required by this Ttem shall be contained in the proxy statement for the 2007 annual meeting,
which shall be filed within 120 days of December 31, 2006.
Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this Item shall be contained in the proxy statement for the 2007 annual meeting
which shall be filed within 120 days of December 31, 2006.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management.

The information required by this Item shall be contained in the proxy statement for the 2007 annual meeting
which shall be filed within 120 days of December 31, 2006.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information required by this Ttem shall be contained in the proxy statement for the 2007 annual meeting
which shall be filed within 120 days of December 31, 2006,
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information required by this Item shall be contained in the proxy statement for the 2007 annual meeting
which shall be filed within 120 days of December 31, 2006.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

Exhibit
Number Description
31 Certificate of Incorporation(1)

32

33

34

335

36

37

38

4.1
4.2

4.3

4.4
10.1*
10.2%*
10.3*
10.4*
10.5*
10.6*
10.7%
10.8%
10.9
10.10
10.11
10.12
10.13*
10.14*
10.15*
10.16*
10.17
10.18
10.19*
10.20#
10.21*
10.22%
10.23%*
10.24
10.25%*
10.26*

10.27
10.28
10.29*
10.30

First Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation{1)

Certificate of Correction to Certificate of Incorporation(2)

Second Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation (filed herewith)
Certificate of Correction to Second Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation(4)
Certificate of Designation for Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock(7)
Third Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation (filed herewith)
Amended and Restated Bylaws(8)

Form of Common Stock Certificate (filed herewith)

Indenture relating to 2.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2024(3)

Form of 2.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2024(3)

Registration Rights Agreement relating to 2.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2024(3)
Jeffrey P. McMullen Employment Agreement(13)

David Natan Employment Agreement (filed herewith)

Lisa Krinsky Severance Agreement(12}

Arnold Hantman Severance Agreement(12)

Marc LeBel Employment Agreement(10)

Marc LeBel Amendment to Employment Agreement(9)

Armnold Hantman Employment Agreement(9)

Lisa Krinsky, M.DD. Employment Agreement(9)

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement(9)

First Amendment to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement(12}
Second Amendment to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement(12)
Amended and Restated Security Agreement(9)

2004 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (16)

Amendment to 2004 Employee Stock Purchase Plan(16)

Second Amendment to 2004 Employee Stock Purchase Plan(9)

Amended and Restated 1999 Stock Plan (filed herewith)

Shareholder Rights Agreement(7)

Audit Committee Charter (filed herewith)

2004 Acquisition Stock Option Plan(5)

Form of Stock Option Agreement(11) :
Amended and Restated Stock Option Agreement (Jeftrey P. McMullen)(11)
Arnold Golieb Restricted Stock Agreement(12)

Jack Levine Restricted Stock Agreement(12)

New Drug Services Amended Agrecrﬁem(lZ)

Johane Boucher-Champagne Employment Agreement(6)

Confidential Separation Agreement and General Release by and between the Company and Gregory B.

Holmes(13)
Third Wajver and Third Amendment to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement(13)
Fourth Waiver to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement(]3)

Thomas J. Newman, MD Employment Agreement (filed herewith)
Fifth Waiver to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement(14)
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.31
10.32

" 10.33
10.34
10.35

10.36*%
10.37
10.38
10.39*
10.40*
10.41*
21
23.1
31
31.2
32.1
32.2

Fourth Amendment to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement(14)

Lease and Lease Agreement by and between 504 Carnegie Associates Limited Partnership and
PharmaNet, Inc dated May [999(14)

Amendment to No. 1 Lease and Lease Agreement by and between 504 Carnegie Associates Limited
Partnership and PharmaNet, Inc. dated May 1999(14)

Amendment No. 2 to Lease and Lease Agreement by and between 504 Carnegie Associates Limited
Partnership and PharmaNet, Inc. dated March 30, 2001(14)

Amendment No. 3.to Lease and Lease Agreement by and between 504 Carnegie Associated Limited
Partnership and PharmaNet, Inc. dated October 1, 2004(14)

Mark Di lanni Employment Agreement(15)

Form of Director Indemnification Agreement (filed herewith)

Form of Executive Officer Indemnification Agreement {filed herewith)
Form of Director Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (filed herewith)

Form of Employee Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (filed herewith)

John P, Hamill Employment Agreement (filed herewith)

Subsidiaries of PharmaNet Development Group, Inc. (filed herewith)
Consent of Grant Thornton LLP dated March 21, 2007 (filed herewith)
Certification of Chief Executive Officer (Section 302) (filed herewith)
Certification of Chief Financial Officer (Section 302) (filed herewith)
Certification of Chief Executive Officer (Section 1350) (furnished herewith)
Certification of Chief Financial Officer (Section 1350} (furnished herewith})

* Compensation plan and arrangements for current and former executive officers and directors.
{1} Contained in Form SB-2 filed on August 17, 1999
(2) Contained in Form S8-2 filed on October 5, 2000
{3) Contained in Form S-3 On November 2, 2004
(4) Contained in Form 10-Q filed on Avgust 4, 2004
(5) Contained in Form 8-K filed on December 27, 2004
(6} Contained in Form 8-K filed on May 4, 2006
(7) Contained in Form 8-A filed on December 28, 2005
(8) Contained in Form 8-K filed on February 16, 2006
(9) Contained in the Form 10-Q filed on August 9, 2005
(10) Contained in the Form 10-KSB filed on April 1, 2002
(11) Contained in the Form 10-K filed on March §, 2005
(12) Contained in the Form 10-K filed on March 31, 2006
(13) Contained in the Form 10-Q filed on August 14, 2006
(143 Contained in the Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2006
(15) Contained in the Form 8-K filed on December 15, 2006
{L6) Contained in the Form S-8 filed on August 6, 2004
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Sccurities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

PharmalNet Development Group, Inc.

By: fs/ JerrrEY P. MCMULLEN

Jeffrey P. McMullen,
President and Chief Executive
Officer

Date: March 22, 2007 .

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the daies indicated.
/s!  Jack LEVINE Chairman of the Board of Directors March 22, 2007
Jack Levine, CPA

/s/ _JerrREY P. McMULLEN President and Chief Executive Officer and March 22, 2007
~ Jeffrey P. McMullen Director (Principal Executive Officer)
fs/  Jonn P. HamiLL Executive Vice President and Chief March 22, 2007
John P. Hamill Financial Officer (Principal Financial
Officer)
/s DavID NaTan Executive Vice President, Reporting & March 22, 2007
David Natan Analysis and Chief Accounting Officer

{Principal Accounting Officer)

/s RorLr A. CLASSON Director March 22, 2007
Rolf A. Classon

/s/  Lewis R. ELias, MD Director March 22, 2007
Lewis R. Elias, MD

/s/  ARNOLD GOLIER Director March 22, 2007
Amold Golieb

fs/ Davmp Lucking Director March 22, 2007
David Lucking

/s/  PeTER G. TOMBROS Director March 22, 2007
Peter G. Tombros

/s/  PErR WoLD-OLSEN Director . March 22, 2007
Per Wold-Olsen

/s/  Davip M. OLivier Director ) March 22, 2007
David M. Olivier
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors
PharmaNet Development Group, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of PharmaNet Development Group, Inc.
(formerly SFBC International, Inc.) (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2003,
and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2006. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining. on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of PharmaNet Development Group. Inc. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and
2005, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2006 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as a
whole. The Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts of PharmaNet Development Group, Inc. and
subsidiaries is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial
statements. This schedule has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial
statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements
taken as a whole.

As discussed in Note A and K to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has adopted Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 108 Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements
in Current Year Financial Statements and Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 123(R), Share
Based Payments in 2006.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of PharmaNet Development Group, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) and our report dated March 21,
2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment and an unqualified opinion on internal control
effectiveness.

/s/ Grant Thornton LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
March 21, 2007




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors
PharmaNNet Development Group, [nc.

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting that PharmaNet Development Group, Inc. (formerly SFBC International,
Inc.)(a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSQO). PharmaNet Development Group,
Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accuraltely and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate,

In our opinion, management’s assessment that PharmaNet Development Group, Inc maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on
criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Commitiee of Sponsoring Organiza-
tions of the Treadway Commission (COSQ). Also in our opinion, PharmaNet Development Group, Inc maintained,
in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO).

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated balance sheets of PharmaNet Development Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006 and our report dated
March 21, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

fs/ Grant Thornton LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
March 21, 2007



PHARMANET DEVELOPMENT GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31, 2006 AND 2005

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents. . . ... ... .. i i i
[nvestment in marketable securities . . . ., . ... . L e
Accounts receivable, net. .. ... L e e e
Income tax receivable. . . .. .. . ... e e e
Loans receivable from stockholders . . . . . . ... . .. ... .. ...
Deferred INCOmMe 1aXeS . . . ottt ittt et e e e e
Prepaid expenses and other curment assets . .. .. ... ... ..ttt i
Construction in progress and land expected to be sold in sale-leaseback transaction. . . .

Total CUMTENt A58 . . . . . o ittt it ittt ettt et e e e
Property and equipment, net . . . . .. ... e
GoodWill, et . . i e e e e e e e e e e e e
Other intangibles, net. . .. .. o e e
OREr A8S8IS, MBL . . . . it it it e e e e et e

Total assets . . .o . i i e e e

Current liabilities
Accounts payable. . ... ... . e e
Accrued liabilities . . ... . .. e e e s
Purchase consideration due to stockholders . .. .. . ... ... . ... L i .
Client advances, CUrTent POTUOM. . . . 4 vt v v v vt ma e e et ot i et e e e ae e s
Incometaxes payable . . . .. ... L e e e
Line of credit, current portion . . . . ... ... e
Capital lease obligations and notes payable, current portion
Liabilities associated with assets heldforsale . . .. ...... ... ... ... ... . ... ..
Liabilities from discontinued operations . . . ... ... .. ... . . i i i

Total current Habilities
Clent AdVaANCES. . . . .ttt e e e e e e s
Defermed INCOME taXES . . .. oottt ittt i st sttt s
Line of credit . . ..ot e e e e
Capital lease obligations and notes payable
2.25% Convertible senior notes payable, due 2024
Minority interest in joint venture. . .. ... .. ... L i e
Commitments and CONUNZENCIES . . . . v v ittt e et e ie e e ee e e i i i ns
Stockholders' equity

Preferred stock. $0.10-par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized, none issued . . ..... ...
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 40,000,000 shares authorized, 18,546,203 shares and
18,493,364 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 . ... ..
Additional paid-in capital . .. ... .. e s
Retained earnings
Deferred COMPERSAtion . . . . .. ottt et o e it et i i s
Accumulated other comprehensive earnings
Common stock held in treasury, at cost, zero shares and 606,300 shares held at
December 31, 2006 and 2003, respectively

Total stockholders’ equity .......... .. . e e
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity . ....... ... ... ...

The accompanying noles arc an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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December 31, December 31,
2006 2005
{Revised)

$ 45,331,484

$ 30,668,417

$ 10,312,359

8,422,699 8,166,285
109,187,958 91,446,190
— 7,140,087

— 203,644
4,204,977 662,615
9,050,043 11,826,916
15,851,034 . 2,528,343
7,176,506 56,787,078
199,224,701 209,429,575
52,234,890 46,035,118
266972827 274849217
29,196,942 32,179,818
8,371,178 10,043,368
$556,000,538  $572,537,096

$ 7071815

31,756,070 20,810,511
— 2,000,000
67,857,356 67,518,528
2,398,991 —
— 17,000,000
3,036,407 3,032,318
15,851,034 —
4,195,262 9,000,389
135,407.479 126,434,061
2,785.888 3,721,705
2,202,096 11,159,298
9,400,000 —
2,815.862 4,439,794
143,750,000 143,750,000
1,560,106 750,63%
18,546 18,493
236,540,036 242,353,059
12,636,265 48,660,835
—_ {531,408}
8,884,260 4224147
— (12,443,527)
258,079,107 282,281,599
$556,000,538  $572,537,096




PHARMANET DEVELOPMENT GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006, 2005 AND 2004

Twelve Months Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
(Revised) (Revised)
Net revenue
DIreCt TeVENUE . . . . o o e, $302,384,611  $269,622415  $101,228,596
Reimbursed ont-of-pockets. .. ... ... ... ... .. ... 104,570,757 91,883,814 10,665,311
Total netrevenue . . ... 406,955,368 361,506,229 111,893,907
Costs and expenses
DAreCE COSES . . . ottt e e e 181,556,250 155,900,530 56,249,713
Reimbursable out-of-pocket expenses . ... ............ 104,570,757 91,883,814 10,665,311
Selling, general and administrative expenses . .. ........ 00,949,443 83,877,730 29,948,896
Impairment of goodwill .. ... ... ... ... ... ... 1,873,000 — —
Total costs and expenses. ........... R 393,949,450 331,662,074 96,863,920
Earnings from continuing operations . . . ............ 13,005,918 29,844,155 15,029,987
Other income (expense)
Interest inCOME . . ... vttt it e i i 1,635,771 890,646 1,345,872
Interest exXpense . . . .. ... .. (8,114,581) (12,016,506) (2,690,995}
Foreign exchange transaction loss, net ... ............ (3,341,930) {849,108) (1,988,858)
Total other income {(expense) .................... (9,820,740) (11,974,968) (3,333,981)
Earnings from continuing operations before income
BAXES v ot ettt e e e 3,185,178 17,869,187 11,696,006
Income tax expense (benefit) . ... .. ... ... ... .. .. ... (3,557,552) 153,606 368,496
Earnings from continuing operations before minority :
interest in joint venture. . . ., . e e e 6,742,730 17,715,581 11,327,510
Minority interest in joint venture . . ... ... ... ......... 690,527 552,401 325,942
Net earnings from continuing operations . . ... ....... 6,052,203 17,163,180 11,001,568
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax . . .. (42,076,773) (12,384,375 8,657,323
Net earnings (10sS). . ... .. .ot $(36,024,570y % 4,778,805 § 19,658,891
Basic earnings (loss) per share: :
Continuing operations . . ......................... $ 033 §% 097 % 0.73
Discontinued operations . . . . ... ... ... ... ... ... ... $ 231 §$ (0.70) $ 0.58 -
Net earnings (10SS). . . ... .ottt i $ . (198) % 027 § 1.31
Diluted earnings (loss) per share: -
Continuing operations ........................... $ 033 3% 094 % 0.70
Discontinued operations . . ... ... . e $ (2.28) % 0.68) § 0.55
Net earnings (10ss) . . ... ..ot $ (195 §% 026 % 1.25
Sharles used in computing earnings (loss) per share:
BasiC. ... e e e s 18,221,418 17,701,810 15,047,245
Diluted . ... ... . e e e 18,447,048 18,356,030 15,753,815

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PHARMANET DEVELOPMENT GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006, 2005 AND 2004

2006 2005 2004
{Revised) (Revised)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings (J0SS) . . . o v vttt s $(36.024,570) § 4,778,805 § 19658891
Loss (earnings) from discontinued operations . . .. ... ..o .. 42,076,773 12,384,375 {8,657,323)
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to net cash provided by operating
acuvities:
Depreciation and amortization . . .. ... ... .. e 14,415,409 14,476,453 5,184,869
Amonrization and write-offs of deferred debt issuance costs . ... ... ... .. 2,826,529 5,066,597 501,152
Impairment of goodwill .. ... ... ... ... ... .. 7.873,000 — -
Loss on disposal of property and equipment . . .. ....... ... ... 159,628 141,664 39116
MINOMTY IIIEIESL . . o o ot e et e e e e e 690,527 552,401 325942
Provision forbaddebts. ... ... ... . 2,278,512 569,384 417,15t
Noncash compensation — reduction of note receivable . . ... ........ .. 200,000 200,000 200,000
Share-based compensation expense . . ... ... ... oo 4,275,203 460,998 168,449
Tax benefit resulting from exercise of stock options . . . .............. — 4612417 1,120,232
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable . . .. ... e (20,020,280) (18,581,343) (7,207,969)
Income tax receivable . . . . .. ... L e 6,688,021 (143,967) 1,392,796
Prepaid expenses and other current assets . .. ... ... ... ... 2,776,873 (5,976,445) 153,326
Other a8Sets . . .o vt e e (733.433) (1.105,167) 326,731
Acconnts payable . . . ... 3,240,544 (4,492,344 1,104,863
Accrued habilities .. ... 8,802,400 6,071,907 2,555,473
Client advances . . ... .. . i i e (596,989) 20,933,801 (965,415)
Income tax payable. . . . ... L — — 520,813
Deferred iNCOME LAXES. - -« oo o v vt e e (8,717.246) {2,094.839) 67,002
Total adjustments. . .. .. ... ... e 24,158,707 20,691,517 5,904,531
Net cash provided by operating activities — continuing operations . . . . 30,210,910 37.854.697 16,906,099
Net cash provided by operating activities — discontinued operations . . . 1,736,783 11,578,415 213,474
Net cash provided by operating activities. . .. ................. 31,947,693 49,433,112 17.119,573
Cash flows from investing activities:
Cash constderation for acquisitions, net of cash received . ... ... ... ... .. — — (250,122,197)
Additional purchase price consideration paid relating to acquisitions. . . .. ... (2,000,000) (5.832.838) (150,000)
Purchase of property and equipment .. . . .. ... . ... i (13,529.132) (11,652,308) (5.358,476)
" Purchase of property and equipment related 1o assets held forsale . . .... ... (13,322,691} (2,528,343) —
Proceeds from the disposal of property and equipment . . ... ... . ... ... .. 12,555 126,280 106,552
Net change in long term investments and marketable securities ... . ..... .. (256,414) 1,569,423 {5.821,441)
Change in loans extended to stockholders . . ... .. .................. — (16,356) 3,582
Net cash used in investing activities — continuing operations. . .. .. .. (29,095,682) (18.334,1427)  (261.341,980)
Net cash provided by {used in) investing activities — discontinued
OPETARIONS . . . . ottt s et e 232,633 (10,307.095) (19,839,658)
Net cash used in investing activities . . . ... oo s (28,863,049 (28.641,237y  (281,181,638)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowingsonlinesof credit _ . ......... ... .. . ... i 8.000,000 66,000,000 15,000,000
Payments on linesof eredit. . . .. ... ... . ... .. . .., (15,600.000) £54,000,000) (10,000,000)
Principal additionsto long term debt .. .. ... ... .. ... ... L — - 9,000,000
Principal payments on long termdebt . . ... ... . oo — (124,000,000) (9.000,000)
Change in capital leasc obligations and notes payable .. ............... (2,711,885 (3,415,937 (2,019,880)
Procceds from sale-leasebuck arrangement. ... ... L L Lo 15,851,034 — —
Proceeds from the issuance of feng termdebt. . .. ... .. ... oL — — 120,000,000
Proceeds from the issuance of convertible seniornotes. . .. .. ........... — — 143,750,000
Debt issue costs atiributable to financing instruments. . . . ... ........... (420,906) (1,291.872) (11,226,762)
Dividend payment made to non-controlling interest . . . ... .............. — (90,842} —
Purchase of treasury stock . . . . ... . L — (12,443,527 (24,952.600)
Proceeds from stock issued under employee stock purchase and option plans . . 5,237,819 2,866,292 1,558,826
Net proceeds from secondary public stock offering . .. ... ............. — 108,049,969 —_—
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities .. ............ 10,356,062 (14,325917) 232,109,584
Net effect of exchange rate changesoncash . .. ... .. ... . . oo 1,222,361 (706,126) 840,614
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents. . .. ... ........ .. ... 14,663,067 5,759,832 (31,111,867)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year . .. .. .................. 30.668,417 24,908,585 56,020,452

Cash and cash equivalemis atend of year . ......... ... .. ... ... ...

$ 45,331,484

3 30668417

$ 24,908,585

The accompanying notes are an integral par of these consolidated financial statements,
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PHARMANET DEVELOPMENT GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006, 2005 AND 2004

2006 2005 2004
(Revised) (Revised)
Supplcmcmal disclosures:
Interest paid . . . .. ... e e e e $5,299.886  $10.,791,781 $ 1,213,063
Income taxes paid . . ... ... $4,165,159  § 4,743,267 $ 2,780,767
Income 1axes recovered. . . . ..t i eeee 39,473,000 § 4482940 $ 1,655.89
Supplememal disclosures of non-cash investing and finance activities:

Fair value of net assets (liabilities} assumed in connection with acquisition of

BUSIIESSES .« o o e e e e 3 — § — % 8,331,630
Additional purchase considerations related to the acquisition of a business. . . . . . $ — 52,000,000 $15,605,255
Common stock issued in connection with acquisition of business or additional

COMSIEration . . . . . oo vt e $ 500,000 3 2,000,000 $19,905,135
Professional fees accrued in connection with acquisition of business . . . . ... ... $ — 3 — % 165,534
Change in the vajuation of identifiable intangible assets related to the acquisition

of AbUSINESS . ... $ —  $2142000 § —
Restricted stock units granted as long term incentive compensation to executives

and board members, . . ... ... $9,325.841  § 1,677,061 3 —
Common stock forfeited in licu of cash puyment related 10 option exercises. . . . . $ — 5 645000 $ 2,269,125
Forfeiture of common stock issued as deferred compensation ... ... ... ... .. $ — % 768,121 3 4804064
Note receivable relicved in lieu of bonus payment . . . .. ... .............. $ 200000 S 200000 $ 200,000
Capital lease obligations incurred . . . ... ... ... .. $1,091.542 S 2,001,104 $ 4,393,230

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PHARMANET DEVELOPMENT GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Balances «— December 31, 2003

Comprehensive eamings:
Neteamings. . ..o v vn o e
Foreign currency translation

Total comprehensive camings
[ssuance of common stock in connection
with exercise of stock options and
warrants
[ssuance of common stock as additional
purchase consideration for CPA
eamout
Issuance of common siock in connection
with Taylor Technology acquisition . .
Issuance of commeon stock in connection
with PharmaNet acquisitien. . . . ...
Stock options granted in connection

with PharmaNet acquisition. . . . . ..
Amortization of restricted common
stock issued as deferred
compensation
Forfeiture of restricted common stock
issued as deferred compensation . . . .
Repurchase and retirement of common
stock
Tax benefit resulting from the exercise
of stock options. . . .. ........ .
Balances — December 31, 2004
Comprehensive eamings:
Neteamings. . ... ... vn s
Foreign currency translation

Total comprehensive eamings
Issuance of common stock in connection
with exercise of stock options and
warrants
Issuance of commeon stock in connection
with Employee Stock Purchase
Plan
Proceeds from issuance of common
stock in connection with public
offering. . ......... .. ... ...
Costs related to public offering
Stock opiions granted in connection
with PharmaNet acquisition. . . . . . .
Issuance of common stock as additional
purchase consideration for CPA
eamoul
Issuance of restricted common stock as
deferred compensation. . . . ... ...
Amortization of restricted common
stock issued as deferred
compensation
Forfeiture of restricted common stock
issued as deferred compensation . . . .
Repurchasc of commen stock
Tax bencfit resuliing from exercise of

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006, 2005 AND 2004
. ’ Accumulated C
- 2 Additional Retained Oth: Stock
Commaon Stock I:‘nid:r:'lﬂ E:rnings Deferred Cnmme::nsive Hl.'l‘:ic in .
Shares Pur Value Capltul {Deficit) Compensation Earnings Treasury Total

14,985,833  $14,986 $123.854,436 $24,223,139 § (732,380) $2.583,091 3 - $149,943,272
—_ —_ —_ 19,658,891 —_ — - 19,658,891
—_ — - -— — 3,013,122 _ 3,013,122
22,672,013
447,135 447 1,558,379 — — — - 1,538,826
75,354 75 1,999,925 — — —_ —_ 2,000,000
133,595 134 3.820,683 — — —_ _ 3,820,817
258,971 259 10,075,227 —_ —_ —_ —_ 10,075,486
—_ —_ 6,008,832 —_ —_ —_ —_ 6,008,832
-— —_ - —_ 168 449 _ _ 168,449
(27,000} @n (480,437) — 480,464 —_ —_ —
(820,000} (820) (24,951,780) —_ —_ —_ —  (24,952,600)
—_ — 1,120,232 —_ — — —_ 1,120,232
15,053,888 515054 $123.005497 543882030 § (B3457) $5596.213 § — $172,415,327
— —_ — 4,778,805 —_ — — 4,778,805
_ _ —_ —_ —_ (1,372,066) —_ {1,372,066)
3,406,739
232,408 232 1,212,674 — — — —_ 1,212,906
55,039 55 1,653,333 — —_ — — 1,653,388
3,078,000 3,078 110,210,702 — — — — 110,213,780
_— — (2,163,811) _ — - _ (2,163.811)
—_ —_ 913,382 —_ — —_ —_ 913,382
53,740 54 1,999,946 — — —_— — 2,000,000
52,115 52 1,677,008 —_ (1,677.060) —_ —_ —_
—_ — —_ — 460,998 — — 460,998
(31,826} {32) {768,089 —_ 768,121 —_ —_ —_
— —_ —-— _— -— —_ (12,443,527)  (12,443,527)
—_ — 4,612,417 _ — — — 4,612,417

stock options

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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PHARMANET DEVELOPMENT GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY — (Continued)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006, 2005 AND 2004

Accumulated C
_M Agg;gﬂ:al g:tr:il:‘:; Deferred Com;?:lf:nsive lf:ll:‘ldl‘n
Shares Par Value Capital (Deflcit) Compensation Earnings Treasury Total

Balances — December 31,2005 . .. .. 18493364 518,493 $242,353,059 §48,660,835- § (531.408) $4.224,147  $(12,443,527) $282,281,599
Cumnlative effect adjustments under

SABNo. 108 .. ............. (2,851,057) 2,700,684 (150,373)
Balances at January 1, 2006 as

adjusted . ... ... ... 18493364 $18,493  $239,502,002 548,660,835 $ (531,408) $6924,831 $(12,443,527) $282,131,226
Comprehensive loss:

Netloss .. ................ — -— — (36,024,570} — — —  {36,024,570)

Foreign currency translation . .. ... — — — — — 1,959,429 — 1,959,429

Total comprehensive loss . . .. .. .. (34,065,141)
Issuance of common stock in connection

with exercise of stock options and

WAITANLS - . o o vvo e i e e .04 322 3,662,761 — — — — 3,663,083
[ssuance of common stock in connection

with Employee Stock Purchase

Plan. .. ........ ... .. .. ... 176,021 176 2,331,730 — — — — 2,331,906
Issuance of common stock as additional

purchase consideration for earnout. . . 337111 34 499 966 — — — — 500,000
Issvance of common stock related to

vesting of restricted share and unit

BRARLS . . . . . oL 170,219 170 (170) — — — —_ —
Repurchase and retirement of common

stock related to vesting of restricted

share unit grants . . ..., ... ..., {43,126) (43) (757,127) — — — — (757,170
Share-based compensation expense

recognized on restricted share and

unit GRS . . . — — 3.167.626 — — — — 3,167,626
Share-based compensation expense

recognized with adoption of -

FASI123R . ... ............. - — 1,107,577 — — — — 1,107,577
Adjustment required with adeption of

FASI23R .. ... ... .. ...... — — (531,408) — 531,408 — — —
Retirement of common stock held in

TREASUIY . o v v v e e e (606,300} (606)  (12,442.921) — — — 12,443,527 —
Balances — December 31, 2006 .. ... 18,546,203  $18,546 $236.540,036 $ 12,636,265 $ — $8884260 § — §258,079,107

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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PHARMANET DEVELOPMENT GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE A — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

PharmaNet Development Group, Inc. (the “Company” or “PDGI™} is a leading drug development services
company, providing a broad range of both early and late stage clinical drug development services to branded
pharmaceutical, biotechnology, generic drug and medical device companies around the world. PDGI conducts early
stage clinical trials in North America, manages late stage clinical trials globally, operates bioanalytical and clinical
laboratories and offers a range of complementary services, including data management and biostatistics, medical
and scientific affairs, regulatory affairs and submissions, and clinical information technology services. The
Company has 40 offices and facilities located in 19 countries in North America, Europe, South America, Asia,
and Australia. In 2006, the Company changed its name from SFBC International, Inc. to PharmaNet Development
Group, Inc. References to the Company or PDGI in the Company’s notes to its financial statements include the
Company and its subsidiaries.

Due to the Company’s decision in May 2006 to discontinue operations in Florida, all financial results in this
report reflect the Company’s continuing operations only, unless otherwise stated. Certain prior period amounts have
been revised as a result of the discontinued operations {See Note B Discontinued Operations).

In May 2004, PDGI effected a three-for-two stock split in the form of a 50% stock dividend. All share amounts
and per share amounts have been retroactively adjusted to give effect to the split.

A summary of the Company’s significant accounting policies consistently applied in the preparation of the
accompanying consolidated financial statements follows.

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and revenues and expenses during
the period. Future events and their effects cannot be determined with absolute certainty; therefore, the determination
of estimates requires the exercise of judgment. Actual results inevitably will differ from those estimates, and such
differences may be material to the Company’s financial statements. Management continually evaluates its estimates
and assumptions, which are based on historical experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances.

Management believes that the following may involve a higher degree of judgment or complexity.

Revenue and Cost Recognition

The Company records revenue from contracts, other than time-and-material contracts, on a proportional
performance basis. To measure performance on a given date, the Company compares effort expended through that
date to estimated total effort to complete the contract. The Company believes this is the best indicator of the
performance of the contractual obligations because the costs relate primarily to the amount of labor incurred to
perform the service. Changes to the estimated total contract direct costs result in a cumulative adjustment to the
amount of revenue recognized. For time-and-material contracts in the Company’s late stage segment, the Company
recognizes revenue as hours are worked, multiplied by the applicable hourly rate. Contracts may contain provisions
for renegotiation in the event of cost overruns due to changes in the level of work scope. Renegotiated amounts are
included in revenue when the work is performed and realization is assured. Provisions for losses to be incurred on
contracts are recognized in full in the period in which it is determined that a loss will result from performance of the
contractual arrangement. Due to the inherent uncertainties in estimating performance, it is at least reasonably
possible that the estimates used will change in the near term and the change in revenue could be materiai.

Prior to 20035, the Company reported net revenue for its late stage contracts without providing a separate line
item for reimbursed out-of-pockets which consist of travel expenses and other costs. Additionally, the Company has
not reported reimbursable out-of-pocket expenses (which are a direct dollar for dollar offset against reimbursed
out-of-pockets included in net revenue) as a separate direct cost line item because these items were not material.
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PHARMANET DEVELOPMENT GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Due to the acquisition of PharmaNet on December 22, 2004, these amounts became material. The Company now
provides a separate line item for reimbursed out-of-pockets and reimbursable out-of-pocket expenses in its
Statement of Operations. Such amounts were approximately $104.6 million, $91.9 million, and $10.7 million
in 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

Direct costs include all direct costs related to contract performance. Costs are not deferred in anticipation of
contracts being awarded, but instead are expensed as incurred. Changes in job performance and estimated
profitability may result in revisions to costs and income and are recognized in the period in which the revisions
are determined.

Included in accounts receivable are unbilled amounts, which represent revenue recognized in excess of
amounts billed. Client advance billings represent amounts billed in excess of revenue recognized.

Collectibility of Accounts Receivable

The Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts are based on management’s estimates of the creditworthiness
of its clients, analysis of delinquent accounts, the payment histories of the accounts and management’s judgment
with respect to current economic conditions and, in the opinion of management, is believed to be an amount
sufficient to respond to normal business conditions, Management reviews its accounts receivable aging on a regular
basis for past due accounts. Any uncollectible amounts are written off against the allowance.

Management sets reserves for customers based upon historical collection experience, and sets specific reserves
for clients whose accounts have aged significantly beyond this historical collection experience.

Should business conditions deteriorate or any major client default on its obligations to the Company, this
allowance may need to be significantly increased, which would have a negative impact upon the Company’s
operations.

The allowance for doubtful accounts is an estimate established through charges to selling, general and
administrative expenses.

Income Taxes

Significant management judgment is required in developing the Company’s provision for income taxes,
including the determination of foreign tax labilities, deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowances
that might be required against the deferred tax assets. The Company evaluates quarterly its ability to realize its
deferred tax assets and adjusts the amount of its valuation allowance, if necessary. The Company operates within
multiple taxing jurisdictions, and is subject to audit in those jurisdictions. Because of the complex issucs involved,
any claims can require an extended period to resolve. In management’s opinion, adequate provisions for income
taxes have been made.

The Company accounts for income taxes under the liability method according to Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 109. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for future tax consequences
attributabtle to differences between the financial statements carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and
their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply
to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The
Company provides a valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets when it believes that it is more likely than
not that the asset will not be realized.

With regard to earnings from foreign operations, the Company’s policy is to generally retain such earnings in
the country in which they were generated. This permits the Company to reduce the material United States income
tax liabilities which would generally arise upon repatriation of these earnings. No provision has been made for U.S.
taxes on the undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries of approximately $75.8 million and
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$49.3 million as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, as it is anticipated that such earnings will be
permanently reinvested in their respective operations or in other foreign operations. There were $26.5 million,
$24.6 million, and $12.2 million in foreign net earnings in 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

Impairment of Assets

The Company reviews long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles held and used for possible
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable. In evaluating the fair value and future benefits of its long-lived assets, management performs an
analysis of the anticipated undiscounted future net cash flows of the individual assets over the remaining
depreciation or amortization period. The Company recognizes an impairment loss if the carrying value of the
asset exceeds the expected future cash flows. :

Each year, the Company performs a test for impairment of goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangibte
assets. This test is performed by comparing, at the reporting unit level, the carrying value of goodwill to its fair
value. The Company assesses fair value based upon its best estimate of the present value of future cash flows that it
expects to generate by the reporting unit. The Company’s annual fair value assessment is performed each
December 31st on subsidiaries with material goodwill on their respective balance sheets. However, changes in
expectations as to the present value of the reporting unit’s future cash flows might impact subsequent years’
assessments of impairment.

Goodwill

On an annual basis, management assesses the composition of the Company’s assets and liabilities, as well as
the events that have occurred and the circumstances that have changed since the most recent fair value determi-
nation. If events occur or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of goodwill
below its carrying amount, goodwill will be tested for impairment. The Company will recognize an impairment
charge if the carrying value of the asset exceeds the fair value determination. In 2006, the Company recorded a
writedown of $7.9 million related to its carly stage segment.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company has granted stock options to its employees at exercise prices equal to or greater than the fair
value of the shares at the date of grant and accounted for these stock option grants in accordance with APB Opinion
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25"). Under APB 25, when stock options are issued
with an exercise price equal to the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant, no compensation
expense is recognized in the statement of operations. Because the Company recognized that APB 25 was in the
process of being rescinded, in 2004 it amended its stock option plan to provide for the granting of restricted stock
and other forms of equity compensation in addition to stock options. The Company adopted Financial Accounting
Standards Board Statement No. 123 (Revised), “Share-Based Payment” (**Statement 123R”), as of January 1, 2006,
the Company recognized an expense for the fair value of its unvested outstanding stock options and for the discount
portion of the Company’s ESPP plan. The Company adopted Statement 123R using the prospective method. The
prospective option requires that compensation expense be recorded for all unvested stock options and restricted
stock at the beginning of the first quarter of adoption of Statement 123R. The transition method requires
management to make accounting estimates.

OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its wholly-owned subsidiaries and
the 49%-owned Spanish joint venture which the Company controls. For the year ended December 31, 2006 and as of
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the date of this report, our significant subsidiaries include PharmaNet, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“PharmaNet”),
Anapharm, Inc. (*Anapharm”), Taylor Technology, Inc. (“Taylor”), PharmaNet Specialized Pharmaceutical
Services, Inc. {formerly known as SFBC New Drug Services, Inc.) (“NDS”) and Keystone Analytical, Inc.
(“Keystone Labs™). PharmaNet's earnings from operations during the period from December 22, 2004 to
December 31, 2004 were considered immaterial and have been excluded from the Company’s consolidated results
for the year ended December 31, 2004. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated
in consolidation. '

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a purchased maturity of three months or less to be
cash and cash equivalents, including money market funds.

Investment in Marketable Securities

The Company classifies its investments in debt securities as available-for-sale in accordance with SFAS 115,
“Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.” Investments classified as available-for-sale are
carried at fair value based on quoted market prices. The estimated fair value of securities for which there are no
quoted market prices is based on similar types of securities that are traded in the market. The unrealized holding
gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities is reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive
operations. As of December 31, 2006 and 2003, the unrealized gain/loss on investments in marketable securitics
was not material. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company had approximately $8.4 million and
$8.2 million, respectively, in investments in marketable securities.

Cost is determined on an average cost per unit basis for determining realized gains and losses. In 2006 and
2005, the realized gains/losses were not material.

The Company continually reviews its investments to determine whether a decline in fair value below the cost
basis is other than temporary. If the decline in fair value is judged to be other than temporary, the cost basis of the
security i§ written down to fair value and the amount of the write-down is included in the consolidated statement of
earnings. There were no such write-downs in 2006 and 2005.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is recorded at cost. Expenditures for major improvements and additions are charged to
the asset accounts while replacements, maintenance and repairs which do not improve or extend the lives of the
respeclive assets are charged to expense as incurred. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method based
upon the estimated useful lives of the assets. The range of useful lives is as follows:

Building .......... ... ... .. ool 40 years

Furniture and fixtures. .. ......... ... ... .. 7 years

Machinery, equipment and software . ......... 3-7 years

Leasehold improvements . ................. Shorter of remaining life of asset or remaining

term of the lease (average 3.25 years) .

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, the Company is required to perform an annual
impairment test of its goodwill and indefinite-lived intangibles. On an annual basis, management assesses the
composition of the Company’s assets and liabilities, as well as the events that have occurred and the circumstances
that have changed since the most recent fair vaiue determination. If events occur or circumstances change that

.would more likely than not reduce the fair value of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangibles below their carrying
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amounts, they will be tested for impairment. The Company will recognize an impairment charge if the carrying
value of the asset exceeds the fair value determination. The impairment test that the Company has selected
historically consisted of a ten year discounted cash flow analysis including the determination of a terminal value,
and requires management to make various assumptions and estimates including revenue growth, future profitability,
peer group comparisons, and a discount rate which management believes are reasonable.

The impairment test involves a two-step approach. Under the first step, the Company determines the fair value
of each reporting subsidiary to which goodwill has been assigned. The Company then compares the fair value of
each reporting subsidiary to its carrying value, including goodwill. The Company estimates the fair value of each
reporting subsidiary by estimating the present value of the reporting subsidiaries future cash flows. If the fair value
exceeds the carrying value, no impairment loss is recognized. If the carrying value exceeds the fair value, the
goodwill of the reporting unit is considered potentially impaired and the second step is completed in order to
measure the impairment loss.

Under the second step, the Company calculates the implied fair value of goodwill by deducting the fair value of
all tangible and intangible net assets, including any unrecognized intangible assets, of the reporting unit from the
fair value of the reporting unit, as determined in the first step. The Company then compares the implied fair value of
goodwill to the carrying value of goodwill. If the implied fair value of goodwill is less than the carrying value of
goodwill, the Company recognizes an impairment loss equal to the difference.

The Company has completed both annual and interim tests during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005
and 2004. These tests indicated that the fair value of the goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets were
equivalent to or greater than the recorded value as of December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004; therefore, no
adjustment has been made to the carrying value of the goodwill in the Company’s financial statements.

In June 2006, the Company recorded an impairment charge in continuing operations of approximately
$7.9 million related to Clinical Pharmacology Services, a division of NDS (“CPS”), which provides data
management and biostatistical services. While CPS contributed to earnings from operations for the first half of
2006, the outlook for the remainder of the year and future periods was significantly reduced because a large portion
of CPS revenues related to projects being conducted at the Miami and Ft. Myers subsidiaries that the Company has
discontinued.

The Company completed its annual test on December 31, 2006 for its Taylor, Anapharm and PharmaNet
subsidiaries. The remaining goodwill of CPS of $4,490,851 was combined with PharmaNet for impairment testing
purposes, because CPS has been under the operational control of PharmaNet since July 2006 and will be aperating
as a late stage division effective January 1, 2007. These tests indicated that the fair value of the goodwill and other
indefinite-lived intangible assets were equivalent to or greater than the recorded value, no adjustment has been inade
to the carrying value of the goodwill in the Company’s financial statements.

As of December 31, 2006, the Company had total net consolidated goodwill of $266,972,827, which includes
314,251,041 of goodwiil retated to the acquisition of Taylor Technology, Inc. on July 23, 2004 and $228,109.654 of
goodwill related to the PharmaNet acquisition on December 22, 2004. The remaining goodwill is primarily related
to acquisitions of Anapharm and NDS in 2002 which were 316,808,904 and $4,490,851, respectively, as of
December 31, 2006, Keystone Labs had $3,312,377 of non-amortizable goodwill as of December 31, 2006.
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[n connection with adopting SFAS 142, the Company also reassessed the useful lives and the classifications of

its identifiable intangible assets and determined that they continue to be appropriate. The carrying amount of
goodwill is as follows:

Goodwill, net at December 31, 2004, . . .. ... ... ... e $268,386,604
Revaluation of separately identifiable intangible assets related to PharmaNet

ACQUISTEION . . o . Lot e e 2,142,000
Earnout relating to NDS acquisition . .. ... .. ... o i 2,000,000
Other adjusUMEnNES . . .. oottt e e i 2,320,613
Goodwill, net at December 31,2005, . . . .. .o $274,849,217
Goodwill impairment . . ......... ... ... . e e e (7,873,000)
Foreign exchange translation adjustment. . ........ ... ... oo {3,390)
Goodwill, net at December 31, 3006, . . .. ... it e $266,972,827

The components of the Company’s intangible assets are approximately as follows:

December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005
Weighted Average Gross Gross
Amortization Period Carrying Accumnulated Carrying Accumulated
(Years) Amount Amortization Amount Amortization

Intangible assets subject to

amortization:
Internally-developed _

software . ............. 5.0 $ 454000 $ (221,386) $ 454,000 $ (130,586)
Subject Database . ... ...... 40 900,000 (900,000) 900,000 (843.,750)
Contracts and customer

relationships. . .. ...... .. 2.5 1,192,000 (1,192,000) 1,192,000 (1,039,216}
Methodologies. .. ......... 4.1 2,568,000 (2,134,026} 2,568,000 (1,945,878)
Technology .. ............ 5.0 3,859,000 (1,562,895) 3,859,000 (791,095)
Employment and non-compete

agreements ............ 34 12,077,000 (3,892,751) 12,077,000 (2,169,657)
Subtotal . ............... 21,050,000 (9,903,058) 21,050,000 (6,920,182)
Intangible assets not subject to

amortization. . ... ... ....
Trade mames . . ........... — 18,050,000 — 18,050,000 —
Total, .................. $39,100,000  $(9,903,058) $39,100,000  $(6,920,182)

Amortization expense for intangible assets during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 was
approximately $2,983,000, $3,933,000, and $1,166,000, respectively. The following table provides information
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regarding estimated amortization expense for intangible assets subject to amertization for each of the following
years ending December 31:

2007 L e e e e e e e e § 2,755,000
0 2 2,755,000
2000 . e e e s 2,622,000
.00 1 1,603,000
200 L 1,412,000
Thereafter . .. . e e

$11,147,000

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist principally of cash and cash
equivalents, marketable securities and trade receivables, The Company, from time to time, maintains cash balances
with financial institutions in amounts that exceed federally insured limits. As of December 31, 2006, the Company
had $28.6 million deposited with Credit Suisse Group, $4.5 million deposited with Wachovia Bank National
Association and $1.6 million deposited with Bank of America Corporation. The Company’s marketable securities
represent high quality debt obligations. The Company performs services and extends credit based on an evaluation
of the clients’ financial condition without requiring collateral. Exposure to losses on receivables is expected to vary
by client due to the financial condition of each client. The Company monttors exposure to credit losses and
maintains allowances for anticipated losses considered necessary under the circumstances,

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Financial instruments consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, accounts receiv-
able, notes receivable, accounts payable, and notes payable. Al December 31, 2006 and 2003, the fair value of these
instruments approximates the carrying amount of these items due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.
The fair value of the line of credit and notes payable approximates their carrying value as the interest rate
approximates market rates. The fair value of the convertible notes at December 31, 2006 and 2005 was approx-
imately 92% and 76%, respectively, of par value based on the current market trading price.

Earnings Per Share

The Company applies Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128, “Earnings Per Share” which
requires dual presentation of net earnings per share, basic and diluted. Basic earnings per share are computed using
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is
computed by increasing the denominator to include the number of additional common shares that would have been
outstanding if the dilutive potential common shares had been issued. Included in diluted shares are common stock
equivalents relating to stock options and restricted stock units with a dilutive effect of 225,630, 654,220, and
706,570 shares of common stock for the years ended December 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

In May 2004, PDGI effected a three-for-two stock split in the form of a 50% stock dividend. All share amounts
and per share amounts have been retroactively adjusted to give effect to the split.

Common stock equivalents representing stock options and restricted share units of 642,938, 908,245, and
1,007,447 shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004,
respectively, were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the options” exercise prices
were greater than the annual average market price of the Company’s commen stock during the year and thus their
inclusion would be anti-dilutive.
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In August and September 2004, the Company sold $143.75 million of its 2.25% convertible senior notes due
2024 (the “Convertible Senior Notes™). If the average stock price of the Company’s common stock during a
reporting period is greater than $41.08, then shares reserved for issuance on possible conversion of its outstanding
Convertible Senior Notes will be included in calculating diluted shares outstanding in an amount equal to the
difference between the “conversion amount” and the outstanding principal amount divided by $41.08. The
conversion amount is, for this purpose, the outstanding principal amount divided by $41.08 multiplied by the
average stock price during the period. For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, there were *zero”
shares included in diluted shares outstanding attributable to the Convertible Senior Notes since the average share
price for each period was less than $41.08.

Simultaneously with the offering of its 2.25% Convertible Senior Notes, the Company repurchased and retired
820,000 shares of our common stock at $30.43 per share.

In November 2005, PDGI announced that its Board of Directors had approved the repurchase of common stock
totaling up to $30.0 million. A total of 606,300 shares were purchased in November and December 2005 at an
average price of $20.49. These treasury shares were retired in March 2006. The purchase of future treasury shares is
restricted to a maximum of $10.0 million pursuant to the terms of the Company’s current credit facility, as amended
and restated from time fo time (the “Credit Facility™), and the attainment of certain operating covenants which may
further restrict the amount of treasury stock that can be repurchased.

Share-based Compensation

Through the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company followed the disclosure-only provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, (“SFAS 1237),
and. accordingly, accounted for awards under these plans pursuant to the recognition and measurement principles of
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, (“APB 257) and related
Interpretations, as permitted by SFAS 123. Under APB 25, compensation expense was recognized in the financial
statements relating to awards of stock. However, no compensation expense was recorded in the financial statements
for employee stock option grants, as all options have been granted with an exercise price equal to or greater than the
market value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. Additionally, no compensation expense was
recorded in the financial statements for shares purchased by employees under the Company’s Employee Stock
Purchase Plan as that plan was considered to be non-compensatory under APB 25.

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R, Share-Based Payment, (“SFAS 123R") using the modified prospective
transition method. SFAS 123R revises SFAS 123, supersedes APB 25 and amends Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows. Under the modified prospective transition method,
compensation expense is recognized in the financial statements on a go forward basis for (a) all share-based
payments granted prior to, but not vested as of January 1, 2006, based upon the grant-date fair value estimated in
accordance with APB 25, and (b) share-based payments granted on or subsequent to January 1, 2006, based upon the
grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R. The grant-date fair value of awards
expected to vest is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the related awards. Under the
modified prospective transition method, results for prior periods are not restated.

As a result of the adoption of SFAS 123R, the year ended December 31, 2006 includes incremental share-based
compensation expense for unvested stock options and the Company’s employee stock purchase plan of approx-
imately $1.1 million.

Amounts previously recorded as deferred compensation within stockholders’ equity on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets were reclassified to additional paid-in capital as of January 1, 2006. In addition, prior to the adoption
of SFAS No. 123R, the Company presented the excess tax benefits of stock option exercises as operating cash flows.
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Upon adoption of SFAS No. 123R, excess tax benefits resulting from tax deductions in excess of the compensation
cost recognized for those options are classified as financing cash flows.

The Company’s net earnings for 2005 and 2004 would have been changed to the pro forma amounts indicated
below had compensation cost for the stock options issued to employees been determined based on SFAS 123..

The following pro forma disclosures may not be representative of the effects on reported net earnings for future
years due. During 2006, the Company did not grant any stock options. As such, compensation expense related to
unvested previously issued options is recorded in the statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2006
and accordingly, proforma disclosures are required only for previous years.

2005 2004
Net earnings from continuing operations:
ASTEPOTted . . ... $17,163,180  $11,001,568
Proforma . ....... .. e e 9,322,491 7,019,924
Basic earnings per share:
Asreported ... ... e 3 097 § 0.73
Proforma .. ... . .. . . 0.53 047
Diluted earnings per share:
Asreported . ......... e e $ 094 % 0.70
Proforma ...... ... ... e 0.51 0.45

The weighted-average fair value of options granted during 2006, 2005, and 2004 was $0.00, $9.50, and $14.33 per
option, respectively. '

The Company has used the following assumptions in detertnining the grant-date fair value for its option
awards. The expected term of the option is based upon the contractual term; taking into account expected employee
exercise and expected post-vesting employment termination behavior. The expected volatility of the price of the
underlying stock is based upon the historical volatility of the Company's stock computed over a period of time equal
to the expected term of the option. The risk free interest rate is based upon the implied yields currently available
from the U.8. Treasury zero-coupon yield curve for issues with a remaining duration equal to the expected term of
the option. The fair value of the options granted for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 were estimated by
using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the following assumptions: (i} expected life of the options of three years
for 2005 and 2004, (ii) expected volatility in the market price of the Company’s common stock of 60% for 2005 and
2004, (iii) no expected dividends, and (iv) a risk free interest rate of 4% in 2005 and 3% in 2004.

Generally, options granted by the Company vest over a three year period. Historically, these options expired in
10 years or three months after separation of service, whichever occurs earlier. In August 2005, the Company
accelerated the vesting of 462,059 options granted to 15 key PharmaNet employees. Notwithstanding this, these
employees may not sell the underlying common stock prior to the original vesting dates, except to the extent
necessary to pay the exercise price. The Company believed that because the options which were accelerated had
exercise prices in excess of the current fair market value of the Company’s common stock, the options had limited
economic value and were not fully achieving their original objective of incentive compensation and employee
retention and the acceleration may have a positive effect on employee morale. The acceleration enabled the
Company to reduce its compensation expense associated with these options in future periods in the Company’s
consolidated statements of operations upon adoption of Statement 123R on January 1, 2006. The acceleration of the
vesting of these options did not result in any compensation expense in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States.

. F-18




PHARMANET DEVELOPMENT GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —- (Continued)

In 2005 continuing through 2006, the Company began issuing restricted stock and restricted stock units in lieu
of stock options. No stock options were issued in 2006. For the year ended 2006, the Company granted a total of
485,632 restricted shares and RSUs.

In connection with the appointment of Jeffrey P. McMullen to serve as president and chief executive officer of
the Company, on May 9, 2006, the Company granted 62,461 RSUs with 10,410 RSUs vesting on each Decem-
ber 31st and June 30th during the remainder of the term of the employment agreement, subject to employment with
PDGI on the applicable vesting date. The value of the 62,461 RSUs amounted to $1.5 million. This amount is being
amortized ratably, over a three year period commencing on grant date. Mr. McMullen shall also receive a grant of
60,000 RSUs which shall vest only if PDGI rheets or exceeds certain performance conditions. If the 2008
performance condition is met, the RSUs vest upon filing the Form 10-K of PDGI with the Securities and Exchange
Commission for the year ending December 31, 2008. For the year ended December 31, 2006, no compensation
expense has been recorded on these 60,000 RSUs, and they have not been included in earnings per share as of
December 31, 2006 as the contingencies have not been met and it is not probable at this time that the condition will
be met. In consideration of the foregoing grants of RSUs, Mr. McMullen agreed to surrender options to purchase
135,000 shares of common stock previously granted to him in December 2004.

Additionally in connection with:

+ the appointment of John P. Hamill to serve as Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer
and Secretary of the Company on August 24, 2006, he received an immediate grant of 21,000 RSUs which
vest in equal increments on December 31st and June 30th over three (3) years and an immediate grant of
25,000 RSUs which vests only if the Company meets or exceeds the 2008 performance conditions as
established by the Company’s Compensation Commitiee. As of December 31, 2006, no compensation
expense has been recorded on these 25,000 RSUs, and they have not been included in earnings per share as of
December 31, 2006 as the contingencies have not been met and it is not probable at this time that the
condition will be met.

* the appointment of Dr. Thomas J. Newman to serve as Executive Vice President, Late Stage Development of
the Company, on August 24, 2006, Dr. Newman received an immediate grant of 10,000 RSUs which shall
vest on December 31st and June 30th over three years.

+ as previously disclosed, in accordance with the Company’s 2006 compensation for non-employee directors,
on August 24, 2006, the Company issued to each non-employee director $125,000 worth of the Company’s
RSUs which amount is based upon the Company’s closing stock price on August 24, 2006 of $17.25. In
addition, as previously disclosed, the Company also issued $62,500 worth of RSUs to the Chairman of the
Board of Directors as consideration for serving in that capacity. As such, based upon those dollar amounts,
each of the four non-employee directors received 7,246 RSUs, which shall vest in equal increments on
December 31st and the date of the Company’s next annual meeting. Based upon the dollar amount stated
above, the Company’s Chairman received 3,623 RSUs which have the same vesting schedule. All director
RSU grants are being amortized on a straight line basis from grant date to June 2006,

As of December 31, 2006, there was approximately $6.7 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to
unvested restricted stock and RSUs, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of
approximately 1.8 years. As of December 31, 2005, the remaining unamortized compensation for restricted shares
and RSUs was reflected as a separate component as a reduction of stockholders’ equity. In conjunction with the
adoption of SFAS No. 123R, the unrecognized compensation was reclassified as a reduction of additional paid-in
capital.

On June 21, 2004, PDGI’s stockholders approved the 2004 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”)
permitting eligible participants (excluding executive officers) to purchase up te 150,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock. The ESPP permits employees who are employed for at least 20 hours per week and who have been

F-19



PHARMANET DEVELOPMENT GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

so employed for at least three months continucusly by PDGI or one of its designated subsidiaries the option of
purchasing common stock from PDGI at a 15% discount from the lower of the fair market value of such shares at the
beginning of an offering period or the fair market value of such shares at the end of the offering period. Each
offering period (except the initial period) is six months. Each eligible employee is granted an option to purchase
such shares at the beginning of each offering period. In May 2005, PDGI’s stockholders approved an amendment to
the ESPP which increased the total number of shares of the Company’s common stock available under the ESPP to
250,000 shares. In August 2006, PDGI’s stockholders approved an amendment to the ESPP which increased the
totai number of shares of the Company’s common stock available under the ESPP to 450,000 shares. The ESPP is
intended to qualify under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. As of December 31, 2006 and
December 31, 2003, there were 231,060 shares and 55,039 shares, respectively, issued under the ESPP.

Legal Costs

Legal costs are expensed as incurred and are included in selling, general, and administrative expenses. For the
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, the Company expensed $3,351,669, $1,944,894, and $791,896,
respectively, related to legal matters.

Advertising Expenses

The Company records advertising expenses as incurred. Advertising expenses for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2006, 2003, and 2004 amounted to $3,679.029, $3,808,943, and $1,581,685, respectively. Of these amounts,
31,078,591, $1,531,646, and $1,353,561, respectively, of advertising expense is reflected as a component of direct
costs in the statements of operations and the remaining amount is reflected in selling, general, and administrative
expenses in the statement of operations.

Comprehensive Earnings

Comprehensive earnings is defined as the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from
transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources, including foreign currency translation
adjustments.

Foreign Currency Translation

At the Company’s foreign operations where the local currency is the functional currency, assets and liabilities
are translated into United States dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the end of the applicable reporting period.
Revenue and expenses of the Company’s foreign operations is translated at the average exchange rate during the
period. The aggregate effect of the Company’s currency translation adjustments on its foreign operations is included
in a separate component of stockholders’ equity entitled “Accumulated Other Comprehensive Earnings,” Trans-
action gains and losses are recognized currently in the statement of operations. For the years ended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company had losses of $3,342,000, $849,000 and $1,989,000, respectively, from foreign
currency transactions. Due to the acquisition of PharmaNet (See Note L Business Combinations) which has
locations worldwide, the Company is now subject to exchange rate gains or losses for multiple currencies.

Volume Rebates

The Company accrues for volume rebates offered to clients when services are performed and the provisions are
periodically adjusted to reflect actual experiences. Volume rebates are presented on the statement of operations as a
reduction in revenue.
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Reclassifications

Certain prior year balances have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation as a result of the
Company’s discontinued operations,

New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Interpretation Number 48
(“FIN 48"), “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109.” The
interpretation contains a two-step approach to recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions accounted for in
accordance with SFAS No. 109. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for recognition by determining if the
weight of available evidence indicates it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit, including
resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The second step is to measure the tax benefit as the
largest amount which is more than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The interpretation is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company is in the process of analyzing the impact
this interpretation will have on its financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and disclosures. However,
management does not believe that the adoption of this interpretation will have a material effect on the Company’s
financial position and statement of operations.

The FASB has recently issued statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157 (“SFAS 1577} in order to
measure fair value more clearly and provide guidance when its use is required by another standard. SFAS 157
indicates that a fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell an asset or transfer a liability occurs in
the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a principal market, the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal market is the market in which the reporting entity would sell the asset or
transfer the liability with the greatest volume and level of activity for the asset.

The Company will be required to adopt SFAS 157, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2007, no later than the quarter beginning January 1, 2008. PDGI is currently in the process of
evaluating SFAS 157 and has not yet determined the impact, if any, SFAS 157 will have on its consolidated results of
operations or financial position.

In September 2006, the SEC staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108 (“SAB 108™) “Considering the
Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements.”
SAB 108 established an approach that requires quantification of financial statement misstatements based on the
effects of the misstatement on each of the Company’s financial statements and the related disclosures. SAB 108
allows registrants to initially apply the approach either by (1) retroactively adjusting prior financial statements as if
the approach had always been used or (2} recording the cumulative effect of initially applying the approach as
adjlistments to the carrying values of assets and liabilities as of January 1, 2006 with the related offset recorded to
the opening balance of retained eamings. The Company decreased Stockholders” Equity by approximately
$150,000 on January 1, 2006 as a result of adopting SAB 108. The transition provisions of SAB 108 permit
the Company to adjust for the cumulative effect on Stockholders’ Equity of adjustments relating to prior years that,
under our previous approach of evaluating financial statement misstatements, were immaterial. This decrease in
Stockholders’ Equity consists of a decrease of approximately $2.85 million due to an overstatement of deferred tax
assets related to stock options exercises, and an increase of approximately $2.7 million due to the overstatement of
deferred tax expense on accumulated other comprehensive earnings and related deferred tax liabilities that
commenced in 2002 with the acquisition of Anapharm, These adjustments impacted the balance sheet and the
statement of changes in stockholders’ equity.

A variety of proposed or otherwise potential accounting standards are currently under study by standard-setting
organizations and various regulatory agencies. Because of the tentative and preliminary nature of these proposed
standards, management has not determined whether implementation of such proposed standards would be material
to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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Investments

On Qctober 24, 2003, the Company entered into an agreement to establish a Spanish company that operates a
bioanalytical iaboratory in Barcelona, Spain and provides services to the European market. The Company owns
49% of the Spanish company and has an option to purchase an additional 2% of that entity. As the Company has
control over this entity, the Company has included the accounts of the entity in the consolidated financial statements
in accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (FIN 46). The
operations of this entity are not material to the Company’s operations and no consolidated assets represent collateral
for the entities obligations. The minority interest in this entity was approximately $1,560,000 and $751,000 as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

NOTE B — DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On May 17, 2006, the Miami-Dade Unsafe Structures Board (“USB”) announced a decision which required
the Company to demolish the Company’s clinical and administrative office building located on Biscayne Bou-
levard, Miami, Florida (See Note I Commitments and Contingencies). As a result of that decision, upon the
recommendation of the Company’s management, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized the closure of
the Company’s operations in Florida consisting of the Company’s Miami and Ft. Myers subsidiaries. Shortly
thereafter, the Company began an orderly completion of its on-going contracts, a transfer of those contracts which
had not been started by third parties, development of a plan for vacating the Miami facilities, the implementation of
a termination program for employees located at those subsidiaries, and other administrative tasks.

As more fully discussed below, in accordance with FASB Statement No, {44 “Accounting for the Impairment
or Disposal of Long-lived Assets”, FASB Statement No. 143 “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations” and
FASB Statement No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities”, the Company
recorded a goodwill impairment charge, assets write-downs of the Miami buildings and equipment, separation
liabilities, the estimated cost to demolish the Miami buildings and costs associated with the cessation of the use of
equipment under operating leases. The assets, including those assets held for sale, liabilities, and the results of
operations and cash flows of the Miami and Ft. Myers subsidiaries are separately reported for all periods presented
as discontinued operations.

Impairment of Goodwill

As of December 31, 2005, the Company determined that the carrying value of the goodwill on its Miami
subsidiary was impaired, due to a material decline in the Miami subsidiary’s revenue, profitability and cash flows.
As aresult, the Company recorded a goodwill impairment charge of approximately $20.3 million during the fourth
quarier of 2005. During the three month period ended March 31, 2006, the Company recorded an additional
impairment charge of $3.5 million to write-off the remaining goodwill associated with Miami operations as a result
of further reduced projected revenue, profitability and cash flow. In addition, theé Company also recorded a goodwill
impairment charge of approximately $0.6 million in the first quarter of 2006 to write-down all of the goodwill
related to the Ft. Myers operations. The impairment charges for Miami and Ft. Myers totaling $4.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2006 have been included in the loss from discontinued operations,

Impairment of Long-lived Assets

As aresult of the further material reduction in the Miami forecast in the first quarter of 2006, the Company also
wroté-down the carrying value of its Miami buildings by approximately $3.0 million to its then estimated fair value.
However, in connection with the Company’s decision to discontinue its Florida operations and the requirement by
the USB to demolish the Company’s buildings located on Biscayne Boulevard, the Company recorded an additional
impairment charge in June 2006 of approximately $11.0 million to write-down the Miami buildings to zero.
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Additionally, the Company recorded a non-cash charge of approximately $4.9 million related to the write-down of
fixed assets which were located at its Florida facilities in Miami and Ft. Myers that would no longer be utilized.

In September 2006, the Company disposed of substantially all remaining fixed assels associated with
discontinued operations. As a result of the disposal, the Company recorded an additional write-down of $0.4 million.
The remaining property and equipment balance at December 31, 2006 is approximately $3.3 million, comprised of
Jand and building, which is included in assets of discontinued operations. The land at the Biscayne location and the
former Clinical Pharmacology Associates, or CPA, building were sold in March 2007. The Company has obtained
appraisals in excess of the cost basis of the land and the CPA building; accordingly, the land and building are being
carried at their cost basis.

Asset Retirement Obligations and Accrued Charges

As of December 31, 2006, the Company recorded accrued costs of approximately $6.0 million which were
comprised of approximately $2.6 million related to separation and healthcare obligations to certain employees,
approximately $0.7 million reserved in connection with the estimated costs to demolish the Miami facility,
$0.3 million for asbestos removal, and approximately $1.4 million reserved in connection with certain service
agreements for office equipment where the equipment had no economic benefit to the Company and $1.0 million in
earnout payments 10 the former shareholders of CPA. In connection with obtaining a permit to demolish its Miami
buildings. the Company was required by local regulations to undertake an environmental study. In September 2006,
the Company hired an asbestos removal contractor who commenced the asbestos removal process and completed it
on budget. The separation obligations noted above included severance payments as well as estimated healthcare
benefits for employees. As of December 31, 2005, the Company accrued severance payments related to certain
officers of $3.8 million, of which $3.1 million related to discontinued operations. With the exception of payments
due to a former officer described below, alt severance payments associated with discontinued operations has been
paid as of December 31, 2006.

On June 20, 2006, Gregory B. Holmes, Pharm.D., resigned as president of corporate development of the
Company and as a director of the Company. The Separation Agreement included the following material terms:
(i) 18 months severance (approximately $0.9 million to be paid $50,000 per month included in severance costs
disclosed above); (ii) the continuation of all non-compete restrictions contained in Dr. Holmes™ Employment
Agreement for a period of 18 months; (iii) the acceleration of vesting of 11,935 shares of RSUs previously awarded
to Dr. Holmes; (iv) the payment of health insurance for one year following his separation; and (v) the payment of
perquisites and other expenses previously incurred as of his separation date.

In September 2006, the Company paid $1.0 million of additional purchase consideration (one half in stock and
one half in cash) to the former CPA shareholders in connection with the previously acquired CPA business {(now a
discontinued operation), which was due pursuant to the terms of the acquisition agreement. Previously, the purchase
consideration related to this acquisition was treated as an adjustment to goodwill, however, since all goodwill
related to discontinued operations was written off in the first quarter of 2006, the $1.0 million was included in the
loss from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2006.

The table below is a reconciliation of beginning and ending liability balances in connection with asset
retirement obligations and accrued charges recorded during the year ended December 31, 2006 in discontinued
operations.
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Balance at Cash | Balance at
December 31, Accrued and Stock December 31,
2005 Charges Payments 2006

Severance and healthcare costs . . ... . ... $3,060,000 $2,616,038  $4,255,347  $1,420,691

Demolition, asbestos and related costs. . . . — 1,007,319 307,319 700,000
Purchase consideration due to

stockholders . .. ...........c¢0.0u... —_ 1,000,000 1,000,000 —

Contract termination costs. . . ... ....... — 1,363,293 193,159 1,170,134

$3,060,000  $5986,650 $5,755,825  $3.290,825

The above accrued charges are included in the accompanying condensed financial information under the
captions “Liabilities from discontinued operations.” It is possible that actual costs associated with asset retirement
obligations, environmental remediation and other separation obligations such as self insured healthcare benefits to
terminated employees will differ from estimated accrued amounts. Any changes to these amounts will be recorded
as additional facts and circumstances require in the period in which they become known. The “liabilities from
discontinued operations” included in the accompanying condensed financial information also include approxi-
mately $0.5 million in accounts payable, advance payments and other miscellaneous accrued liabilities in the
amount of $0.4 million not reflected in the table above,

Income Taxes

For the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company incurred a pre-tax loss from discontinued operations of
approximately $43.2 million and recorded a valuation allowance of approximately $13.0 million against the
deferred tax assets related to the federal and state net operating loss carryforwards resulting in a tax benefit of
approximately $1.1 million. A full valuation allowance has been established for the entire tax benefit of these losses
as the Company belicves the realizability of these deferred tax assets is not more likely than not. (Note J. Income
Taxes.)

Condensed Financial Information

The assets and liabilities of the Miami and Ft. Myers subsidiaries included in discontinued operations are
presented in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets under the captions “Assets from discontinued
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operations” and “Liabilities from discontinued operations.” The carrying amounts of the major classes of these
assets and liabilities are as follows:

December 31, December 31,

2006 2005
Assets:
Accounts receivable, NEt . . . . e e $3,572,556  $26,425479
Income tax receivable . . ... ... .. .. . i e 317,331 : —
Prepaid expenses and other ASSEIS .+ v v — 1,608,866
Property and equipment, primarily land and building held for sale at
December 31, 2006 .. . . ... e e e 3,286,619 24,701,651
Goodwill, Ret . . . . e e — 4,051,082
Assets from discontinued operations. .. ......... ... ... .... §7,176506 356,787,078
Liabilities:
Accounts payable .. ... ... ..ol $ 462,421 $ 4,598,247
Accrued liabilities . . .. .. i et e 3,307,994 4311432
Clent advanCes . . o o vttt ettt et et e et 424,847 90,710
Liabilities from discontinued operations . .. ............... . $4,195262  $ 9,000,389

At December 31, 2006 and 2005, accounts receivable are net of an allowance for doubtful accounts amounting
to $1.1 million and $0.7 million, respectively.
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The results of operations of the Miami and Ft. Myers subsidiaries are included in the consolidated statements
of operations as “Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax,” The amounts for the year ended

December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 are as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,
2006 2005 2004
Net revenue:
DireCt FEVENUE . . . vttt it et e e $ 7490287 $65128,143  $47.690,777
Reimbursed out-of-pocket expenses. .. ... . ... 957,042 2,958,576 —
Total BELTEVENUE. . . . . v\ o it et e e s s 8,447,329 68,086,719 47,690,777
Costs and expenses:
Impairment of long-lived assets. ... ......... 18,962,838 — —
Goodwill impairment ... ................. 4,051,082 20,315,300 —
Purchase consideration due to stockholders . . . . 1,600,000 4,000,000 4,000,000
Salary, severance and healthcare costs . . ... ... 4,620,130 3,060,000 —
Demolition costs. . . . ... i, 1,007,319 — —
Contract termination costs. . . .............. 1,363,293 — —
Other costs and expenses ................. 20,614,694 48,752,909 29,203,379
Total costs and expenses . .. ............. 51,619,356 -76,128,209 33,203,379
Interestincome. .. ........ ... ... ..o 14,420 — —
Earnings (loss) before income taxes ... .......... {43,157,607) (8,041,490) 14,487,398
Income tax (benefit) expense .. ................ {(1,080,834) 4,342 885 5,830,075
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations. . . . . .. $(42,076,773)  $(12,384,375) $ 8,657,323
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic ........ ... ... . ... $ 23D % (0.70) % 0.58
Diluted. ........ ... ... . . $ (2.28) § (0.68) $ 0.55
Shares used in computing (loss) per share:
Basic ........ . .. e 18,221,418 17,701,801 15,047,245
Diluted. . . ... ... 18,447 048 18,356,030 15,753,815

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company recorded bad debt expense of approximately
$0.7 million relating to accounts receivable no longer deemed collectible. The Company continues to pursue
collections of remaining accounts receivable and will continue to evaluate the adequacy of its allowance for
doubtful accounts. On March 8, 2007, the Company completed the sale of its Clinical Pharmacology Associates,
Inc. (“CPA”) building for approximately $1.3 million,

NOTE C — MAJOR CUSTOMERS

No client represented more than 10% of consolidated net revenve in 2006, 2005 and 2004.

At December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, there was one customer (the same customer in both years) that
represented approximately 14.0% (or 9.0% net of advances) and 14.6% (or 11.4% net of advances) respectively, of
the Company’s consolidated accounts receivable balance, respectively.
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NOTE D — ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable consisted of the following at December 31, 2006 and 2005:

2006 2005
Accounts receivable —billed . ... ... ... .o $ 54,595,145  $52,691,505
Accounts receivable —unbilled . ... ... .. ... L oLl o 55,514,828 38,950,780
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts. .. ...... . ..oty 922,015 202,095

$109,187,958 591,446,190

The activity in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2003, and 2004

was as follows:

Allowance for

Doubtful
Accounts
Balance — December 31, 2003 . . .. ... e $ 299,372
ACQUISTHONS . o 4« . ottt e e e e 110,283
2004 PrOVISIONS . . oo vttt e i 417,151
2004 reductions . ... ... e T R R (435,013)
Balance — December 31, 2004 . . . . ... . e $ 391,793
2005 PTOVISION . . . o vt e e e e 569,384
2005 PAUCTIONS & 2 v v v o v e et e e e e e e (759,082}
Balance — December 31, 2005 . . . o ..o e $ 202,095
2006 PIOVISION - . . o oottt ettt et e e e 2,278,512
2006 FEdUCIONS & o v ot v e v et et e et e ettt ettt e e (1,558,592)
Balunce — December 31, 2006 . . . . . . e e e e $ 922,015

Accounts receivable are billed when certain milestones defined in client contracts are achieved. All unbilled

accounts receivable are expected to be billed and collected within one year. Client advance billings at December 31,

© 2006, 2005 and 2004 amounted to $70,643,244, $71,240,233 and $50,306,432, respectively. Client advance billings
are classified as short-term if projects are expected to be completed within 12 months and long-term for projects
expected 10 be completed beyond 12 months as of December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.

NOTE E — RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In 2006, 2005 and 2004, one employee related to the Company’s former chief executive officer, one employee

related to the Company’s former president and two employees related to the Company’s then executive vice
president of clinical operations were paid a total of $58,277, $242,750, and $208,855, respectively. These latter two
employees, whose combined annual salaries is $110,000, left the employment of the Company in June 2006.
Additionally, the Company’s former vice president of legal affairs controlled companies and an individual that
provided services to or received personal benefits from the Company and received $0, $198,899, and $241,549, for
the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. All of these services were discontinued as of
December 31, 2005,
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Related party transactions for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 are as follows:

2006 - 2005 2004
Salaries and benefits ... ... ... . i $58,277  $326,306  $290,996
Contract Labor. . . .. ... . . i e —_ 115,343 159,408

$58,277  $441,649 5450404

Loans Receivable from Officers/Stockholders

In connection with the acquisition of Keystone Analytical Laboratories, Inc. (“KAL”™), now known as
Keystone Analytical, Inc., the Company entered into a five-year employment agreement with the former president
of KAL. The agreement provides for, among other things, a loan of $1,000,000 repayable in equal installments of
$200,000 plus interest of 4.45% per annum on each August 20 commencing in 2002, which is secured by a portion
of the common stock issued to the employee. Provided that the employee serves on a full-time basis, as defined, the
Company will annually forgive $200,000 of the outstanding principal balance and accrued interest until the note is
fully satisfied. In that regard, the Company amortized the note and accrued interest receivable to salaries expense on
a straight line basis over a five-year pericd. On August 20, 2006 the note along with the accrued interest was
completely forgiven. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the loan balances reflected as current assets on the balance
sheet were $0 and $200,000 which included accrued interest receivable.

Note Receivable from Minority Interest

[n December 2005, the Company entered into a five-year promissory note with Novatia, LLC, in which the
Company’s subsidiary, Taylor, owns a 25% interest, The agreement provides for a note of $215,000 with interest
rate of 6% per annum repayable in monthly payments of approximately $4,157 for 59 months. The loan balances of
$180,243 and $215,000 are reflected as assets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

NOTE F — PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consisted of the following at December 31, 2006 and 2005:

2006 2005

Land and Buildings . . .. .. ... . it e $ 2,073,570 $ 4,569,507
Furniture and Fixtures .. ....... . ... ... ... . i 12,358,265 10,719,690
Leasehold improvements . . ............o.vuitiar .. 23,838,063 14,617,765
Machinery and equipment .. ........ ... ... . . ... .. 37.311,315 32,713,147
Computer hardware and software . .. ... .......... .. ..., .... 19,122,307 18,702,700

94,703,520 81,322,809
Less: accumulated depreciation ..., ... .. .., ... ... ..., (42,468,630)  (35,287,691) «

$ 52,234,800  § 46,035,118

Depreciation of property and eguipment for the years ended December 31, 2006, 20035, and 2004, amounted to
$11,423,534, $10,543,845 and $4,018,408, respectively. Of these amounts, $3,510,390, $3.000,304 and
32,114,544, respectively, of depreciation is reflected as a component of direct costs in the statements of operations
for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 and the remaining depreciation is reflected in selling,
general, and administrative expenses in the statements of operations.
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Assets Held For Sale

In 2005, Anapharm purchased land for $2.5 million and in 2006, commenced building a new facility in Quebec
City, Canada intended to house all of its clinical, bioanalytical operations as well as administrative functions. In
early 2006, Anapharm negotiated a build-to-suit arrangement with a building contractor. Subsequent to this
arrangement, Anapharm decided that it was advantageous to enter into a leasing arrangement for this location
versus owning the property and building. In October 2006, Anapharm completed a transaction with a third party
investor. Under the terms of the agreement, the Investor advanced Anapharm approximately $9.8 million which
represented substantially all of the funds that Anapharm had spent on the land purchase and construction as of that
date. Additionally, the Investor agreed to pay the contractor for the remaining building costs not to exceed
approximately $27.0 million. Since the Company continues to bear the risk of any cost overruns in excess of this
level until the building is completed, and due to the Company’s continuing involvement in the building process, the
transaction does not qualify as a sale-leaseback accounting under the guidelines of FASB No. 98 Accounting for
Leases: Sale-Leaseback Transaction Involving Real Estate.

As of December 31, 2006, the Investor had advanced Anapharm a total of $15,851,034. As of March 2007, the
building and improvements were substantially complete-and on budget. As of December 31, 2006, this transaction
met the six criteria in determining if a long-lived asset to be sold should be classified as held for sale in the period per
FASB No. 144 Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets:

December 31, December 31,
2006 2005

Construction in progress and land expected to be sold in sale-leaseback
HrANSACHON. . o o\ v e ettt e ... $15,851,034  $2,528,343

NOTE G — ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Accrued liabilities consisted of the following at December 31, 2006 and 2005:

2006 2005
Salaries, bonuses, and benefits . . . .. .. e e $12,513,762  § 8,560,198
SEVEIANCE . v v v o vt te e e et tee et e — 765,000
Professional fees ........ O 2,631,803 2,525,808
RIS & o oottt i e 1,016,838 144,262
Out of pocket expenses and grants . ............ .. oiiiaen s 3,747,633 _
Deferred rent . o . oo ot e e e e e 5,541,346 2,039,618
TEEETESE & v v o e e e e e e e s e et ae e m et a e e 1,228,687 1,246,948
Value added tax . . ..ot e e e e e 1,233,897 1,609,404
PharmaNet 401(K) plan. . . .. ... .ot 536,652 544,652
Other........... oo, e 3,305,452 3,374,621

$31,756,070  $20,810,511

NOTE H — DEBT AND CAPITAL LEASES
Convertible Senior Notes Payable

In August and September 2004, the Company issued $143.8 million aggregate principal amount of its 2.25%
Convertible Senior Notes due 2024. The Company’s net proceeds after repurchasing 820,000 shares of its common
stock and transaction costs were approximately $113.0 million. Interest is payable on the Convertible Senior Notes
semi-annually in arrears on February 15 and August 15 of each year beginning on ‘February 15, 2005. The
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Convertible Senior Notes are convertible into cash and, if applicable, shares of PDGI’s common stock based upon
an initial conversion rate of 24.3424 shares per $1,000 in principal amount of the Convertible Senior Notes not to
exceed 3,086,445 shares, subject to adjustment in certain circumstanges. This results in an initial conversion price of
approximately $41.08 per share. The Convertible Senior Notes are convertible at any time prior to the date of
maturity and, upon conversion, holders of the Convertible Senior Notes will be entitled to receive cash up to the
principal amount of the Convertible Senior Notes and, if applicable, shares of common stock pursuant to a formula
contained in the Convertible Senior Notes. Upon a fundamental change, as defined in the Convertible Senior Notes,
holders may require PDGI to repurchase all or a portion of their Convertible Senior Notes for cash at a price equal to
100% of the principal amount of the Convertible Senior Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest. If a fundamental
change occurs prior to August 15, 2009, PDGI is required to pay, in addition to the repurchase price, a make-whole
premium in cash and/or common stock. On or after August 15, 2009, PDGI may at its option, redeem the
Convertible Senior Notes in whole or in part for cash at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of
the Convertible Senior Notes to be redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest. On each of August 15, 2009,
Aungust 15, 2014 and August 15, 2019, holders may require the Company to re-purchase all or a portion of their
Convertible Senior Notes at a purchase price in cash equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Convertible
Senior Notes to be re-purchased plus accrued and unpaid interest. The Convertible Senior Notes are unsecured
senior obligations and are effectively subordinated to all of PDGI’s existing and future secured indebtedness and to
all existing and future liabilities of PDGI subsidiaries (including trade payables). The Company capitalized all costs
related to the issuance of these Convertible Senior Notes, including approximately $1.1 million in one-time bonuses
paid to executives directly related to the securing of the Convertible Senior Notes and Credit Facility described
below and amortizes the costs on a straight-line basis over the expected term of the Convertible Senior Notes which
approximates the effective interest method.

Credit Facility

On December 22, 2004, the Company entered into a $160.0 million credit facility, as amended and restated
from time to time, from a syndicate of banks arranged by UBS Securities LLC (the “Bank”). The facility consisted
of a term loan in the amount of $120.0 million and a revolving line of credit in the maximum amount of
$40.0 million. Borrowings under the facility provided a portion of the consideration used to acquire 100% of the
PharmaNet stock.

On March 15, 2003, the Company and certain of its executive officers sold 3,500,000 shares of PDGI common
stock at $38.00 per share. The Company sold 3,078,000 shares and the executive officers sold 422,000 shares. In
addition, PDGI granted the underwriters an option to purchase up to an additiona! 525,000 shares of common stock
to cover over-allotments, which was not exercised. The net proceeds to the Company from the offering after
expenses were approximately $108.2 million, of which the Company used $70.0 million to repay a portion of its
outstanding term loan under its Credit Facility on March 17, 2005. The Company incurred a non-cash charge of
approximately $2.2 million related to the write-off of deferred financing costs.

On June 14, 2005, the Company entered into a $90.0 million amended and restated Credit Facility amending
and restating the original Credit Facility. As a result of this amendment, the Company eliminated the term loan
portion of the original facility and increased the amount of the revolving line of credit under the original facility
from $40.0 million to $90.0 million. Also, as a result of this amendment, the Company incurred a nen-cash write-off
of approximately $1.1 million of deferred loan costs in June 2005. The amendment also gave the Company the
ability to expand the facility through the addition of an unfunded $50.0 million accordion feature.

On August 19, 2005, the Company amended its amended and restated Credit Facility. As a result of this first
amendment, the Company amended its definition of consolidated interest expense.

On November 28, 2005, the Company again amended its amended and restated Credit Facility. The second
amendment provides the Company the ability to spend up to $30.0 million to buyback PDGI stock (which was
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further limited in the amendment signed on October 14, 2006). In connection with the second amendment, PDGI’s
Board of Directors changed its stock buyback program from a share limit of 1,000,000 shares to a dollar limit of the
number of shares, which can be purchased for an aggregate of $30.0 million.

On May 9, 2006, the lenders waived all covenant violations from March 31, 2006 through June 30, 2006.
Concurrently, as part of the waiver, the Company agreed to reduce the Credit Facility from $90.0 millien to
$45.0 million. As a result of the reduced availability, the Company incurred a write-off of approximately
$1.2 million of deferred financing costs in June 2006, On June 30, 2006, PDGI was in default of the covenants
of its Credit Facility.

On June 28, 2006, the Company entered into a Third Waiver and Amendment (the “Third Amendment”) to the
Credit Facility in which the Bank agreed to amend and waive certain sections of the Credit Facility to include a
waiver of all covenants set forth in the Credit Facility that the Company did not effectively meet until August 15,
2006. In connection with Asset Sales (as defined in the Credit Facility), the pre-payment threshold was reduced
from $2.5 million to $0.5 million. Accordingly, under the terms of the Third Amendment, all monies received by the
Company in connection with Asset Sales which, in the aggregate, are in excess of $0.5 million in any fiscal yeat,
shall be used to prepay the loan. From June 30, 2006 to August 15, 2006, the Applicable Margin (as defined in the
Credit Facility) with respect to Revolving Loans (as defined in the Credit Facility) that are Eurodollar Loans (as
defined in the Credit Facility, “LIBOR™) were increased by 100 basis points to 3.00% and the Applicable Margin
with respect to Revolving Loans that are Prime Rate Loans were increased by 100 basis points to 2.00%.

On August 11, 2006, the Company entered into a Fourth Waiver to the Credit Facility in which the Bank agreed
to amend and waive certain sections of the Credit Facility to include a waiver of all covenants set forth in the Credit
Facility that the Company did not effectively meet until September 29, 2006. On September 29, 2006, the Company
entered into a Fifth Waiver and Consent to the Credit Facility in which the Bank agreed to amend and waive certain
sections of the Credit Facility, which was effective until, but excluding, October 16, 2006.

On October 12, 2006, the Company entered into a Fourth Amendment (the “Amendment”) 1o its revolving
Credit Facility. As a result of this Amendment, certain financial covenants and conditions in the Credit Facility were
modified to reflect the Company’s current operations and business needs. The other material terms of the
Amendment (i) require the Company to provide the Bank with additional financial reporting, (i) permit the
Company to enter into a sale-leaseback transaction for its Quebec City facility, and (iii) would require a temporary
reduction in the amount of borrowing capacity under the Credit Facility to $22.5 million in the event the Company’s
trailing twelve month EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Facility) (“TTM") is materially below, by a certain
percentage, the forecasts provided to the Bank. If the total amount of the Company’s outstanding loans exceeds
$22.5 million at the time of the occurrence of such an event, the Company has no immediate obligation to repay
these loans. If the TTM exceeds this threshold in future periods, the full borrowing capacity of the Credit Facility
will be restored to $45.0 million. In conjunction with the Fourth Amendment, the Applicable Margin with respect to
LIBOR Loans were increased by 25 basis points to 3.25% and the Applicable Margin with respect to Revolving
Loans that are Prime Rate Loans were increased by 23 basis points to 2.25%, subject to change based upon certain
leverage ratios,

The principal balance outstanding on the Credit Facility at December 31, 2006 and 2005 was $9.4 million and
$17.0 million, respectively. The outstanding balance in 2005 was classified as current due to certain covenant
waivers received. The obligations under the Credit Facility are guaranteed by each of the Company’s 1.8,
subsidiaries, is secured by a mortgage on its land and property in Miami, Florida, a pledge of all of the assets of its
U.S. operations and U.S. subsidiaries, and a pledge of 65% of the stock of certain of its foreign subsidiaries. The
. facility is due in December 2009. The U.S. assets collateralizing the Credit Facility are approximately $381.1 mil-
lion, including goodwill and intangible assets.
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Capital Leases Obligations, Credit Facility, Convertible Senior Notes and Notes Payable

Capital Lease Obligations, Credit Facility, Convertible Senior Notes and Notes Payable consisted of the
following at December 31, 2006 and 2005:

2006 2005

Capital lease obligations . . . ... ... .. .. i $ 5,624,742 $ 7,016,621
Credit facility . .. ... ot e e 9,400,000 17,000,000¢"
Convertible senior notes . .. ... ... ... 143,750,000 143,750,000
Notes payable —other . ........ ... ... . ... . ... 227,527% 455,991

159,002,269 168,222,612
Less: CUMTent POTHON .. « . oottt e ettt e e e e e 3,036,407 20,032,818
Long-term portion . . .....out it e $155,965,862 $148,189,794

(1) Credit Facility was classified as a current liability for the period ended December 31, 2005.

(2} Notes payable — other of $227,527 is comprised of a promissory note payable to the former shareholders of a
Canadian subsidiary, including interest accrued at the Bank of Montreal’s prime rate plus 2%, with the
remaining balance payable on July 7, 2007.

The Company leases a substantial portion of its scientific equipment under capital lease arrangements from
different lessors. As of December 31, 2006, the Company had 14 leases varying in length between 36 and 60 months
at annual lease rates ranging up to 8.75%, and requiring monthly payments ranging from $3,760 to $47,330. The
latest maturity date on the final lease is September 2010,

December 31,
2006 2005
Equipment . . . .. .. L e $17,544,504 $16,486,914
Less: accumulated depreciation. . . ................. U 7,751,641 6,416,757

$ 9,792,863  $10,070,157

The following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments under capital lease obligations as of
December 31, 2006:

__Amount
2007 . e e e $3,048,211
2008 L e e e e e e e 1,496,510
200 . e 1,035,677
2000 . e e e e e 476,512
20011 and therealter .« . . e e e e e e 31,916
Total minimum lease payments . ... ... ... ... ... ittt 6,088,826
Less: amount representing interest , . . ... .. S 464,084
Present value of minimum lease payments . . ....... ... ... i 5,624,742
LeSS: CUITENT POITION & -« o o ot e ettt s e e e e e e e 3,036,407
Long — term obligation under capital leases. . .. ... .. ... ... L oo $2,588,335
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NOTE I — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Leases

The Company leases its office facilities and certain equipment under non-cancelable operating leases. The
leases expire over the next 10 years and contain provisions for certain annual rent escalations. The approximate
future minimum annual combined lease payments for both equipment and facilities leases for years subsequent to
December 31, 2006 are as follows:

D007 & o e e P $ 18,555,117
2008 © o e 17,768,573
2009 . . o e 15,478,641
D010 . e 14,693,050
DOLT © o o e 12,639,243

B 3 Tor 072 ¥ L=, G A 63,032,624
$142,167,248

Total rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 was approximately $17,313,446,
$13,804,000 and $2,918,000, respectively.

Litigation and Inquiries

On March 12, 2007, the Company received notice that the SEC staff has secured a formal order of private
investigation, The formal order relates to revenue recognition, earnings, company operations and related party
transactions. The Company has been cooperating fully with the SEC. In late December 2005, the Company received
an informal request from the SEC for documents relating to the duties, qualifications, compensation, and
reimbursement of former officers and employees. This request also asked for a copy of the report to Senator
Grassley by the Company’s independent counsel. In a second request, sent March 28, 2006, the SEC asked for
information regarding related parties and transactions, duties and compensation of various employees, internal
controls, revenue recognition and other accounting policies and procedures, and selected regulatory filings. The
Company has voluntarily complied with these requests and has produced and will continue to produce documents to
the SEC.

Beginning in late December 2005, a number of class action lawsuits have been filed in the United States
District Court for the Southern District of Florida and the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey
alleging that PDGI and certain of its current and former officers and directors violated federal securities laws (the
“Federal Securities Actions™). The Company was served notice of these lawsuits in early January 2006. On June 21,
2006, the Judicial Panel for Multidistrict Litigation transferred all of the Federal Securities Actions for pre-trial
proceedings in the District of New Jersey where they were later consolidated.

On November 1, 2006, Arkansas Teachers’ Retirement System, the lead plaintiff in the Federal Securitics
Action, filed a consolidated amended class action complaint {the “Amended Complaint™). The Amended Complaint
alleges that the Company and several of its current and former officers and directors violated Sections 11, 12 (a)(2)
and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, as well as Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The
Amended Complaint claims violations of these federal securities laws through misstatements or omissions
regarding: the maximum occupancy at the Company’s Miami facility; the Miami facility’s purportedly dangerous
and unsafe structure; the Company’s clinical practices; purported conflicts of interests involving Independent
Review Boards used by the Company; related-party transactions; and some former executives’ qualifications. The
parties attended a voluntary mediation on March 8, 2007, but the Company did not reach an agreement with the
plaintiffs at that meeting. The Company intends to continue settlement discussions with the plaintiffs, but the
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Company cannot assure you that it will be able to resolve the Federal Securities Action in mediation. As the
outcome of this action is difficult to predict, significant changes in the Company’s estimated exposures could occur.

Beginning in late December 2005, a total of five stockholder derivative complaints were filed in the United
States District Court for the Southern District of Florida and the United States Court for the District of New Jersey
against certain of the Company’s current and former officers and directors, as well as PDGI (as a nominal
defendant) for alleged viclations of state and federal law, including breach of fiduciary duty, abuse of control, gross
mismanagement, waste of corporate assets, unjust enrichment, disgorgement under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
and violation of Section 14(a} of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Federal Derivative Actions™), The
Company was served notice of these lawsuits in early January 2006. The Federal Derivative Actions allege that the
individual defendants misrepresented and engaged in a conspiracy to misrepresent the Company’s business
condition, prospects and financial results, failed to disclose the Company’s allegedly improper and reckless
business practices, such as mismanagement of clinical trials and mistreatment of research participants, used the
Company’s artificially inflated stock to acquire other companies and complete public offerings and engaged in
illegal insider trading. Beginning in late January 2006, two substantially similar derivative actions were filed in
Florida Circuit Court (the “Florida Circuit Court Derivative Actions™), On June 21, 2006, the Judicial Panel for
Multidistrict Litigation transferred the Federal Derivative Actions pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1407 for pre-trial
proceedings in the District of New Jersey where they were later consolidated (the “Federal Derivative Action”). A
consclidated amended complaint in the Federal Derivative Action was filed on November 13, 2006. On January 11,
2007, Defendants filed a motion to dismiss the amended complaint in the Federal Derivative Action. The Company
cannot assure you that the Defendant’s motion to dismiss will be successful.

Following the decision of the Judicial Panel for Multidistrict Litigation and the decision to consolidate alt of
the Federal Derivative Actions in the District of New Jersey, the Florida Circuit Court entered an order staying the
cases pending final resolution of the Federal Derivative Action. The individuals named as defendants in these
derivative actions intend to vigorously defend against the lawsuits. As the outcome of these matters is difficult to
predict, significant changes in the Company’s estimated exposures could occur.

On March 21, 2006, another law firm made a demand for documents pursuant to Section 220 of the Delaware
Code on behalf of an alleged shareholder (the “Demand”). The Demand was purportedly made to investigate
potential wrongdoing, mismanagement or breaches of fiduciary duties by the Company’s Board of Directors in
connection with clinical trials and financial reporting since January 1, 2003 and take action on behalf of the
Company in the event that the board did not discharge its fiduciary duties. Additionally, the demand was
purportedly brought to assess the impartiality of the Board of Directors to consider a demand to take action on
behalf of the Company, The Demand sought certain meeting minutes of the Board of Directors and documents
concerning the Company’s Board of Directors, financial statements, financial data reporting procedures and
controls, auditing procedures and controls, recruitment and retention of clinical trial participants, clinical trials in
Florida and Montreal, the Bloomberg Magazine articles, any internal investigation relating to the foregoing.
Additionally, the Demand requested all documents requested by or provided to the United States Senate Finance
Committee or Linited States Food and Drug Administration, or United States Department of Justice. On May 12,
2006, the Company agreed to provide documents in response to the demand subject to an agreement narrowing the
scope of the requests, ensuring the confidentiality of the documents, and limiting use of the documents to the
purposes articulated in the Demand. No such agreements have been finalized. Legal fees incurred in connection
with the Demand could have a material adverse effect on future profitability. The Demand may also result in
additional derivative litigation.

On May 17, 2006, the USB failed to issue an extension for reviewing the plans submitted by the Company
related to its planned structural improvements to the Miami facility. On June 19, 2006, the Company filed both a
petition to reverse the USB’s demolition order and an emergency motion to stay the order during the pendency of the
appellate proceedings. Under the USB’s order, the Company had 60 days from May 17, 2006 in which it needed to
both demolish and clean up the debris of its Miami facility. On June 28, 2006, the Company learned that the Circuit
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Court for the 1lth Judicial Circuit for Miami-Dade County Florida, Appellate Division granted the Company’s
motion to stay the demolition order for its Miami facility pending the outcome of the appellate proceedings. In June
2006, the Company filed a motion and brief with the Circuit Court and a response brief was subsequently filed by
Miami-Dade County. Refore the appeal could be resolved, the Company entered into a settlement with the USB,
pursuant to which the Company agreed to use its reasonable best efforts to demolish the facility within ninety days
of receiving a permit from the USB to do so. The appeal was dismissed on September 11, 2006. As of the date of this
report, the building has been demolished, and the Company is currently cleaning up the site within the agreed upon
timeframe.

Employment Agreements

The Company has entered into written employment agreements with certain of its executive officers which
expire at different times in 2007-2008. The agreements provide the employees with an annual salary and other
benefits. They are eligible to receive grants of restricted stock units, options or other equity incentives and annual
bonuses, subject to the approval of PDGI’s Compensation Committee. Additionally, the written agreements also
provide the employees with an option to terminate their agreement and receive lump sum payments, as defined in
the respective agreements, if there is a change in control of the Company or if they are terminated without cause.

. As of December 31, 2003, the Company entered into severance agreements with its then chief executive officer -

and president who each resigned as of that date. The Company paid these two executive officers approximately
$3.8 million, one-half of which was received by them in early 2006 and the balance was placed into the trust account
of counsel to the Company to be disbursed on June 30, 2006 unless the Company makes a claim against the proceeds
held in the trust account. These amounts were paid in full on June 30, 2006. The former executives also agreed to a
two-year non-compete and to maintain confidentiality for such period. As a result of entering into the severance
agreements in lieu of términating these executives without cause, the 31,826 restricted stock units held by them and
unvested options expired.

'Employee Stock Purchase Plan and PharmaNet 401(k) Plan

The Company offers a 401(k) plan to its employees with annual matching contributions. The employer
matching contribution level is determined by the Company’s Board of Directors, and these contributions vest
ratably over a three-year period. Company matching contributions for all employees for each of the three years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 were $2.0 million, $1.8 million and $0.4 million, respectively.
PharmaNet has also provided defined contribution plans for employees of certain foreign subsidiaries with
aggregate contributions of approximately $2.4 million in 2006, $1.8 million in 2005 and $0.3 million in 2004.

PharmaNet which was acquired December 22, 2004, has offered a 401(k) plan to its U.S. employees. The
Company’s intent is to merge the plans. Effective December 31, 2005, the PharmaNet 401(k) plan was amended to
provide that it will accept no further plan contributions. After such date, PharmaNet employees are eligible to
participate in the Company’s 401(k) plan. During 2005, the Company discovered that the PharmaNet 401(k) plan
may have sustained certain operational defects. PharmaNet has applied with the Internal Revenue Service to correct
these 401(k) plan defects and expects to similarly apply to the Department of Labor. This process may result in a
substantial Hability by PharmaNet to its plan participants as well as related costs. The response time from the IRS is
difficult to predict at this time. As of December 31, 2006, the Company has accrued $0.5 million related to this
matter. However, this amount represents an estimate, and as the outcome of this matter is difficult to predict,
significant changes in the estimated exposure could occur.

NOTE J -— INCOME TAXES

The Company accounts for income taxes under FASB Statement No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes
(FASB 109).” Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined based upon differences between financial
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reporting and tax basis assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in
effect when differences are expected to reverse.

The components of the income tax provision (benefit) are as follows:

2006 2005 2004
Current:
Federal .. ... ... .. i i $ 210,283  $(3,690,158) §(997,770)
Foreign. ... ..o e 6,168,257 7,042,116 876,479
] =1 - 151,663 1,565,897 (329,827)
Deferred . . . ... . . e e (10,087,755)  (4,764,249) 819,614

$ (3,557,552) § 153,606 $ 368,496

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amount of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant
components of the Company’s net deferred income taxes are as follows:

Deferred Tax Asset (Liability) — Current

2006 2005

Accounts teceivable . . .. ... $ 647742 5 303,505
AcCrued BXPENSES . . ...t e e 3,710,715 1,199,798
Prepaid eXpenses . ... .. ..ttt (460,019) (746,433)
Net temporary differences due to conversion to accrual basis from cash

DaSIS . . e e e e e e s 296,697 (84,720)
Capital loss carryforwards ... ... ... .. ... ... . 684 658
Other. . o e e e 9,158 (10,193)
INEE CUITERE ASSEE & . v v v e e ettt e e e et e e e e e e e e $4,204977 $ 662,615
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Deferred Tax Asset (Liability) — Long Term

2006 2005

Research and development tax credits carryforwards. .. .......... $ 23,771,706 $ 17,294,841

Net operating loss carryforwards .. ......... ... ... ... . ..., 17,893,895 2,580,124

Deferred compensation . . ... ... ... e 1,238,355 (8,593)
Deferred TBML. . . o vttt e ittt et e e e 966,541 682,664

Deferredrevenue . ... ... ... i 123,395 —
FAS 123R compensation . ... ... ... ...t eannns 216,388 —
New Jersey alternative minimum assessment tax credits . ......... 792,295 792,295

Advance payments. . . .. ... ...t e e 148,955 (312,607)
Depreciation and amortization . ............ ... ... . e (4,514,532} (6,579,140)
Deferred tax liability, research and development credits . ......... (4,438,101) (5,269,958)
Foreign currency translation adjustment . . .................... — (2,700,684)
Acquired intangible assets . ... ... .. L i (14,475,931)  (12,477,363)
Lease obligations. . . . ... ... ... i i e 1,697,788 —
Valuation allowance {(domestic) .. ......... ... ... .. cur...n (15,309,356) —
Valuation allowance (foreign). .. .......... ... ... ... ... .. ... (11,617,400} (5,160,877
Foreign deferreds. .. ... .. ... . .. . . . e 1,303,906 —

Net non-current (liability) $ (2,202,096)

$(11,155,298)

2006 2005 2004
Income taxes at U.S. statutory rate .. .............. $ 1,115,000 $6,254,000 § 4,094,000
State income taxes, net of federal benefit ... ... ... .. (94,000) 982,000 611,000
Permanent differences and other . .. ............... 42,000 {415,000) 30,000
Tax on foreign income which differs from U.S.

P Y111 10) 0 0 (=T {4,762,000) (1,848,000) —_
Cumulative effect of statutory rate change. .. ........ (1,137,000} — —
Research and development tax credits . . .. ... ....... (1,023,000)  (5,283,000)  (4,408,000)
Valuation allowance (domestic). .................. 2,334,000 — —
Valuation allowance {foreign) .. .................. {33,000) 463,000 (9,000)

$(3,558,0000 $ 153,000 § 368,000

The tax benefits resulting from disqualifying dispositions of shares of common stock acquired pursuant to
incentive stock options and the exercise of non-qualified stock options have been recorded as additions to paid-in
capital in the amounts of $0, $4,612,417 and $1,120,232, in 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

At December 31, 2006, the Company had tax credit carryforwards from the government of Canada for
incurring research and development expenses of $23,771,706. The tax credits expire as follows: 2013 —
$3,185,164; 2014 — $6,733,036; 2015 — $7,100,086; and 2026 — $6,753,420. The Company has established
a valuation allowance against a portion of the tax credit carryforwards as the Company believes that it is not more
likely than not that the benefits will be realized prior to expiration,

At December 31, 2006, the Company had approximately $41.9 million of federal net operating losses. The
Company has recorded a full valuation allowance on these losses net of available carryback claims because it
believes the full realization of these is not more likely to be realized. The Company also has approximately
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$38.0 million of state net operating losses that will begin to expire in 2011. The Company has established a
valuation allowance against the net operating loss carryforwards, as the Company believes that it is not likely that
the benefits will be realized prior to expiration. In addition, the Company had approximately $2.5 million of foreign
net operating losses that have begun to expire in 2006. The Company has determined that a significant portion of
these net operating losses will not be realized prior to expiration, and therefore has recorded a valuation allowance
of $495,448 against these related deferred tax assets.

The Company has elected under APB 23 to permanently reinvest earnings and profits related to its foreign
subsidiaries, accordingly, no provision has been recorded for U.S. income taxes that might result from repatriation
of these earnings. The undistributed earnings of its foreign subsidiaries is approximately $75.8 million.

In addition, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, PharmaNet Clinical Services Pvt Lid, received two tax
holidays in Bangalore and Mumbai India, both ending March 2009. The tax holiday applies to income generated
related to its computer services and embedded information technology services. The aggregate amount from the
holiday is $71,000 and the effects to EPS are immaterial.

The Company is subject to ongoing tax audits by the Internal Revenue Service for tax years ending
December 31, 2004 and 2005. While the Company believe that its tax reserves reflect the probable outcome of
identified tax contingencies, it is reasonably possible that the ultimate resolution of any tax matter may be more or
less than the amount accrued. It 'is, however, the Company’s belief that the results of these audits will not have a
material effect on its financial position, '

The United States and foreign components of earnings (loss) before income taxes are as follows for the years
ended December 31:

2006 2005 2004
United SEALES .« . v\ eeee e e $(24,268,676)  $(10,514,790)  $(1,381,910)
T 27453854 28383977 13,077,916

$ 3,185,178 $ 17,869,187 $11,696,006

NOTE K — EQUITY
Secondary Public Offering

On March 15, 2005, the Company and certain executive officers of the Company sold 3,500,000 shares of
PDGI common stock at $38.00 per share. The Company sold 3,078,000 shares, and the executive officers sold
422,000 shares. In addition, the Company granted the underwriters an option to purchase up to an additional
525,000 shares of common stock to cover over-allotments, which was not exercised. The net proceeds to the
Company from the offering after expenses were approximately $108.2 million, of which the Company used
$70.0 million to repay a pertion of its outstanding term loan under its Credit Facility on March [7, 2005 and an
additional $38.0 million of offering proceeds to repay a further portion of the outstanding balance under the Credit
Facility in conjunction with the amendment of that Credit Facility in June 2005.

Shareholders’ Rights Plan

In December 2005, the Board of Directors established a Shareholder Rights Plan which has a tendency to deter
hostile takeovers. The Board of Directors authorized the distribution to the Company’s stockholders of one right for
each share of the Company’s common stock outstanding. Generally, each right entitles the holder to purchase from
the Company a unit consisting of one one-thousandth of a share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock at a
purchase price of $130 per unit. In the event that a person or group of affiliated or associated persons acquires 15%
or more of the Company’s common stock, or there is a tender offer that would result in such 15% acquisition, each
holder of a right is entitled upon exercise to receive common stock having a value of two times the exercise price of
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the right. However, the persons acquiring the shares or effecting the tender offer shall have no such rights and would
therefore be diluted. Further, in the event of a merger or sale of a majority of the assets of the Company, similar
rights are triggered with regard to shares of the acquiring company.

Share-Based Compensation

In June 1999, the Company established a stock option plan which is called the 1999 Stock Plan (the “Plan”).
The Plan provides for the Company to issue options, restricted stock, and stock appreciation rights (collectively, the
“Awards”) to employees, directors and consultants of the Company. The issuance and form of the Awards are at the
discretion of the Company’s board of directors, except that the exercise price of options or stock appreciation rights
may not be less than the fair market value at the time of grant.

In June 2004, the Company amended the Plan to broaden the types of awards which could be granted under the
Plan to include grants of restricted common stock, restricted stock units and stock appreciation rights in addition to
non-qualified and incentive stock options. In June 2004, the Company’s stockholders approved and ratified an
increase of 300,000 shares of common stock under the Plan. In June 2005, the Company’s stockholders approved
and ratified another amendment to the Plan increasing the number of stock rights under the Plan by 300,000 shares.
As of December 31, 2006, there were 696,747 stock rights available for issuance under the Plan and 218,940 shares
available for issuance under the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

In conjunction with the acquisition of PharmaNet in December 2004, the Company issued a total of
approximately 465,000 options to 15 key PharmaNet executives in connection with their employment agreements.
Of these options, 330,000 exercisable at $44.39 were cancelled in March 2006 in conjunction with the grant of a
combination of 300,000 restricted shares of common stock and RSUs to 17 executives. The aggregate pre-tax
expense associated with the accelerated options that would have been reflected in the Company’s consolidated
statement of operations in 2006 and, thereafter, was approximately $4.1 million.

The Company recently began'issﬁing restricted stock as the primary equity component of long-term incentives
awarded to its senior management. In 2005, the Company issued 52,115 restricted stock units to five officers; with
the Severance Agreements of two officers entered into as of December 31, 2005, 31,826 restricted siock units
terminated without vesting. Issuance and delivery of these restricted stock units is deferred to a later date subsequent
to termination of employment. These shares are included in the Company’s calculation of diluted earnings per
share. Based upon the recommendation of an independent compensation consultant retained by the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors, grants of restricted stock units were valued at a premium to the market price
(resulting in the issuance of fewer shares). In the future, that may change if the Company’s competitors and others
begin using a different valuation model. These shares were valued at $32.18 per share for financial statement
purposes and are being amortized ratably as compensation expense in the Company's financial statements over a
three year period.

Generally, grants of restricted stock and options vest over a three year period and expire in 10 years or three
months after separation of service, whichever occurs earlier. Beginning in 2004, the Company began shortening the
term of its options to five years and, in some cases, shortening the vesting period in anticipation of the effectiveness
of FASB Statement No. 123R. In August 2005, the Company accelerated the vesting of 462,059 options granted to
15 key PharmaNet employees. Notwithstanding this, these employees may not sell the underlying common stock
prior to the original vesting dates, except to the extent necessary to pay the exercise price. The Company believed
that because the options which were accelerated had exercise prices in excess of the current market value of its
common stock, the options had limited economic value and were not fully achieving their original objective of
incentive compensation and employee retention and the acceleration may have a positive effect on employee
morale. The acceleration was also to enable the Company to avoid recognizing compensation expense associated
with these options in future periods in its consolidated statements of operation upon adoption of Statement 123R on
January 1, 2006. The aggregate pre-tax expense associated with the accelerated options that would have been
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reflected in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations in future fiscal years is approximately $4. 1 million.
The acceleration of the vesting of these options did not result in a charge based on accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States.

In conjunction with the acquisition of PharmaNet, the Company issued a total of approximately 465,000
options to 12 key PharmaNet executives in connection with their employment agreements. Of these options,
330,000 exercisable at $44.39 were cancelled in March 2006 in conjunction with the grant of 300,000 restricted
shares of comumon stock or restricted stock units {at the election of the grantee) to 1| of the executives as well as
seven other executives.

In June 2004, the Company’s stockholders approved and ratified an increase of 300,000 shares of common
stock under the Plan. In June 2005, the Company’s stockholders approved and ratified another amendment to the
Plan increasing the number of Stock Rights under the Plan by 300,000 shares. As of December 31, 2006, there were
696,747 Stock Rights available for issuance.

A summary of the Company’s stock option activity and related information for the year ended December 31,
2006:

Weighted-
Weighted- Average
Average Remaining
Number of Exercise Contractual
Options Price Life
Outstanding at beginning of year. . ..................... 2,323,064 $27.07 4.80
Granted . .. ... e e e e — —
Exercised . ..o i e e 322,324 $11.37
Forfeited . ... ... .. . .. i i e 966,316 $33.80
Outstanding atend of year .......... ... ... ......... 1,034,424  $25.68 3.81
Exercisable atend of year. ... ...... ... .. v, 1,034,424 $25.68 3.81

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 were
$3.6 million, $6.8 million, and $9.5 million, respectively. Intrinsic value is measured using the fair market value
price of the Corporation’s common stock less the applicable exercise price.

A summary of the Company’s non-vested stock options activity and related information during the year then
ended December 31, 2006:

Weighted Average

Number of Grant Date

Options Fair Value
Nonvested at beginning of year. . . .. .......... ... ... o 51,583 $32.44
Granted . . ... i e e — —
VSt . e e e e e e e 51,583 $32.44
Forfeited ... ..o e — —

Nonvested atend of year .. ........ ... ... ... i, —_ —
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A summary of the Company’s non-vested restricted share units activity and related information for the year
ended December 31, 2006:

Weighted-
Average

Number of  Grant-Date

RSUs Fair Value
Nonvested at beginning of year. . . .. ... ... .. ... ... . ... 20,289 $32.18
Granted . ... e e e 485,632 $19.21
Vested .. e 190,508 $19.98
Forfeited . ... .. . e e e — —
Nonvested atendof year ....... ... ... . ... i, 315,413 $19.58

The total fair value of restricted share units vested during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004
were $3.6 million, $509,000, and $0, respectively.

Other

In November 2005, PDGI announced that its Board of Directors had approved the repurchase of common stock
totaling up to $30.0 million. A total of 606,300 shares were purchased in November and December 2005 at an
average price of $20.49. In March 2006, the Company retired these shares.

In August and September 2004, PDGI sold $143.8 million of its 2.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2024,
Simultaneously with the offering in August, PDGI repurchased and retired 820,000 shares of its common stock at
$30.43 per share. The August 2004 repurchases occurred in conjunction with the initial issuance of the Convertible
Senior Notes.

NOTE L — BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
PharmaNet, Inc.

On December 22, 2004, PDGI closed the Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger
Agreement’) with PharmaNet, pursuant to which PDGI merged with PharmaNet (the “Merger”) for initial
consideration of approximately $245.0 million plus approximately $3.6 million representing PharmaNet's esti-
mated working capital. Acquisition costs were approximately $8.0 million.

As a result of the Merger, PharmaNet has become a wholly-owned subsidiary of PDGI. Under the terms of the
Merger Agreement, approximately 7.5% of the merger consideration was placed in escrow pending receipt of an
audited closing date balance sheet. Additionally, the Company established a payable of approximately $5.5 million
due to former PharmaNet stockholders as additional consideration pursuant to the Merger Agreement with
PharmaNet. The Merger Agreement provided that additional merger consideration was payable if working capital
at the closing date, as determined, exceeded an agreed upon amount. The $5.5 million accrual was the net liability
after taking into account the $3.6 million payment in December 2004, as discussed above. On July 1, 2005, the
Company paid the $5.5 million.

Simultaneously with the closing of the Merger, PDGI closed a syndicated $160.0 miilion credit facility
consisting of a $120.0 million term loan and a $40.0 million revolving line of credit. PDGI borrowed $125.0 million
under this prior credit facility and vsed approximately $134.0 million of its existing cash to fund the balance of the
Merger consideration.

In conjunction with the acquisition, PDGI required 14 key members of PharmaNet’s executive committee to
purchase a total of approximately 259,000 restricted shares of PDGI’s common stock for approximately $8.9 million
at an agreed-upon price of $34.33 per share. As a result $1.6 million was recorded as goodwill. As part of the
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Merger, PDGI issued a total of approximately 465,000 options to 12 key PharmaNet executives in connection with
their employment agreements. Of these options, 330,000 exercisable at $44.39 were cancelled in March 2006 in
conjunction with the grant of 300,000 restricted shares or restricted stock units of common stock (at the election of
the grantee) to 11 of the executives as well as seven other executives, The options are exercisable at a price of $40.39
per share. The fair value of the options of $6,922,214 has been recorded as additional goodwill,

The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase in accordance with SFAS 141 and accordingly, the purchase
price was allocated based on the estimated fair market values of the assets and liabilities acquired. Goodwill of
approximately $226.2 million is attributable to the general reputation of the business and the collective experience
of the management and employees. With the exception of the amortization of separately identifiable intangible
assets, the results of operations of PharmalNet from December 22, 2004 through December 31, 2004 were
immaterial and are not included in the accompanying statement of operations.

Goodwill of $226.2 million and intangible assets of $32.7 million are not deductible for tax purposes.

Taylor Technology, Inc.

In July 2004, PDGI acquired Taylor, a company based in Princeton, NJ offering quantitative bioanalytical mass
spectrometry services primarily in pre-clinical and Phases I — IV of drug development for the pharmaceutical
industry. PDGI paid Taylor shareholders approximately $16.9 million in cash and 133,595 shares of restricted
common stock of PDGI. Of the total consideration, $1.0 million in cash and 33,566 shares of common stock of
PD(GI, valued at approximately $1.0 million, was placed in escrow and subject to final confirmation and verification
that Taylor’s opening balance sheet after adjustments, if any at the acquisition closing date reflected a minimum of
$3.0 miltion in net assets. The escrow property was distributed to former Taylor stockholders in 2005. Concurrently,
PDGI entered into long-term employment agreements with the senior management of Taylor, including its president
and founder Dr. Paul Taylor. '

The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase in accordance with SFAS 141 and accordingly, the purchase
price was allocated based on the estimated fair market values of the assets and liabilities acquired. Goodwill of
approximately $14.9 million is attributable to the general reputation of the business and the collective experience of
the management and employees. The results of operations of Taylor from July 25, 2004 through December 31, 2004
are included in the accompanying statement of operations.

Goodwill of $14.9 million is deductible for tax purposes.

Under the terms of the acquisition agreement with the Company, Taylor shareholders were required to deliver
$3.0 miilion in working capital, as defined, to the Company. This amount was subject to a one year measurement
period subsequent to the July 2004 closing to record adjustments, if any, to amounts delivered to the Company in
July 2004. On August 2, 2005, the Company paid former Taylor shareholders approximately $557,000 for
delivering to the Company working capital in excess of the $3.0 million level.

As of December 31, 2005, the accrued purchase consideration included in the accompanying balance sheet of
$2 million related to the earnout for the New Drug Services acquisition. This amount was paid during the period
ended December 31, 2006.
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NOTE M — GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

The following table sets forth the composition of the Company’s direct revenue by geographic region for the
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 as well as the location of the Company’s property and equipment
as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, '

2006 2005 2004
United States . ..., $136,046,995  $123,147,328 % 25,643,775
Canada. . .....coi i 85,696,724 90,812,194 76,100,669
Europe . ... .. 78,615,686 54,945,982 3,169,942
Restof World . .. ......... .. ... ........... 6,853,630 6,138,933 —
307,213,035 275,044,437 104,914,386
Less: intercompany eliminations . ............. 4,828,424 5,422,022 3,685,790
Consolidated direct revenue. . .. .............. $302,384,611  $269,622,415  $101,228,596
Praperty and equipment, net
. 2006 2005
United STales . . . . ot e $20,050.495  $15,523,293
Canada ............... e 23,723,223 23,644,636
BUrOpe. . o e e 7.414,851 5,932,362
Restof world. . . ... .. .. . i e 1,046,321 934,827

$52,234,890  $46,035,118

All U.S. revenue is derived from sales to unaffiliated clients. Geographic area of sales is based primarily on the
location from where the client is located.

NOTE N — SEGMENT REPORTING

The Company has two reportable segments: early stage clinical development and late stage clinical devel-
opment. In early stage clinical development services, the Company specializes primarily in the areas of Phase |
clinical trials, bioanalytical laboratory services and clinical laboratory services. Late stage development services
include services of PharmaNet, which provides Phase 11 through Phase I'V clinica! trial services, including clinical
operations, data management and biostatistics, regulatory, medical and scientific affairs, and consulting.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in “Note A. Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies”.
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Early Stage Late Stage Other Reconciling

Development Development Ttems'! Total
Direct revenue
2006, . . e e $106,975,586  $195,409,025 — 3302,384,611
2005 . . $112,093,006  $157,529,409 - $269,622.415
2004, ... $ 87,353,687 $ 13,874,909 — $101,228,596
Depreciation and amortization®
2006, .. $ 6,831,837 $ 7,583,572 — $ 14,415,409
2005, ... $ 6,562,159 § 7,914,294 —_ $ 14,476,453
2004 . $ 4,891,500 % 293,369 — $ 5,184,869
Goodwill impairment .
2006, .. $ 7,873,000 — o $ 7.873,000
2005. ... — — — —
2004 . .. e — — — —
Operating income
2006. . .. $ 4860397 § 29,189,705 $(21,044,184)  $ 13,005,918
2005 . . $ 24,876,063 $ 17,242,117 $(12,274,025)  § 29,844,155
2004 ... e $ 20516610 § 14247213 $ (6,910,836) § 15,029,987
Interest revenue
2006. . .. e $ 316269 $§ 1,283,245 3 36,257 $ 1,635771
2005 . . .. $ 381,364 % 237,496 $ 271,786 $ 890,646
2004 . . e $ 254,981 — $ 1,090,891 $ 1,345.872
Interest expense
2006. ... e 5 356,590 3% 132,139 $ 7,025,852 $ 8114,581
2005. . ..., .. e 5 364,797 % 15,621 $ 11,636,088 $ 12,016,506
2004, . . $ 366,244 — $ 2,324,751 $ 2,690,995
Total assets™®
2006, .. .. ... . $138,632,692  $400,233,717 $ 9,957,623 $548,824,032
2005 . . .. $128,922,959  $361,628,139 $ 25,198,920 $515,750,018
2004 . . . $110,706,181  $347,993,634 $ 28,626,812 $487,326,627
Capital expenditures
2006, ... L e $ 19,819,323 § 8,124,042 — $ 27,943,365
2005 . ... $ 11,252,276 3§ 5,049,614 — § 16,301,890
2004, .. $ 9420090 $ 322,616 — § 9,751,706

(1) Represents corporate allocations.

(2) The early stage segment was housed at the Company’s corporate headquarters in Miami in 2005 and 2004.
Depreciation associated with the area used for corporate headquarters is considered immaterial and has been
allocated to the early stage segment.

(3) Excludes assets of discontinued operations.
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NOTE O — QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (unaudited)

The following financial information reflects all normal recurring adjustments that are, in the opinion of
management, necessary for a fair statement of the results of the interim periods. The quarterly results for the years
2006 and 2005 are set forth as follows:

Consolidated Statement of Operations for the Year 2006

31-Mar 30-Jun 30-Sep 31-Dec YTD

Net revenue
DHTECTFEVEIUE . . . .ot v i i e e s $ 74423994 § 72,837,375 $ 76,018,774 § 79,104468 $302,384,611
Reimbursed out-of-pockets .. ... ... .. .. 29,076,785 23,806,956 27,235,490 24,451,526 104,570,757
Total MELTEVENUE . . . . o\ v o v e e e e e i e e o 103,500,779 96,644,331 103,254,264 103,555,994 406,955,368
Costs and expenses
DIrect COStS . .. .. oi vt 45,328,662 44,785,489 45,769,899 45,672,200 181,556,250
Reimbursable out-of-pocket expenses. . . ...... ... 29,076,785 23,806,956 27,235,490 24,451,526 104,570,757
Selling, general and administrative expenses . . . .. .. 22,858,685 26,744,566 24,337,454 26,008,738 99,949,443
Impairment of goodwill .. .. ................ — 7,873,000 — — 7,873,000
Total costs and expenses . . .. .. ...... .. 97,264,132 103,210,01t 97,342,843 96,132,464 393,949,450
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations . . . ... .. 6,236,647 (6,505,680) 5,911,421 7.423,530 13,005,918
Other income (expense)
Interest iNCOME . . . . . ... i i e i anas 345,478 551,025 153,557 583,711 1,635,771
Interest eXPEmSe. . . . . . . . oot (1,776,241) (2,979.861) (1,676,517) (1,681,962) (8,114,581
Foreign exchange transaction gain (loss), net. .. .. .. {526,568} {1,828,243) (647,315) (339,804) (3,341,930)
Total other income (eXpense) . . .. ... ...ov .. (1,957,331} (4,257,079 (2,170,275) (1,436,055) (9,820,740}
Earnings {loss) from continuing operations before

IMCOME LAKES . o v v o v e ce e i e e e e 4,279,316 (10,822,759) 3,741,146 5987475 3,185,179
Income tax expense (benefity " ... ... ... ... 786,215 {7,199,438) 538,771 2,316,900 (3,557,552)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before .

minority interest in joint venture . .. . ... ... ... 3,493,101 (3,623,321) 3,202,375 3,670,575 6,742,730
Minority interest in joinl venture. . . .. ... . ... ... 188,786 105,177 222,835 173,729 690,527
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations . . . . . 3,304,315 (3,728,498) 2,979,540 3,490,846 6,052,203
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax @ (7.438,695) (15,986,568} (3,242,289 (15,409,221  (42,076,773)
Netloss. .. .ov e i $ (4,134,380) $(19,715066) § (262,749} $(11,912,375) $(36.,024,570)

(1) Includes a valuation allowance of $2,629,968 charged to income tax expense (benefit) during the fourth quarter
of 2006.

(2) Includes a valuation allowance of $12,679,388 charged to discontinued operations during the fourth quarter of
2006.
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Consolidated Statement of Operations for the Year 2005

31-Mar 30-Jun 30-Sep 31-Dec YTD

Net revenue
Directrevenue . . . . ... it $50,504,647 $61,658477 $71,890,582 § 76,568,709 $269,622,415
Reimbursed out-of-pockets . . . ... ... oL 19,461,808 24,025,879 21,852,492 26,543,635 01,883,814
Total nelrevenue . . . ... . v vt s i e 78,966,455 85,684,356 03,743,074 103,112,344 361,506,229
Costs and expenses
DIrECt COSIS. . . . . e e e 36,159,912 35,830,735 40,099,096 43,810,787 155,900,530
Reimbursable out-of-pocket expenses . . .. ... ... ..., 19,462,356 24,025,331 21,852,492 26,543,635 91,883,814
Selling, general and administrative expenses . . ... ..., 18,658,191 21,873,347 20,166,287 23,179,905 23,877,730
Total costs and expenses . ... .................. 74,280,459 81,729.413 82,117,875 93,534,327 331,662,074
Earnings from continuing operations .. ... ......... 4,685,996 3,954,943 11,625,199 9,578,017 29,844,155
Other income (expense}
Interest iNCOME . . . . .. . . v e 397,556 156,776 140,309 196,005 890,646
Interest expense . . ... .. ..o oo (5,511,083) (3.052,881) (1,780,407) (1,672,135) (12,016,506)
Foreign exchange transaction gain (loss), net . .. ... ... 83,506 694,511 (1,456,276) (170,849) (849,108}
Total other income (expense) . . ... vvaan {5,030,021) (2,201,594) (3,096,374) (1,646,979) {11,974, 968)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income

BAKES. v v v v v v bt h e e e (344,025) 1,753,349 8,528,825 7,931,038 17,869,187
Income tax expense (benefit) . ............ ... ... 10,964 (84,484) 1,204,844 (977,718) 153,606
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before

minority interest in joint venture . ..., ... ... (354,989) 1,837,833 7,323,981 8,908,756 17,715,581
Minority interest in joint venture . .. ... ... 57,682 116,583 192,590 185,546 552,401
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations . . . .. . .. (412,671) 1,721,250 7,131,391 8,723,210 17,163,180
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax . . 5,437,575 5,396,924 2,030,825 (25,249,699 (12,384,375
Net earmings (J0SS} . . ..o v vttt $ 5024904 % 7,118,174 3 9162216 $(16,526,48%) $ 4,778,805
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Yaluation and Qualifying Accounts

Balance at Charged Charged to . Balance at
Beginning to Costs Other End of
Description of Period PharmaNet and Expenses Accounts  Deductions Period
Year ended December 31, 2006
Reserves deducted from assets to which they apply:
Allowance for doubtful accounts. . . . ............... 202,095 — 2,278,512 — (1,558,592} 922,015
Deferred tax valuation allowance (loreign) . .. ......... 5,160,877 — — 6,503,034 46,511} 11,617,400
Deferred ax valuation allowance (domestic) V.. .. ..... — — 15,309,356 — — 15.309,356
Year ended December 31, 2005
Reserves deducted from assets to which they apply: '
Allowance for doubtful accounts. . . .. .............. 391,793 — 569,384 — (759,082) 202,095
Deferred tax valuation allowance (foreign) . ... ........ 156,569 — 385,390 4,618,918 — 5,160,877
Year ended December 31, 2004
Reserves deducted from assets to which they apply:
Allowance for doubtful accounts. . .. ............... 200,372 110,283 417,151 — (435,013) 391,793
Deferred tax valuation allowance (foreign) ... ......... — 156,569 — — — 156,569

(1} Includes a valuation allowance of $2,629,968 charged to continuing operations, and a valuation allowance of $12,679.388 charged to
discontinued operations.
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INFORMATION

Corporaté headquarters

PharmaNet Development Group, Inc,

504 Carnegie Center
Princeton, NJ 08540
Tel 609.951.6800
Fax 609.514.03380
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American Stock

Transfer & Trust Co,

598 Maiden Lane
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Tel 800.937.5449
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www.amstock.com

Independent auditors
Grant Thornton LLP
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2001 Market Street
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Tel 215.561.4200
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Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP
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Fax 609.919.6701

Investor relations
Anne-Marie Hess

PharmaNet Development Group, Inc.

504 Carnegie Center
Princeton, NJ 08540
Tel 609.951.6842
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ANNUAL REPORT
AND SEC FORM 10-K

A copy of the Company’s 10-K filed
with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, which is provided in
this annual report, is available
without charge upon reguest

by contacting the PharmaNet
Development Group investor
relations department or visiting
www.pharmanet.com.

OUR ANNUAL
MEETING

PharmaNet Development Group
will hold its annual meeting of
shareholders:

Wednesday, June 6, 2007
Beginning at 9:30 am (EDT)

Hyatt Regency Princeton
102 Carnegie Center
Princeton, NJ 08540
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